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Report on the audit of the financial statements

1. Opinion
In our opinion:

– the financial statements of Direct Line Insurance Group plc (the "Parent Company") and its subsidiaries (the "Group") 
give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the Parent Company's affairs as at 31 December 2021 and of 
the Group's profit for the year then ended;

– the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted 
international accounting standards and International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB");

– the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom ("UK") 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including FRS 101 'Reduced Disclosure Framework'; and

– the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

– the Consolidated Income Statement;
– the Consolidated and Parent Company Statements of Comprehensive Income;
– the Consolidated and Parent Company Balance Sheets;
– the Consolidated and Parent Company Statements of Changes in Equity;
– the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement; and
– the related notes 1 to 45 on the Consolidated financial statements and related notes 1 to 17 on the Parent Company 

financial statements, excluding the capital adequacy disclosures in note 3 calculated in accordance with the Solvency II 
regime that are marked as unaudited.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is applicable 
law, and UK adopted international accounting standards and IFRSs as issued by the IASB. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Parent Company financial statements is applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 'Reduced Disclosure Framework' (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).

2. Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council's ("FRC") Ethical Standard as 
applied to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. The non-audit services provided to the Group for the year are disclosed in note 10 to the consolidated  
financial statements. We confirm that we have not provided any non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical 
Standard to the Group or the Parent Company.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF DIRECT LINE INSURANCE 
GROUP PLC
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3. Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters The key audit matters that we identified in the current year were:
– valuation of insurance liabilities:
       1) The frequency and severity assumptions for large bodily injury claims; 
       2) The inflation and discount rate assumptions for periodic payment orders ("PPOs"); and
       3) The judgement applied in setting the margin above the actuarial best estimate.
– valuation of illiquid investments:
       1) Commercial real estate loans, infrastructure debt and private placement bonds; and
       2) Investment property;

Within this report, key audit matters are identified as follows:

  Newly identified;

  Increased level of risk;

  Similar level of risk; and

  Decreased level of risk.

Materiality The materiality that we used for the Group financial statements was £28 million, which 
approximates to 5.9% of the three-year average profit before tax, excluding the impact of the Ogden 
discount rate change to minus 0.25% in the 2019 results which we elected to exclude due to the 
non-recurring nature of this event.

Scoping Our Group audit scoping included two entities being subject to a full scope audit and a further two 
entities being subject to an audit of specified account balances. These four entities represent the 
principal business units and account for 97% of the Group's net assets, 100% of the Group's gross 
earned premium and 92% of the Group's profit before tax. We performed analytical procedures to 
confirm our conclusion that there were no significant risks of material misstatement of the 
aggregated financial information of the remaining components not subject to a full scope audit or 
an audit of specified balances.

Significant 
changes in our 
approach

During the year we have made the following changes to our audit approach:

a. We took into account the further implementation of the Group's new underwriting, claims 
and data technologies;  

b. We addressed the risk arising from a new actuarial calculation model and associated 
processes; and

c. We addressed the risks arising from the Group's change to an agile finance operating 
model and continued implementation process of IFRS 17.

4. Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in 
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the Directors' assessment of the Group's and Parent Company's ability to continue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting included:

– We obtained an understanding of the internal controls relating to management's going concern assessment process; 
– We assessed management's Strategic Plan and challenged management's underlying business plans and forecasts to 

support key forward-looking assumptions such as the Group's growth rate and discount rate given our understanding of 
the Group and its industry; 

– We evaluated the historical accuracy of forecasts prepared by management; and
– We evaluated management's reverse stress testing and assessed the likelihood of various scenarios that could adversely 

impact upon the Group's liquidity and solvency headroom.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions 
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group's and Parent Company's ability to continue as a 
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In relation to the reporting on how the Group has applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing material 
to add or draw attention to in relation to the Directors' statement in the financial statements about whether the Directors 
considered it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant 
sections of this report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF DIRECT LINE INSURANCE 
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5. Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement 
(whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall 
audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

5.1 Valuation of insurance liabilities
Refer to page 119 (Audit Committee Report), page 183 (Accounting policies), page 191 (Notes to the consolidated 
financial statements - note 2.3) and page 228 (Financial statements).

The Group's gross insurance liabilities total £3.7 billion (2020: £3.6 billion) and represent the single largest liability on the 
balance sheet. Valuation of these liabilities requires management to select methods and assumptions that are subject to 
high levels of estimation uncertainty. Consequently, small changes in these methods or assumptions can materially impact 
the valuation of these liabilities. We have identified the following three key areas of focus for our audit given their 
significance to the Group's result and the high level of estimation uncertainty. We have also identified these as potential 
fraud risk areas.

5.1.1 The frequency and severity assumptions for bodily injury claims 

Key audit matter description
The frequency and severity of bodily injury claims have a significant impact on the valuation of the insurance liabilities and 
the setting of these assumptions is driven by a variety of factors. These factors include the completeness and accuracy of 
source data, the transparency of any changes in the reporting of bodily injury claims, and actuarial assumptions being 
consistent with emerging data, market factors and the Group's reserving policy. As a result of these factors, there is a 
significant level of estimation uncertainty in the valuation of these claims, which increases the susceptibility of the balance 
to material misstatement due to error and fraud.

There is additional inherent uncertainty underlying the estimation of the ultimate number of non-large bodily injury claims 
for the 2020 and 2021 accident claims cohort. This arises from the consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic and 
associated travel and lockdown restrictions, which affect traffic volumes and subsequently claim numbers. 

Furthermore, the current UK inflationary environment results in inherent uncertainty regarding the severity of bodily injury 
claims.

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter 
We have gained a detailed understanding of the end-to-end claims and reserving process and obtained an understanding 
of relevant controls. 

In order to gain assurance over the completeness and accuracy of source data used in the Group's actuarial calculations 
and by our in-house actuarial specialists in performing our work, we have tested the data reconciliation controls and 
performed reconciliations on the actuarial data back to the financial ledger. Having done this, we worked with our 
actuarial specialists to:

– inspect and challenge the reserving process in relation to bodily injury claims undertaken by assessing relevant 
documentation and meeting with the Actuarial Director and his team; and

– inspect and challenge the Group's documented methodology and key assumptions in respect of the prior years as well 
as the current year, with particular reference to Covid-19 impacts. This included: 

– using our in-house reserving software to help us challenge the Group's response to emerging claims trends;

– inspecting the Group's models and conducting sensitivity testing on model methodology and assumptions 
including prior-year changes to assumptions;

– comparing the Group's cost per claim and frequency diagnostics to market benchmarks and independent 
reserve review results; and

– analysing the consistency in reserving strength and reserve releases in comparison with prior years.

Key observations
We have concluded that the assumptions used in the calculation of the bodily injury claims reserves are reasonable.

5.1.2 The inflation and discount rate assumptions for PPOs 

Key audit matter description
The Group is required to settle a proportion of large bodily injury claims as PPOs rather than lump sum payments. The 
valuation of PPOs has a material impact on the financial statements, with liabilities totalling £757.8 million (2020: £814.8 
million) on a discounted gross basis as detailed in note 35. 

Given the ongoing uncertainty in the UK's inflation environment and investment markets, the selection of the inflation and 
discount rate assumptions is highly judgemental. The PPOs are sensitive to economic assumptions selected and as at 
31 December 2021, the Group valued PPOs using an inflation rate of 3.5% (2020: 3.5%) and a discount rate of 3.5% (2020: 
3.5%). These assumptions represent a key source of estimation uncertainty for the Group which increases the susceptibility 
of the balance to material misstatement due to error and fraud.
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How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter 
We have gained a detailed understanding over management’s process for setting these assumptions and obtained an 
understanding of the relevant controls surrounding the setting of the PPO inflation rate and discount rate, namely the 
challenge and approval of these assumptions by the reserving committee. In addition, we tested the relevant direct and 
precise business control, performed weekly, over the completeness of the PPO listing. This is a key data input which has a 
material impact on the PPO valuation.

We have worked with our actuarial specialists to challenge:

– The PPO inflation assumption through inquiries with the Actuarial Director, assessing relevant supporting 
documentation and benchmarking against market economic data, with particular reference to Covid-19 uncertainty, 
and other market participants; 

– The Group's sensitivity testing on the PPO inflation assumption;
– The selected nominal discount rate with reference to current and future performance of the assets backing the PPO 

liabilities; and
– The methodology and rationale for deriving the discount rate.

Key observations
We have determined that the inflation and discount rate assumptions used in the calculation of the PPO claims reserve 
are reasonable.

5.1.3 Judgement applied in setting the margin above the actuarial best estimate 

Key audit matter description
Actual claims experience may differ from the historical pattern on which the actuarial best estimate is based and the cost 
of settling individual claims may exceed that reserved for. Consequently, management adds a margin to the actuarial best 
estimate to arrive at the booked insurance liabilities. This margin is determined by considering a range of adverse 
economic and non-economic scenarios and reflects the inherent uncertainty in estimating the ultimate losses on claims, 
over and above that which can be projected actuarially as a best estimate based on underlying claims development data.

The appropriate margin to recognise is an area of significant management judgement based on the perceived uncertainty 
and potential for volatility in the underlying claims. In light of the heightened uncertainties created by the Covid-19 
pandemic and the ongoing uncertainty with regard to the rates of inflation in the UK economy, we have identified the 
margin as an area of key audit focus given its susceptibility to management bias.

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter
We worked with our in-house actuarial specialists to challenge the appropriateness of the recommended margin to be 
applied to the actuarial best estimate. In doing so we performed the following procedures:

– Inspected and challenged the approach to, and analysis performed in, setting the margin by reviewing relevant 
documentation and meeting with the Chief Financial Officer and Actuarial Director;

– Leveraged third-party economic studies to challenge the appropriateness of management's adverse scenarios, with a 
specific focus on care worker wage inflation given the sensitivity of the Group's bodily injury claims to this assumption, 
whilst looking back to outcomes from previous economic downturns; and 

– Performed a 'stand back' test to challenge the level of prudence in the overall insurance liabilities between periods in 
light of the level of uncertainties that existed at each respective reporting date.

Key observations
We have determined that the margin remains appropriate. In combination with the conclusions drawn in relation to 
bodily injury claims and PPO assumptions above, we have observed that the booked reserves are in line with the Group's 
prudent accounting policy.

5.2 Valuation of illiquid investments
Refer to page 119 (Audit Committee Report), pages 185 and 186 (Accounting policies) and pages 219 and 224 (Financial 
statements).

In the current year, we continue to identify the valuation of illiquid investments, specifically the commercial real estate 
loans, infrastructure debt, private placement bonds and investment property investments as a key audit matter as 
described below. 

5.2.1 Commercial real estate loans, infrastructure debt and private placement bonds 

Key audit matter description
We have identified a key audit matter in relation to these credit portfolios totalling £542.8 million (2020: £575.1 million). 

Given the Group continues to recognise and measure financial instruments under IAS 39, these instruments are measured 
at amortised cost and require the recognition of an impairment when an incurred loss event arises. Significant 
management judgement is required in determining if an incurred loss event has occurred and, in the instance an event 
has occurred, there is significant estimation uncertainty in determining the impairment charge. 

We deem there to be an increasing risk of default or delinquency on these less liquid assets owing to high and sustained 
levels of uncertainty in the UK economy from the Covid-19 pandemic.
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5.2.1 Commercial real estate loans, infrastructure debt and private placement bonds continued 

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter
We have obtained an understanding and tested the relevant controls that mitigate the risk over the valuation of illiquid 
investments. Our work included attendance at the year-end impairment review meeting in order to observe the operation 
of a key management review control. 

In addition, we performed the following procedures:

– Tested a sample of interest payments to banks during the year to test for default or delinquency in interest payments;
– Utilised market indices to identify commercial real estate loans at risk and inspected the tenancy breakdowns for 

potential risks of store closure given the current economic issues facing the UK high street;
– Challenged management on loans of interest where indicators could point to issuer financial difficulty and obtained 

evidence to help assess whether the management's conclusion was reasonable; and
– Engaged our complex pricing specialists to determine an independent fair value of these assets to identify any 

significant decreases in value below book cost.

Key observations
We considered the accounting treatment applied to be reasonable. In performing our procedures, we did not note any 
indicators of material impairment.

5.2.2 Investment property 

Key audit matter description
The investment properties held by the Group comprise retail, retail warehouse, supermarkets and foodstores, industrial, 
hotel and alternative properties. As noted in disclosure note 20, the total value as at 31 December 2021 is £317.0 million 
(2020: £292.1 million). Given the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic and its potential to accelerate long-term trends in the 
use of various types of property, we have identified the methodology and assumptions used for valuing certain parts of the 
investment property portfolio as a key audit matter in the current year. The investment properties we have identified relate 
to the retail, hotel and alternative sector properties held, where tenants have experienced an increased exposure to the 
persistent impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic; these may accelerate the long term downwards trend of property valuation 
in these sectors. These properties total £103.2 million (2020: £101.6 million).

We considered the valuation of the investment properties to be a key audit matter as the determination of fair value 
involves significant judgement by the external valuation experts in light of the Covid-19 pandemic and long-term trends in 
the use of various types of property. Valuation methodologies for investment properties are subjective in nature and involve 
various key assumptions. The use of different valuation methodologies and assumptions could produce significantly 
different estimates of fair value. With the persistent impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, the property valuers can attach less 
weight to previous market evidence in determining a fair value. This leads to greater levels of estimation uncertainty in 
determining the valuation.

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter
We have obtained an understanding of and tested the relevant control related to the annual meeting with management's 
external valuation expert; this is where management review and challenge the assumptions and methodologies used in 
determining the fair value. This control mitigates the risk over the valuation of investment properties. 

In addition, we performed the following procedures:

– We have worked with our real estate specialists who challenged the estimated rental value, yield and capitalisation rate 
assumptions and methodologies used in the valuation of the properties;

– We have tested the completeness and accuracy of the data inputs used in the valuation process performed by 
management and their external valuer; and

– We tested the data inputs used in the valuation model for investment properties, by agreeing occupation rates, unit 
sizes and contracted rent to the underlying signed agreements and property reports. We then re-performed the 
calculation of the yields applied using this data.

Key observations
We considered the accounting treatment applied to be reasonable. In performing our procedures, we did not note any 
indicators of material misstatements within the investment property portfolio fair value.
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6. Our application of materiality

6.1 Materiality
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the 
economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality both in 
planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group financial statements Parent Company financial statements

Materiality £28.0 million (2020: £28.0 million) £25.2 million (2020: £25.2 million)

Basis for 
determining 
materiality

The materiality approximates to 5.9% (2020: 5.6%) of 
the three year average profit before tax, excluding the 
impact of the Ogden discount rate change to minus 
0.25% in the 2019 results.

Materiality equates to less than 1% (2020: 1%) 
of shareholders' equity and is capped at 90% 
(2020: 90%) of Group materiality.

Rationale 
for the 
benchmark 
applied

We determined that the critical benchmark for the 
Group was average profit before tax. This measure uses 
a three-year average of profit before tax, which was 
deemed appropriate due to the inherent volatility of 
profits in the insurance industry. We also elected to 
exclude the impact of the Ogden discount rate change 
to minus 0.25% in the 2019 results due to the non-
recurring nature of this event. 

We also considered this measure suitable having 
compared to other benchmarks: our materiality 
equates to 6.3% (2020: 6.2%) of statutory profit before 
tax, 0.9% (2020: 0.9%) of gross earned premium and 
1.1% (2020: 0.9%) of total equity.

We determined that the critical benchmark for 
the Parent Company was shareholders' equity. 
This is because the Parent Company is not a 
trading entity but rather received dividend 
income from its subsidiaries. 

When determining materiality for the Parent 
Company, we also considered the 
appropriateness of this materiality for the 
consolidation of this set of financial statements 
to the Group's results.

Group materiality is used for setting audit scope and the assessment of uncorrected misstatements. Materiality is set for 
each significant component in line with the components proportion of the chosen benchmark. This is capped at the lower 
of 90% of Group materiality and the component materiality determined for a standalone audit. The main UK insurance 
trading entity, U K Insurance Limited, which makes up 100% of Group gross earned premium and 75% of Group statutory 
profit before tax, is scoped to a component materiality of £25.2 million (2020: £25.2 million). Component materiality for 
other entities within the scope of our Group audit ranged from £0.9 million to £8.5 million (2020: £0.8 million to £8.8 
million).
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6.2 Performance materiality
We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate, uncorrected 
and undetected misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole. 

Group financial statements Parent Company financial statements

Performance 
materiality

70% (2020: 67.5%) of Group materiality 70% (2020: 67.5%) of Parent Company 
materiality

Basis and 
rationale for 
determining 
performance 
materiality

In 2020, we adjusted down performance materiality 
after assessing the potential impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic.
In 2021, when determining performance materiality, 
we considered the following factors:

– We have audited the Group for a number of years 
and so have knowledge of both the Group and the 
environment it operates in;

– Our ability to rely on controls over a number of 
significant business processes;

– Our past experience of the audit, which has 
indicated a low number of corrected and 
uncorrected misstatements identified in prior 
periods, and our assessment that these were not 
likely to recur in the current period; and 

– We did not identify any significant changes in the 
Group's control environment due to the Covid-19 
pandemic.

For consistency within the Group, the same 
percentage of 70% of materiality has been 
applied to the Parent Company.

6.3 Error reporting threshold
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £1.4 million 
(2020: £1.4 million), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative 
grounds. We also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

7. An overview of the scope of our audit

7.1 Identification and scoping of components
The scope of our Group audit was determined by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, including 
group wide controls and assessing the risks of material misstatement at Group level. 

Consistent with the prior period, this resulted in two entities being subject to a full scope audit and a further two were 
subject to an audit of specified account balances where the extent of our testing was based on our assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement and of the materiality of the Group's operations. All entities within scope of the Group audit are 
based in the UK. 

These four entities represent the principal trading and service operations of the Group and account for 97% (2020: 99%) of 
the Group's net assets, 100% (2020: 100%) of the Group's gross earned premium and 92% (2020: 95%) of the Group's profit 
before tax. They were also selected to provide an appropriate basis for undertaking audit work to address the risks of 
material misstatement identified above. 

WWW.DIRECTLINEGROUP.CO.UK 171

TBU

Profit before tax

85%100% 85%

7%
8%

12%
3%

Net AssetsGross Earned Premium

Full audit scope Full audit scope
Specified audit procedures
Review at group level

Full audit scope
Specified audit procedures
Review at group level

www.directlinegroup.co.uk 171



7. An overview of the scope of our audit continued

7.1.Identification and scoping of components continued
At the Group level we also tested the consolidation process and carried out analytical procedures to confirm our 
conclusion that there were no significant risks of material misstatement of the aggregated financial information of the 
remaining components not subject to audit or audit of specified account balances. 

The Group audit team directly performed the audit work for all of the entities listed above, including the Parent Company.

7.2 Our consideration of the control environment

IT Controls
In planning our 2021 audit, we identified 19 systems that were material to the Group's financial reporting processes. These 
systems handled data relating to premiums, claims, expenses and payroll and we intended to rely on the IT and business 
controls associated with these systems. Having worked with our in-house IT specialists to assess the operating effectiveness 
of the IT controls associated with these systems, as well as the wider general IT control environment across the Group, we 
were able to rely upon the IT controls associated with all 19 systems identified.

Business processes and financial reporting controls
In planning our 2021 audit, we identified 22 business processes that were material to the Group's financial reporting 
processes. These processes spanned the Group's material transactions and account balances including the premiums, 
claims, reinsurance, expenses, payroll, investments and intangibles processes and part of the reserving process relating to 
reconciliation of data, and we intended to rely on the business controls associated with all of these processes. Having 
completed our testing over the operating effectiveness of business controls associated with these processes, through a 
combination of current period testing and reliance on prior period testing, we concluded that we are able to rely upon the 
business controls associated with all 22 processes. 

7.3 Our consideration of climate-related risks
We have gained an understanding of management's processes to address climate-related risks, including management's 
implementation of the Sustainability Committee and Group Sustainability Framework. We have assessed whether these 
initiatives undertaken by management are aligned with the Climate Change Roadmap developed by the Association of 
British Insurers. We have performed a risk assessment of the financial impact of climate risks on the financial statements 
and concluded the risks of material misstatement due to climate risk factors are remote. In doing so we considered the 
estimates and judgements applied to the financial statements and how climate risks impact their valuation. We 
challenged management’s disclosure relating to climate risks in the Planet section of the Annual Report and note 3 of the 
financial statements. We have considered whether information included in the climate related disclosures in the Annual 
Report were consistent with our understanding of the business and the financial statements.

8. Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and 
our auditor's report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly 
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether 
this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

9. Responsibilities of Directors
As explained more fully in the Directors' responsibilities statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the Parent Company's 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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10. Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

11. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, 
including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line 
with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The 
extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below. 

11.1 Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities
In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance 
with laws and regulations, we considered the following:

– the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including the design of the 
Group's remuneration policies, key drivers for Directors' remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets;

– the Group's own assessment of the risks that irregularities may occur either as a result of fraud or error that was 
reviewed by the Audit Committee on 1 November 2021;

– results of our enquiries of management, internal audit, and the Audit Committee about their own identification and 
assessment of the risks of irregularities;

– any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the Group's documentation of their policies and procedures 
relating to:
– identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any instances of 

non-compliance;
– detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged 

fraud;
– the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations; and

– the matters discussed among the audit engagement team and relevant internal specialists, including actuarial, tax, real 
estate, valuations, pensions, IT, forensic and industry specialists regarding how and where fraud might occur in the 
financial statements and any potential indicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for 
fraud and identified the greatest potential for fraud in the valuation of the insurance liabilities. In common with all audits 
under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management override.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the Group operates in, focusing on 
provisions of those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The key laws and regulations we considered in this context included the UK Companies Act, 
Listing Rules and tax legislation.

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial 
statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the Group's ability to operate or to avoid a material 
penalty. These included the Group's operating licence, regulatory solvency requirements such as those under the relevant 
Solvency II requirements and those required by the PRA, FCA and environmental regulations.

11.2 Audit response to risks identified
As a result of performing the above, we identified the valuation of insurance liabilities a key audit matter related to the 
potential risk of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations. The key audit matters section of our report explains 
the matter in more detail and also describes the specific procedures we performed in response to that key audit matter. 

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to risks identified included the following:

– reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with 
provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

– enquiring of management, the Audit Committee and in-house legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation 
and claims;

– performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material 
misstatement due to fraud;

– reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports and reviewing 
correspondence with the PRA and FCA; and

– in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of journal entries 
and other adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a 
potential bias; and evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the 
normal course of business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team 
members including internal specialists and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and 
regulations throughout the audit.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the part of the Directors' remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with 
the Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

– the information given in the Strategic report and the Directors' report for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

– the Strategic report and the Directors' report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and their environment obtained 
in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the Strategic report or the Directors' 
report.

13. Corporate governance statement
The Listing Rules require us to review the Directors' statement in relation to going concern, longer-term viability and that 
part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Group's compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code specified for our review.

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the 
corporate governance statement is materially consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained 
during the audit: 

– the Directors' statement with regards to the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis of accounting and 
any material uncertainties identified set out on page 163;

– the Directors' explanation as to its assessment of the Group's prospects, the period this assessment covers and why the 
period is appropriate set out on page 94;

– the Directors' statement on fair, balanced and understandable set out on page 117;
– the Board's confirmation that it has carried out a robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks set out on page 

118;
– the section of the Annual Report and Accounts that describes the review of effectiveness of risk management and 

internal control systems set out on page 192; and
– the section describing the work of the Audit Committee set out on page 119.

14. Matters on which we are required to report by exception

14.1 Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

– we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
– adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not 

been received from branches not visited by us; or
– the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

14.2 Directors' remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certain disclosures of Directors' 
remuneration have not been made or the part of the Directors' remuneration report to be audited is not in agreement 
with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

15. Other matters which we are required to address

15.1 Auditor tenure
Following the recommendation of the audit committee of Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc ("RBSG"), which at the time 
owned Direct Line Insurance Group plc, we were appointed by the Board of Directors of RBSG on 21 March 2000 to audit 
the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2000 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total 
uninterrupted engagement including previous renewals and reappointments of the firm is 22 years, covering the years 
ending 31 December 2000 to 31 December 2021. Under the Companies Act 2006, the last financial year of our maximum 
engagement period is the year ending 31 December 2023.

15.2 Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the Audit Committee
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Audit Committee we are required to provide in 
accordance with ISAs (UK).
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16. Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company's members as a 
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

As required by the Financial Conduct Authority ("FCA") Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rule ("DTR") 4.1.14R, these 
financial statements form part of the European Single Electronic Format ("ESEF") prepared Annual Financial Report filed 
on the National Storage Mechanism of the UK FCA in accordance with the ESEF Regulatory Technical Standard ("ESEF 
RTS"). This auditor's report provides no assurance over whether the annual financial report has been prepared using the 
single electronic format specified in the ESEF RTS.

ADAM ADDIS, ACA

SENIOR STATUTORY AUDITOR

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF DELOITTE LLP

LONDON, UNITED KINGDOM

7 March 2022
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2021 2020

Notes £m £m

Gross earned premium  3,168.0  3,189.3 

Reinsurance premium  (210.6)  (228.8) 

Net earned premium 5  2,957.4  2,960.5 

Investment return 6  146.3  95.1 

Instalment income  97.3  109.3 

Other operating income 7  46.7  49.9 

Total income  3,247.7  3,214.8 

Insurance claims 8  (1,915.3)  (1,730.4) 

Insurance claims recoverable from reinsurers 8  196.6  16.8 

Net insurance claims 8  (1,718.7)  (1,713.6) 

Commission expenses 9  (240.9)  (254.7) 

Operating expenses (including restructuring and one-off costs) 10  (807.8)  (763.8) 

Total expenses  (1,048.7)  (1,018.5) 

Finance costs 11  (34.3)  (31.3) 

Profit before tax  446.0  451.4 

Tax charge 12  (102.3)  (84.2) 

Profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Company  343.7  367.2 

Earnings per share:
Basic (pence) 15  24.5  25.8 

Diluted (pence) 15  24.1  25.5 

The attached notes on pages 181 to 238 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2021 2020

Notes £m £m

Profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Company  343.7  367.2 

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to the income statement:

Remeasurement gain/(loss) on defined benefit pension scheme 27  3.8  (0.4) 

Tax relating to items that will not be reclassified 13  (0.8)  0.3 

 3.0  (0.1) 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement:
Cash flow hedges  (0.3)  (0.1) 

Fair value (loss)/gain on AFS investments 32  (84.1)  47.4 
Less: net gains on AFS investments transferred to income statement on 
disposals

32  (7.9)  (1.1) 

Tax relating to items that may be reclassified 32  17.1  (9.9) 

 (75.2)  36.3 

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year net of tax  (72.2)  36.2 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the owners of the 
Company  271.5  403.4 

The attached notes on pages 181 to 238 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2021

WWW.DIRECTLINEGROUP.CO.UK 177

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 31 December 2021

www.directlinegroup.co.uk 177



 

 

2021 2020

Notes £m £m

Assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets 17  822.5  786.8 

Property, plant and equipment 18  113.8  146.1 

Right-of-use assets 19  76.1  137.8 

Investment property 20  317.0  292.1 

Reinsurance assets 22  1,211.8  1,129.2 

Current tax assets  14.4  — 

Deferred acquisition costs 23  186.6  172.2 

Insurance and other receivables 24  762.8  848.2 

Prepayments, accrued income and other assets 25  125.1  126.0 

Derivative financial instruments 26  35.9  73.4 

Retirement benefit asset 27  12.1  9.0 

Financial investments 28  4,633.6  4,681.4 

Cash and cash equivalents 29  955.7  1,220.1 

Assets held for sale 30  41.2  — 

Total assets  9,308.6  9,622.3 

Equity
Shareholders' equity  2,550.2  2,699.7 

Tier 1 notes 33  346.5  346.5 

Total equity  2,896.7  3,046.2 

Liabilities
Subordinated liabilities 34  513.6  516.6 

Insurance liabilities 35  3,680.5  3,617.0 

Unearned premium reserve 36  1,500.7  1,497.1 

Borrowings 29  59.2  51.9 

Derivative financial instruments 26  19.5  57.2 

Provisions 38  96.4  114.8 

Trade and other payables, including insurance payables 39  457.3  549.9 

Lease liabilities 40  84.2  152.4 

Deferred tax liabilities 13  0.5  8.7 

Current tax liabilities  —  10.5 

Total liabilities  6,411.9  6,576.1 

Total equity and liabilities  9,308.6  9,622.3 

The attached notes on pages 181 to 238 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 7 March 2022.

They were signed on its behalf by:

NEIL MANSER

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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Share 
capital 

(note 31)
Employee 

trust shares

Capital 
reserves 

(note 32)

AFS 
revaluation 

reserve 
(note 32)

Foreign 
exchange 

translation 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Shareholders' 
equity

Tier 1 
notes 

(note 33)
Total 

equity

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Balance at 1 January 2020  150.0  (30.2)  1,450.0  47.5  0.1  1,026.2  2,643.6  346.5  2,990.1 

Profit for the year  —  —  —  —  —  367.2  367.2  —  367.2 

Other comprehensive 
income/(loss)  —  —  —  36.4  (0.1)  (0.1)  36.2  —  36.2 

Total comprehensive income 
for the year  —  —  —  36.4  (0.1)  367.1  403.4  —  403.4 

Dividends and appropriations 
paid (note 14)  —  —  —  —  —  (312.5)  (312.5)  —  (312.5) 

Shares acquired by employee 
trusts  —  (23.8)  —  —  —  —  (23.8)  —  (23.8) 

Shares cancelled following 
buyback (note 31)  (1.1)  —  1.1  —  —  (30.0)  (30.0)  —  (30.0) 

Credit to equity for equity-
settled share-based payments 
(note 37)  —  —  —  —  —  18.5  18.5  —  18.5 

Shares distributed by 
employee trusts  —  13.7  —  —  —  (13.7)  —  —  — 

Tax on share-based payments  —  —  —  —  —  0.5  0.5  —  0.5 

Total transactions with equity 
holders  (1.1)  (10.1)  1.1  —  —  (337.2)  (347.3)  —  (347.3) 

Balance at 31 December 2020  148.9  (40.3)  1,451.1  83.9  —  1,056.1  2,699.7  346.5  3,046.2 

Profit for the year  —  —  —  —  —  343.7  343.7  —  343.7 
Other comprehensive (loss)/
income  —  —  —  (74.9)  (0.3)  3.0  (72.2)  —  (72.2) 

Total comprehensive income 
for the year  —  —  —  (74.9)  (0.3)  346.7  271.5  —  271.5 

Dividends and appropriations 
paid (note 14)  —  —  —  —  —  (317.4)  (317.4)  —  (317.4) 
Shares acquired by employee 
trusts  —  (20.3)  —  —  —  —  (20.3)  —  (20.3) 
Shares cancelled following 
buyback (note 31)  (3.7)  —  3.7  —  —  (101.0)  (101.0)  —  (101.0) 
Credit to equity for equity-
settled share-based payments  —  —  —  —  —  17.0  17.0  —  17.0 
Shares distributed by 
employee trusts  —  19.2  —  —  —  (19.2)  —  —  — 
Tax on share-based payments  —  —  —  —  —  0.7  0.7  —  0.7 

Total transactions with equity 
holders  (3.7)  (1.1)  3.7  —  —  (419.9)  (421.0)  —  (421.0) 

Balance at 31 December 2021  145.2  (41.4)  1,454.8  9.0  (0.3)  982.9  2,550.2  346.5  2,896.7 

The attached notes on pages 181 to 238 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2021 2020

Notes £m £m

Net cash generated from operating activities before investment of insurance 
assets 40  271.8  268.8 

Cash generated from investment of insurance assets 40  167.2  315.9 

Net cash generated from operating activities  439.0  584.7 

Cash flows used in investing activities
Purchases of goodwill and other intangible assets 17  (109.4)  (140.7) 
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 18  (29.3)  (20.1) 
Net cash flows from acquisition of subsidiaries  —  (0.2) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (138.7)  (161.0) 

Cash flows used in financing activities
Dividends paid 14  (300.8)  (295.9) 
Appropriations paid 14  (16.6)  (16.6) 
Finance costs (including lease interest)  (31.4)  (30.2) 
Principal element of lease payments  (101.9)  (12.5) 
Purchase of employee trust shares  (20.3)  (23.8) 
Proceeds on issue of subordinated Tier 2 notes 40  —  257.2 
Shares purchased in buyback 31  (101.0)  (30.0) 

Net cash used in financing activities  (572.0)  (151.8) 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (271.7)  271.9 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 29  1,168.2  896.3 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 29  896.5  1,168.2 

The attached notes on pages 181 to 238 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Corporate information
Direct Line Insurance Group plc is a public limited company 
registered in England and Wales (company number 
02280426). The address of the registered office is Churchill 
Court, Westmoreland Road, Bromley, BR1 1DP, England.

1. Accounting policies

Basis of preparation
As required by the Companies Act 2006, the Group's 
consolidated financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB as adopted by the 
UK. The Group has elected to prepare its parent entity 
financial statements in accordance with FRS 101 'Reduced 
Disclosure Framework'. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the 
historical cost basis except for available-for-sale ("AFS") 
financial assets, investment property and derivative financial 
instruments, which are measured at fair value (fair value is 
defined in note 43) and assets held for sale which are 
measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell.

Where necessary, adjustments have been made to the 
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting 
policies used into line with those used by the Group. The 
policies set out below have been applied consistently 
throughout the years ended 31 December 2021 and 
31 December 2020 to items considered material to the 
consolidated financial statements.

The Company's financial statements and the Group's 
consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling, 
which is the functional currency of the Company and the 
Group.

Going concern
The Directors believe that the Group has sufficient financial 
resources to meet its financial needs, including managing a 
mature portfolio of insurance risk. The Directors believe the 
Group is well positioned to manage its business risks 
successfully in the current economic climate. The Finance 
Review describes the Group's capital management strategy, 
including the capital actions taken in the last 12 months to 
ensure the continued strength of the balance sheet. The 
Group's financial position is also covered in that section, 
including a commentary on cash and investment levels, 
reserves, currency management, insurance liability 
management, liquidity and borrowings. The financial 
disclosures relating to the Group's principal risks are set out 
in note 3. This covers insurance, market and credit risk; and 
the Group's approach to monitoring, managing and 
mitigating exposures to these risks.

The Directors have assessed the principal risks of the Group 
over the duration of the planning cycle. The assessment 
included the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the 
underwriting cycle, including motor claims frequency, travel 
disruption and supply chain disruption, and the possible 
impacts of the FCA's Pricing Practices Review ("PPR").

The key judgements and assumptions applied were in 
relation to the likely time period of continued Covid-19 
related effects and the impact on the general insurance 
market, the economic recovery and the impact of the PPR 
on customer behaviour.

The 2021 Strategic Plan ("the Plan") indicates that the Group 
will continue to maintain levels of solvency in line with its 
risk appetite across the planning cycle (to 31 December 
2025).

In addition, the Group's Risk Function has carried out an 
assessment of the risks to the Plan and the dependencies 
for the success of the Plan. This included running stress tests 
on the Plan to consider the 1-in-8 years and 1-in-25 years 
loss simulations based on the internal economic capital 
model. In both scenarios, it was concluded that the Group's 
SCR would not be breached following the implementation 
of management actions.

A reverse stress test was also performed to identify the most 
probable combination of stresses that would result in 
capital loss and thus threaten the viability of U K Insurance 
Limited, the Group's principal underwriter, i.e. a reduction of 
own funds to below the SCR. The purpose of this reverse 
stress test was to assess the coverage and scope of the 
internal economic capital model and there were no findings 
that invalidate the internal model.

Therefore, having made due enquiries, the Directors 
reasonably expect that the Group has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for at least 12 months 
from 7 March 2022 (the date of approval of the consolidated 
financial statements). Accordingly, the Directors have 
adopted the going concern basis in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements.

Adoption of new and revised standards
The Group has adopted the following new amendments to 
IFRSs and International Accounting Standards ("IASs") that 
became mandatorily effective for the Group for the first time 
during 2021. 

In August 2020, the IASB issued 'Interest Rate Benchmark 
Reform Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 
4 and IFRS 16)' which was effective from 1 January 2021 and 
was adopted by the UK in January 2021. The key 
considerations are as follows:

The Phase 2 amendments provide practical relief from 
certain requirements in IFRS standards. These reliefs relate 
to modifications of financial instruments and lease contracts 
or hedging relationships triggered by a replacement of a 
benchmark interest rate in a contract with a new alternative 
benchmark rate. If the basis for determining the contractual 
cash flows of a financial asset or financial liability measured 
at amortised cost changed as a result of interest rate 
benchmark reform, then the Group updated the effective 
interest rate of the financial asset or financial liability to 
reflect the change that is required by the reform. A change 
in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows is 
required by interest rate benchmark reform if the following 
conditions are met: 

– the change is necessary as a direct consequence of the 
reform; and 

– the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows 
is economically equivalent to the previous basis – i.e. the 
basis immediately before the change. 

When changes were made to a financial asset or financial 
liability in addition to changes to the basis for determining 
the contractual cash flows required by interest rate 
benchmark reform, the Group first updated the effective 
interest rate of the financial asset or financial liability to 
reflect the change that is required by interest rate 
benchmark reform. After that, the Group applied the 
policies on accounting for modifications to the additional 
changes. 

The amendments also provide an exception to use a revised 
discount rate that reflects the change in interest rate when 
remeasuring a lease liability because of a lease modification 
that is required by interest rate benchmark reform. The 
Group has no lease contracts where changes to rental 
amounts are affected by the interest rate benchmark 
reform.
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Adoption of new and revised standards continued
The Phase 2 amendments provide a series of temporary 
exceptions from certain hedge accounting requirements 
when a change required by interest rate benchmark reform 
occurs to a hedged item and/or hedging instrument. The 
temporary exceptions permit the hedging relationship to be 
continued without interruption. The Group applied the 
following reliefs as and when uncertainty arising from 
interest rate benchmark reform was no longer present with 
respect to the timing and amount of the interest rate 
benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item or 
hedging instrument: 

– the Group amended the designation of a hedging 
relationship to reflect changes that were required by the 
reform without discontinuing the hedging relationship; 
and 

– when a hedged item in a cash flow hedge was amended 
to reflect the changes that were required by the reform, 
the amount accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve 
was deemed to be based on the alternative benchmark 
rate on which the hedged future cash flows are 
determined. 

Further details on the implementation of the reform are 
reported in note 3.3.2 Market risk.

The IASB issued 'Covid-19-related Rent Concessions beyond 
30 June 2021 (Amendment to IFRS 16)' in March 2021 
which was adopted by the UK in May 2021. The 
amendment extends, by one year, the original May 2020 
amendment that permits lessees, as a practical expedient, 
not to assess whether particular rent concessions occurring 
as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic are lease 
modifications and instead to account for those rent 
concessions as if they are not lease modifications. The Group 
has not needed to apply this practical expedient.

1.1 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 
financial statements of the Company and the entities that 
are controlled by the Group at 31 December 2021 and 
31 December 2020. Control exists when the Group is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the entity. In assessing 
whether the Group controls another entity, the existence 
and effect of the potential voting rights that are currently 
exercisable or convertible are considered.

A subsidiary acquired is included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date it is controlled by the 
Group until the date the Group ceases to control it. On 
acquisition of a subsidiary, its identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities are included in the consolidated 
financial statements at fair value.

All intercompany transactions, balances, income and 
expenses between Group entities are eliminated on 
consolidation.

1.2 Foreign currencies
Group entities record transactions in the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which they operate (their 
functional currency), translated at the foreign exchange rate 
ruling at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated into the relevant functional 
currency at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance 
sheet date. Foreign exchange differences arising on the 
settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the 
translation of monetary assets and liabilities are reported in 
the income statement.

Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies 
that are stated at fair value are translated into the relevant 
functional currency at the foreign exchange rates ruling at 
the dates the values are determined. Translation differences 
arising on non-monetary items measured at fair value are 
recognised in the income statement except for differences 
arising on AFS non-monetary financial assets and equity 
investments, which are recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

Assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including 
goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, 
are translated into sterling at the foreign exchange rates 
ruling at the balance sheet date. Income and expenses of 
foreign operations are translated into sterling at average 
exchange rates unless these do not approximate the foreign 
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange differences arising on the translation of a 
foreign operation are recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. The amount 
accumulated in equity is reclassified from equity to the 
consolidated income statement on disposal or partial 
disposal of a foreign operation.

1.3 Contract classification
Insurance contracts are those contracts where the Group 
(the insurer) has accepted significant insurance risk from 
another party (the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate 
the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event (the 
insured event) adversely affects the policyholder.

Once a contract has been classified as an insurance 
contract, it remains an insurance contract for the remainder 
of its lifetime, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly 
during this period, unless all rights and obligations are 
extinguished.

1.4 Revenue recognition

Premiums earned
Insurance and reinsurance premiums comprise the total 
premiums receivable for the whole period of cover provided 
by contracts incepted during the financial year, adjusted by 
an unearned premium reserve, which represents the 
proportion of the premiums incepted in the year or prior 
periods that relate to periods of insurance cover after the 
balance sheet date. Unearned premiums are calculated over 
the period of exposure under the policy on a daily basis, a 
monthly basis or allowing for the estimated incidence of 
exposure under policies.

Premiums collected by intermediaries or other parties, but 
not yet received, are assessed based on estimates from 
underwriting or past experience and are included in 
insurance premiums. Insurance premiums exclude 
insurance premium tax or equivalent local taxes and are 
shown gross of any commission payable to intermediaries or 
other parties.

Cash back payments to policyholders under motor 
telematics policies represent a reduction in earned 
premiums.

Investment return
Interest income on financial assets is determined using the 
effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate 
method is a way of calculating the amortised cost of a 
financial asset (or group of financial assets) and of allocating 
the interest income over the expected life of the asset.

Rental income from investment property is recognised in 
the income statement on a straight-line basis over the 
period of the contract. 

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive 
payment is established.
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Instalment income
Instalment income comprises the interest income earned 
on policyholder receivables, where outstanding premiums 
are settled by a series of instalment payments. Interest is 
earned using an effective interest rate method over the term 
of the policy.

Other operating income
Vehicle replacement referral income
Vehicle replacement referral income comprises fees 
recognised at a point in time in respect of referral income 
received when a customer or a non-fault policyholder 
(claimant) of another insurer has been provided with a hire 
vehicle from a preferred supplier.

Income is recognised when the customer or claimant has 
been provided with a vehicle by the supplier.

Revenue from vehicle recovery and repair services
Fees in respect of services for vehicle recovery include both 
arrangement and administration services. Arrangement 
services are provided at a point in time as the benefits from 
obtaining the insurance policy occur at a specific time. The 
customer benefits from administration services throughout 
the policy period; as the Group performs its obligation on an 
as-needed basis, the allocated element of administration 
services are spread evenly over the term of the policy.

The Group's income also comprises vehicle repair services 
provided to other third-party customers. Income in respect 
of repairs to vehicles is recognised upon completion of the 
repair obligations. The price is determined using market 
rates for the services and materials used after discounts 
have been deducted where applicable.

Revenue from any goods provided are accounted for at the 
point of sale.

Legal services income
Legal services income represents the amount charged to 
clients for professional services provided during the year 
including recovery of expenses but excluding value added 
tax. Income relating to variable legal services fees is 
recognised on a best estimate basis.

Other income
Commission fee income in respect of services is recognised 
at a point in time on satisfaction of related performance 
obligations. Where variable consideration is identified in a 
contract, this revenue is estimated and constrained to the 
extent that it is highly improbable that revenue recognised 
will be reversed. Income is stated excluding applicable sales 
taxes.

1.5 Insurance claims
Insurance claims are recognised in the accounting period in 
which the loss occurs. Provision is made for the full cost of 
settling outstanding claims at the balance sheet date, 
including claims incurred but not yet reported at that date, 
net of salvage and subrogation recoveries.

Outstanding claims provisions are not discounted for the 
time value of money except for claims to be settled by PPOs 
established under the Courts Act 2003. 

A court can award damages for future pecuniary loss in 
respect of personal injury or for other damages in respect of 
personal injury and may order that the damages which are 
wholly or partly to take the form of PPOs. These are covered 
in more detail in note 2.3. Costs for both direct and indirect 
claims handling expenses are also included.

Provisions are determined by management based on 
experience of claims settled and on statistical models which 
require certain assumptions to be made regarding the 
incidence, timing and amount of claims and any specific 
factors such as adverse weather conditions. When 
calculating the total provision required, the historical 
development of claims is analysed using statistical 
methodology to extrapolate the value of incurred claims 
(gross and net) at the balance sheet date. Also included in 
the estimation of incurred claims are factors such as the 
potential for judicial or legislative inflation.

Provisions for more recent claims make use of techniques 
that incorporate expected loss ratios and average claims 
cost (adjusted for inflation) and frequency methods. As 
claims mature, the provisions are increasingly driven by 
methods based on actual claims experience. The approach 
adopted takes into account the nature, type and 
significance of the business and the type of data available, 
with large claims generally being assessed separately. The 
data used for statistical modelling purposes is generated 
internally and reconciled to the accounting data.

The calculation is particularly sensitive to the estimation of 
the ultimate cost of claims for the particular classes of 
business at gross and net levels and the estimation of future 
claims handling costs. Actual claims experience may differ 
from the historical pattern on which the actuarial best 
estimate is based and the cost of settling individual claims 
may exceed that assumed. As a result, the Group sets 
reserves based on a management best estimate, which 
includes a prudence margin that exceeds the internal 
actuarial best estimate. This amount is recorded within 
claims provisions.

A liability adequacy provision is made for unexpired risks 
arising where the expected value of claims and expenses 
attributable to the unexpired periods of policies in force at 
the balance sheet date exceeds the unearned premium 
reserve in relation to such policies after the deduction of any 
acquisition costs deferred and other prepaid amounts. The 
expected value is determined by reference to recent 
experience and allowing for changes to the premium rates. 

The provision for unexpired risks is calculated separately by 
reference to classes of business that are managed together 
after taking account of relevant investment returns.

1.6 Reinsurance
The Group has reinsurance treaties and other reinsurance 
contracts that transfer significant insurance risk.

The Group cedes insurance risk by reinsurance in the normal 
course of business, with the arrangement and retention 
limits varying by product line. Outward reinsurance 
premiums and claims are generally accounted for in the 
same accounting period as the direct business to which 
they relate.

Reinsurance assets include balances due from reinsurance 
companies for ceded insurance liabilities. Amounts 
recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a consistent 
manner, with the outstanding claims provisions or settled 
claims associated with the reinsured policies and in 
accordance with the relevant reinsurance contract. 
Recoveries in respect of PPOs are discounted for the time 
value of money.
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1.6 Reinsurance continued
A reinsurance bad debt provision is assessed in respect of 
reinsurance debtors, to allow for the risk that the 
reinsurance asset may not be collected or where the 
reinsurer's credit rating has been downgraded significantly 
and this is taken as an indication of a reinsurer's difficulty in 
meeting its obligations under the reinsurance contracts. This 
also includes an assessment in respect of the ceded part of 
claims provisions to reflect the counterparty default risk 
exposure to long-term reinsurance assets particularly in 
relation to PPOs. Changes in the provision affect the Group 
by changing the carrying value of the net reinsurance asset 
with the movement being recognised in the income 
statement.

1.7 Deferred acquisition costs
Acquisition costs relating to new and renewing insurance 
policies are matched with the earning of the premiums to 
which they relate. A proportion of acquisition costs incurred 
during the year is therefore deferred to the subsequent 
accounting period to match the extent to which premiums 
written during the year are unearned at the balance sheet 
date.

The principal acquisition costs deferred are direct 
advertising expenditure, directly attributable administration 
costs, commission paid and costs associated with telesales 
and underwriting staff.

1.8 Goodwill and other intangible assets
Acquired goodwill, being the excess of the cost of an 
acquisition over the Group's interest in the net fair value of 
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of 
the subsidiary, associate or joint venture acquired, is initially 
recognised at cost and subsequently at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on the 
acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures is 
included in the balance sheet category "goodwill and other 
intangible assets". The gain or loss on the disposal of a 
subsidiary, associate or joint venture includes the carrying 
value of any related goodwill.

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses. Amortisation is charged to the income statement 
over the assets' economic lives using methods that best 
reflect the pattern of economic benefits and is included in 
operating expenses. The estimated useful economic lives for 
software development costs are up to 10 years.

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and indirect 
advertising costs is written off as incurred. Direct costs 
relating to the development of internal-use computer 
software and associated business processes are capitalised 
once technical feasibility and economic viability have been 
established. These costs include payroll costs, the costs of 
materials and services and directly attributable overheads. 
Capitalisation of costs ceases when the software is capable 
of operating as intended.

During and after development, accumulated costs are 
reviewed for impairment against the projected benefits that 
the software is expected to generate. Costs incurred prior to 
the establishment of technical feasibility and economic 
viability are expensed as incurred, as are all training costs 
and general overheads.

1.9 Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment (except investment 
property – see note 1.12) are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Where an item of 
property, plant and equipment comprises major 
components having different useful lives, they are 
accounted for separately.

Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a 
straight-line basis so as to write off the depreciable amount 
of property, plant and equipment over their estimated 
useful lives. The depreciable amount is the cost of an asset 
less its residual value. Land is not depreciated. The 
estimated useful lives are as follows:

Freehold and leasehold 
buildings

50 years or the period 
of the lease if shorter

Vehicles 3 years

Computer equipment Up to 5 years

Other equipment, including 
property adaptation costs

2 to 15 years

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is determined as the 
difference between the disposal proceeds, if any, and the 
carrying amount of the item.

1.10 Impairment of intangible assets, goodwill and 
property, plant and equipment
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is 
any indication that its intangible assets, goodwill or 
property, plant and equipment are impaired. If any such 
indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the asset and the impairment loss, if any. 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more 
frequently, if events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that it might be impaired. If an asset does not generate cash 
flows that are independent of those of other assets or 
groups of assets, the recoverable amount is determined for 
the cash-generating unit ("CGU") to which the asset belongs. 
The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair 
value less costs to sell and its value-in-use.

Value-in-use is the present value of future cash flows from 
the asset or CGU, discounted at a rate that reflects market 
interest rates, adjusted for risks specific to the asset or CGU 
that have not been reflected in the estimation of future cash 
flows.

If the recoverable amount of an intangible or a tangible 
asset is less than its carrying value, an impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in the income statement and the 
carrying value of the asset is reduced by the amount of the 
impairment loss.

A reversal of an impairment loss on intangible assets or 
property, plant and equipment is recognised as it arises 
provided the increased carrying value does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised. Impairment losses on 
goodwill are not reversed.
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1.11 Right-of-use assets  ("ROU") and lease liabilities

Where the Group is a lessee
At inception, the Group assesses whether a contract 
contains a lease arrangement, which involves assessing 
whether it obtains substantially all the economic benefits 
from the use of a specific asset, and it has the right to direct 
the use of that asset. The Group recognises a ROU asset and 
a lease liability at the commencement of the lease (when 
the underlying asset is available for use), except for short-
term leases of 12 months or less and low-value leases which 
are expensed on a straight-line basis in the income 
statement. The ROU asset is initially measured based on the 
present value of the lease payments, plus initial direct costs 
less any incentives received. Lease payments include fixed 
payments and variable payments. Variable payments relate 
to contractual rent increases linked to inflation indices. The 
ROU asset is depreciated over the lease term and is subject 
to impairment testing if there is an indicator of impairment. 
When leases contain an extension or purchase option which 
is reasonably expected to be exercised this is included in the 
measurement of the lease.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the 
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease 
commencement date unless the interest rate implicit in the 
lease is readily determinable. The incremental borrowing 
rate is determined based on available risk-free market yield-
to-maturity pricing linked to the lease amount and term, 
and includes a credit spread. The lease liability is 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method and remeasured, with a 
corresponding adjustment to the ROU asset, when there is a 
change in future lease payments, terms or reassessment of 
options.

The Group's leasehold property mainly relates to office 
space and vehicle repair centres. Leases in respect of motor 
vehicles relate to recovery and replacement vehicles, and 
management cars. The Group also leases certain IT 
equipment which is not a significant portion of the total 
leased asset portfolio.

Where the Group is a lessor
Leases where a significant proportion of the risks and 
rewards of ownership is retained by the lessor are classified 
as operating leases. Lease income from operating leases is 
recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.

Where assets are subject to finance leases, the present value 
of the lease payments, together with any unguaranteed 
residual value, is recognised as a receivable.

1.12 Investment property
Investment property comprises freehold and leasehold 
properties that are held to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation or both. Investment property is not 
depreciated but is stated at fair value based on valuations 
completed quarterly by independent registered valuers and 
in accordance with guidance issued by the Royal Institution 
of Chartered Surveyors. Fair value is based on current prices 
for similar properties adjusted for the specific characteristics 
of each property. Any gain or loss arising from a change in 
fair value is recognised in the income statement.

Investment property is derecognised when it has been 
either disposed of or permanently withdrawn from use and 
no future economic benefit is expected from disposal. Any 
gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of investment 
property are recognised in the income statement in the year 
of retirement or disposal.

1.13 Financial assets
Financial assets are classified as available-for-sale, held-to-
maturity, designated at fair value through profit or loss, or 
loans and receivables.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of 
assets within a time frame established by regulation or 
convention in the market place are recognised on the date 
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Available-for-sale ("AFS")
Financial assets can be designated as AFS on initial 
recognition. AFS financial assets are initially recognised at 
fair value plus directly related transaction costs. They are 
subsequently measured at fair value. Impairment losses and 
exchange differences, resulting from translating the 
amortised cost of foreign currency monetary AFS financial 
assets, are recognised in the income statement, together 
with interest calculated using the effective interest rate 
method. Other changes in the fair value of AFS financial 
assets are reported in a separate component of 
shareholders' equity until disposal, when the cumulative 
gain or loss is recognised in the income statement.

A financial asset is regarded as quoted in an active market if 
quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an 
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or 
regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and 
regularly occurring market transactions on an arm's-length 
basis. The appropriate quoted market price for an asset held 
is usually the current bid price. When current bid prices are 
unavailable, the price of the most recent transaction 
provides evidence of the current fair value as long as there 
has not been a significant change in economic 
circumstances since the time of the transaction. If 
conditions have changed since the time of the transaction 
(for example, a change in the risk-free interest rate following 
the most recent price quote for a corporate bond), the fair 
value reflects the change in conditions by reference to 
current prices or rates for similar financial instruments, as 
appropriate. The valuation methodology described above 
uses observable market data.

If the market for a financial asset is not active, the Group 
establishes the fair value by using a valuation technique. 
Valuation techniques include using recent arm's-length 
market transactions between knowledgeable and willing 
parties (if available), reference to the current fair value of 
another instrument that is substantially the same, 
discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models. If 
there is a valuation technique commonly used by market 
participants to price the instrument, and that technique has 
been demonstrated to provide reliable estimates of prices 
obtained in actual market transactions, the Group uses that 
technique.

AFS financial assets include equity investments.

Held-to-maturity ("HTM")
Non-derivative financial assets not designated as AFS, or 
loans and receivables with fixed or determinable payments 
and fixed maturity, where the intention and ability to hold 
them to maturity exists, are classified as HTM.

Subsequent to initial recognition, HTM financial assets are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method less any impairment losses.
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1.13 Financial assets continued

Loans and receivables
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
repayments that are not quoted in an active market are 
classified as loans and receivables, except those that are 
classified as AFS or HTM. Loans and receivables are initially 
recognised at fair value plus directly related transaction 
costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method less any impairment 
losses.

Impairment of financial assets
At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether 
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets classified as AFS, HTM or loans and 
receivables is impaired. A financial asset or portfolio of 
financial assets is impaired and an impairment loss incurred 
if there is objective evidence that an event or events since 
initial recognition of the asset have adversely affected the 
amount or timing of future cash flows from the asset.

AFS
When a decline in the fair value of a financial asset classified 
as AFS has been recognised directly in equity and there is 
objective evidence that the asset is impaired, the 
cumulative loss is removed from equity and recognised in 
the income statement. The loss is measured as the 
difference between the amortised cost of the financial asset 
and its current fair value. 

Impairment losses on AFS equity instruments are not 
reversed through profit or loss, but those on AFS debt 
instruments are reversed, if there is an increase in fair value 
that is objectively related to a subsequent event. 

HTM or loans and receivables
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on a 
financial asset or group of financial assets classified as HTM 
or loans and receivables has been incurred, the Group 
measures the amount of the loss as the difference between 
the carrying amount of the asset or group of assets and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows from the asset 
or group of assets, discounted at the effective interest rate of 
the instrument at initial recognition.

Impairment losses are assessed individually, where 
significant, or collectively for assets that are not individually 
significant.

Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement 
and the carrying amount of the financial asset or group of 
financial assets is reduced by establishing an allowance for 
the impairment losses. If in a subsequent period the 
amount of the impairment loss reduces, and the reduction 
can be ascribed to an event after the impairment was 
recognised, the previously recognised loss is reversed by 
adjusting the allowance.

Insurance receivables
Insurance receivables comprise outstanding insurance 
premiums where the policyholders have elected to pay in 
instalments or amounts due from third parties where they 
have collected or are due to collect the money from the 
policyholder.

Receivables also include amounts due in respect of the 
provision of legal services.

For amounts due from policyholders, the bad debt provision 
is calculated based upon prior loss experience. For all 
balances outstanding in excess of three months, a bad debt 
provision is made. Where a policy is subsequently cancelled, 
the outstanding debt that is overdue is charged to the 
income statement and the bad debt provision is released 
back to the income statement.

Derivatives and hedging
Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at 
fair value on the date the derivative contract is entered into, 
and subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end 
of each reporting period. Derivative fair values are 
determined from quoted prices in active markets where 
available. Where there is no active market for an instrument, 
fair value is derived from prices for the derivative's 
components using appropriate pricing or valuation models.
Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of a 
derivative are recognised as they arise in the income 
statement unless the derivative is the hedging instrument in 
a qualifying hedge. The Group enters into fair value hedge 
relationships and a small amount of cash flow hedges.

Hedge relationships are formally documented at inception. 
The documentation identifies the hedged item and the 
hedging instrument and details the risk that is being 
hedged and the way in which effectiveness will be assessed 
at inception and during the period of the hedge. If the 
hedge is not highly effective in offsetting changes in cash 
flows and fair values attributable to the hedged risk, 
consistent with the documented risk management strategy, 
or if the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or 
exercised, hedge accounting is discontinued.

In a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of the gain or loss 
on the hedging instrument is recognised in other 
comprehensive income. Any ineffective portion is 
recognised in the income statement.

In a fair value hedge, the gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument is recognised in the income statement. The gain 
or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is 
recognised in the income statement and, where the hedged 
item is measured at amortised cost, adjusts the carrying 
amount of the hedged item.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset is derecognised when the rights to receive 
the cash flows from that asset have expired or when the 
Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from 
the asset and has transferred substantially all the risk and 
rewards of ownership of the asset.

1.14 Cash and cash equivalents and borrowings
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and 
demand deposits with banks together with short-term 
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of 
change in value.

Borrowings, comprising bank overdrafts, are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method and 
are part of the Group's cash management approach and are 
repayable on demand.

1.15 Assets held for sale
Non-current assets, including investment property, are 
classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than 
through continuing use and a sale is considered highly 
probable. Investment property is measured at fair value less 
costs to sell. Other non-current assets are measured at the 
lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to 
sell. 
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An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement 
for any initial or subsequent write down of the asset to fair 
value less costs to sell. A gain is recognised for any 
subsequent increase in fair value less costs to sell of an asset 
but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss 
previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously 
recognised by the date of the sale is recognised at the date 
of derecognition.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are presented 
separately from the other assets in the balance sheet and 
are not depreciated or amortised. 

1.16 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value net of 
transaction costs incurred. Other than derivatives which are 
recognised and measured at fair value, all other financial 
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation 
under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

1.17 Subordinated liabilities
Subordinated liabilities comprise subordinated guaranteed 
dated notes which are initially measured at the 
consideration received less related transaction costs. 
Subsequently, subordinated liabilities are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

1.18 Provisions
The Group recognises a provision for a present legal or 
constructive obligation from a past event when it is more 
likely than not that it will be required to transfer economic 
benefits to settle the obligation and the amount can be 
reliably estimated.

The Group makes provision for all insurance industry levies, 
such as the Financial Services Compensation Scheme and 
Motor Insurance Bureau.

When the Group has an onerous contract, it recognises the 
present obligation under the contract as a provision. A 
contract is onerous when the unavoidable costs of meeting 
the contractual obligations exceed the expected future 
economic benefit.

Restructuring provisions are made, including redundancy 
costs, when the Group has a constructive obligation to 
restructure. An obligation exists when the Group has a 
detailed formal plan and has communicated the plan to 
those affected.

1.19 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits
The Group provides post-retirement benefits in the form of 
pensions and healthcare plans to eligible employees.

Contributions to the Group's defined contribution pension 
scheme are recognised in the income statement when 
payable.

The Group's defined benefit pension scheme, as described 
in note 27, was closed in 2003. Scheme liabilities are 
measured on an actuarial basis, using the projected unit 
credit method, and discounted at a rate that reflects the 
current rate of return on a high-quality corporate bond of 
equivalent term and currency to the scheme liabilities.

Scheme assets are measured at their fair value. Any surplus 
or deficit of scheme assets over liabilities is recognised in the 
balance sheet as an asset (surplus) or liability (deficit). The 
current service cost and any past service costs, together with 
the net interest on the net pension liability or asset, is 
charged or credited to operating expenses. Actuarial gains 
and losses are recognised in full in the period in which they 
occur outside the income statement and presented in other 
comprehensive income under "Items that will not be 
reclassified subsequently to the income statement".

1.20 Taxation
The tax charge or credit represents the proportion of the tax 
payable and receivable arising in the current year only.

The current tax charge is based on the taxable profits for the 
year as determined in accordance with the relevant tax 
legislation, after any adjustments in respect of prior years. 
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the 
income statement because it excludes items of income or 
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it 
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.

Provision for taxation is calculated using tax rates that have 
been enacted, or substantively enacted, by the balance 
sheet date and is allocated over profits before taxation or 
amounts charged or credited to components of other 
comprehensive income and equity, as appropriate.

Deferred taxation is accounted for in full using the balance 
sheet liability method on all temporary differences between 
the carrying amount of an asset or liability for accounting 
purposes and its carrying amount for tax purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all 
taxable temporary timing differences and deferred tax 
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date 
and reduced to the extent that it is probable that they will 
not be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax 
rates expected to apply when the assets are realised or 
liabilities are settled based on laws and rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 
Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income 
statement, except when it relates to items charged or 
credited to other comprehensive income or equity, in which 
case the deferred tax is also dealt with in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a 
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends 
to settle its current assets and liabilities on a net basis.

1.21 Share-based payment
The Group operates a number of share-based compensation 
plans under which it awards Ordinary Shares and share 
options to its employees. Such awards are generally subject 
to vesting conditions that can alter the amount of cash or 
shares to which an employee is entitled.

Vesting conditions include service conditions (requiring the 
employee to complete a specified period of service) and 
performance conditions (requiring the Group to meet 
specified performance targets).

The fair value of options granted is estimated using 
valuation techniques which incorporate exercise price, term, 
risk-free interest rates, the current share price and its 
expected volatility.

The cost of employee services received in exchange for an 
award of shares or share options granted is measured by 
reference to the fair value of the shares or share options on 
the date the award is granted and takes into account non-
vesting conditions and market performance conditions 
(conditions related to the market price of the Company's 
Ordinary Shares).
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1.21 Share-based payment continued
The cost is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
period (the period during which all the specified vesting 
conditions must be satisfied) with a corresponding increase 
in equity in an equity-settled award, or a corresponding 
liability in a cash-settled award. The cost is adjusted for 
vesting conditions (other than market performance 
conditions) so as to reflect the number of shares or share 
options that actually vest.

The cancellation of an award through failure to meet non-
vesting conditions triggers an immediate expense for any 
unrecognised element of the cost of an award.

1.22 Capital instruments
The Group classifies a financial instrument that it issues as a 
financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with 
the substance of the contractual arrangement. An 
instrument is classified as a liability if it is a contractual 
obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset, or to 
exchange financial assets or financial liabilities on 
potentially unfavourable terms, or as equity if it evidences a 
residual interest in the assets of the Group after the 
deduction of liabilities.

The Tier 1 notes are classified as equity as they have a 
perpetual maturity and the Group has full discretion over 
interest payments, including ability to defer or cancel 
interest payments indefinitely. 

The consideration for any Ordinary Share of the Company 
purchased by the Group for the benefit of the employee 
trusts is deducted from equity.

1.23 Dividends
Interim dividends on Ordinary Shares are recognised in 
equity in the period in which they are paid. Final dividends 
on Ordinary Shares are recognised when they have been 
approved at the AGM.

1.24 Accounting developments
New IFRS standards and amendments that are issued, but 
not yet effective for the 31 December 2021 reporting period 
and have not been early adopted by the Group, are 
disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these 
standards, if applicable, when they become effective, except 
for amendments to IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments', as 
explained below.

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 
'Financial Instruments' which replaces IAS 39 'Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement' and all 
previous versions of IFRS 9; it was endorsed by the EU1 in 
2016. IFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and 
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities, 
introduces new rules for hedge accounting and a new 
impairment model for financial assets. It was effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, 
however adoption by the Group has been deferred as 
described below.

In September 2016, the IASB issued Amendments to IFRS 4: 
'Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 
Insurance Contracts' to address issues arising from the 
different effective dates of IFRS 9 and IFRS 17 'Insurance 
Contracts'. These amendments to IFRS 4 were endorsed by 
the EU1 in November 2017.

Note:

1. On 31 December 2020, all EU-adopted international accounting standards 
became UK-adopted international accounting standards.

These amendments permitted insurers who satisfied certain 
criteria to defer the effective date of IFRS 9, to coincide with 
the expected effective date of IFRS 17. The Group 
conducted a high-level assessment of the three aspects of 
IFRS 9 and based on current information, the impact of 
applying the expected loss model for the first time is 
currently immaterial. The Group does not expect any other 
significant impact on its financial statements. 

The amendments required insurance entities to evaluate 
whether their activities were predominantly connected to 
insurance as at its annual reporting date immediately 
preceding 1 April 2016, providing an option to defer 
adoption of IFRS 9 if liabilities connected to insurance 
comprised a predominant proportion of its total liabilities as 
at that date. The Group concluded that it satisfied the 
criteria and there have been no significant changes in the 
Group's activities since this assessment to require a 
reassessment of the criteria. 

As a result, the Group decided to defer the application of 
IFRS 9 and continues to do so. The amendments to IFRS 4 
also require certain interim disclosures in relation to the fair 
value movements of financial assets as outlined below. 

The fair value at the end of the reporting period for financial 
assets with contractual terms that give rise on specified 
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount are disclosed in note 43. 
The amount of change in the fair value during the period for 
these financial assets was: 

– AFS debt securities £94.5 million decrease (2020: £96.7 
million increase);

– HTM debt securities £1.7 million decrease (2020: £0.2 
million decrease);

– infrastructure debt £2.1 million decrease (2020: £1.1 
million increase); and

– commercial real estate loans £0.5 million decrease (2020: 
£3.8 million decrease).

Derivative assets do not have contractual terms that give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
The fair value of these financial assets is disclosed in note 43 
and the amount of change in the fair value during the 
period was an increase of £26.9 million (2020: £64.5 million 
increase).

In note 3.3.3 the Group has disclosed the carrying amount of 
financial assets at the end of the reporting period by credit 
risk rating grade, as defined in IFRS 7 'Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures'. The fair value of financial assets that meet the 
'solely payments of principal and interest' criteria, and at the 
end of the reporting period do not have a low credit risk, 
was £366.0 million (2020: £374.6 million). The carrying value 
of these financial assets at 31 December 2021 was £368.1 
million (2020: £377.2 million).

IFRS 9 information that relates to entities within the Group 
that is not provided in the Group's consolidated financial 
statements can be obtained from their individual financial 
statements, which are filed at Companies House.

As the effective date of IFRS 17 has since been delayed to 1 
January 2023, 'Amendments to IFRS 4 – Deferral of IFRS 9' 
was issued in June 2020, and adopted by the UK in January 
2021, which delays the effective date of IFRS 9 so as to 
remain in line with IFRS 17. 
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'Amendments to IFRS 9: Prepayment Features with 
Negative Compensation' was issued in October 2017 and is 
endorsed by the UK to allow instruments with symmetric 
prepayment options to qualify for amortised cost or fair 
value through other comprehensive income measurement 
because they would otherwise fail the 'solely payments of 
principal and interest test' on the principal amount 
condition. The amendments are effective from the same 
period as IFRS 9.

IFRS 17 was issued by the IASB in May 2017 to replace IFRS 
4 'Insurance Contracts' and is effective for reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with comparative 
figures required. IFRS 17 is a comprehensive new 
accounting standard for all insurance contracts covering 
recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure. 
The overall objective of IFRS 17 is to provide an accounting 
model for insurance contracts that is more useful and 
consistent for insurers and to replace the requirements of 
IFRS 4 that allowed insurers to apply grandfathering of 
previous local accounting policies.

As the vast majority of the Group's insurance contracts have 
a coverage period that is 12 months or less, the Group 
intends to adopt the premium allocation approach ("PAA") 
for all insurance and reinsurance contract groups. Applying 
the PAA, an entity measures the liability for remaining 
coverage ("LRC") of a group of insurance contracts on initial 
recognition as the premiums received less any insurance 
acquisition cash flows paid. Subsequently, the liability for 
remaining coverage of a group of insurance contracts 
increases with premiums received and decreases to reflect 
an allocation of the total amount of the expected premiums 
receipts to profit or loss on a straight-line basis as insurance 
services are provided. The measurement of the Group's 
liability for incurred claims ("LIC") will require the Group to 
determine a probability-weighted best estimate of future 
fulfilment cash flows, discounted to reflect the time value of 
money with a risk adjustment to compensate for non-
financial risk. 

A dedicated programme of activity throughout the year has 
ensured the Group remains on track to complete the 
necessary data and technology changes required to 
transition to IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 from 1 January 2023, with a 
period of parallel run planned for 2022.

The Group also continues to refine its accounting policy 
choices and accounting judgements under IFRS 17 and 
therefore it is not possible to accurately estimate the likely 
impact of IFRS 17 to the Group's financial statements at this 
stage.

The standard is yet to be endorsed by the UK.

In January 2020, the IASB issued 'Classification of Liabilities 
as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1)' which 
clarifies the requirements for classifying liabilities as current 
or non-current, more specifically:

– The amendments specify that the conditions which exist 
at the end of the reporting period are those which will be 
used to determine if a right to defer settlement of a 
liability exists.

– Management expectations about events after the 
balance sheet date, for example on whether a covenant 
will be breached, or whether early settlement will take 
place, are not relevant.

– The amendments clarify the situations that are 
considered settlement of a liability.

In July 2020 a further amendment was made: 'Classification 
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current – Deferral of Effective 
Date (Amendments to IAS 1)' to defer the effective date of 
the January 2020 'Classification of Liabilities as Current or 
Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1)' to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

The new guidance is effective for annual periods starting on 
or after 1 January 2023 but is yet to be adopted by the UK.

In May 2020 the IASB issued narrow-scope amendments to 
three standards:

– Amendments to IFRS 3 'Business Combinations' update a 
reference in IFRS 3 to the Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting without changing the accounting 
requirements for business combinations.

– Amendments to IAS 16 'Property, Plant and Equipment' 
prohibit a company from deducting from the cost of 
property, plant and equipment amounts received from 
selling items produced while the company is preparing 
the asset for its intended use. Instead, a company will 
recognise such sales proceeds and related cost in profit 
or loss.

– Amendments to IAS 37 'Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets' specify which costs a company 
includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss-
making.

These three amendments have an IASB effective date of 1 
January 2022 but are yet to be adopted by the UK.

Also, in May 2020 the IASB issued 'Annual Improvements to 
IFRS Standards 2018-2020' which makes minor 
amendments to:

– IFRS 1 'First-time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards' which simplifies the application of 
IFRS 1 for a subsidiary that becomes a first-time adopter 
of IFRS standards later than its parent;

– IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' – this amendment clarifies 
that – for the purpose of performing the '10 per cent test' 
for derecognition of financial liabilities – in determining 
those fees paid net of fees received, a borrower includes 
only fees paid or received between the borrower and the 
lender, including fees paid or received by either the 
borrower or lender on the other's behalf; and 

– IFRS 16 'Leases' which removes the illustration of 
payments from the lessor relating to leasehold 
improvements.  

All amendments are effective from 1 January 2022 but are 
yet to be adopted by the UK.

The following amendments are effective from 1 January 
2023 but have not yet been adopted by the UK.

In February 2021 the IASB issued 'Definition of Accounting 
Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8)' which introduces a new 
definition of 'accounting estimates'. The amendments are 
designed to clarify the distinction between changes in 
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies 
and the correction of errors.  

Also, in February 2021 the IASB issued 'Disclosure of 
Accounting policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS 
Practice Statement 2)' to help entities to provide accounting 
policy disclosures that are more useful by:

– replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their 
'significant' accounting policies with a requirement to 
disclose their 'material' accounting policies; and 

– adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of 
'materiality' in making decisions about accounting policy 
disclosures.

In May 2021 the IASB issued 'Deferred Tax related to Assets 
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction 
(Amendments to IAS 12)' which narrows the scope of the 
initial recognition exception under IAS 12 'Income Taxes' so 
that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to 
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.
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2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
The reported results of the Group are sensitive to the accounting policies, assumptions and estimates that underlie the 
preparation of its financial information. The Group's principal accounting policies are set out on pages 181 to 189. 
Company law and IFRSs require the Directors, in preparing the Group's financial statements, to select suitable accounting 
policies, apply them consistently and make judgements and estimates that are reasonable.

In the absence of an applicable standard or interpretation, IAS 8 'Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors' requires management to develop and apply an accounting policy that results in relevant and reliable 
information in the light of the requirements and guidance in IFRS dealing with similar and related issues and the IASB's 
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements. The judgements and assumptions involved in 
the Group's accounting policies that are considered by the Board to be the most important to the portrayal of its financial 
condition are discussed below.

It has been determined, following the successful implementation of the Group's new Motor platform, that 'Impairment 
provisions - intangible assets' is no longer a critical accounting judgement or source of estimation uncertainty. This is 
because the Group's most significant intangible asset, the Motor IT platform, has begun amortisation over the period of its 
expected useful economic life.

2.1 Impairment provisions – financial assets

Accounting judgement
The Group's financial assets are classified as AFS or HTM debt securities or loans and receivables. The Group makes a 
judgement that financial assets are impaired when there is objective evidence that an event or events have occurred since 
initial recognition that have adversely affected the amount or timing of future cash flows from the asset. The determination 
of which events could have adversely affected the amount or timing of future cash flows from the asset requires 
judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates, among other factors: the normal price volatility of the financial 
asset; the financial health of the investee; industry and sector performance; changes in technology or operational and 
financing cash flow; and whether there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the asset below its 
cost. Impairment may be appropriate when there is evidence of deterioration in these factors. 

On a quarterly basis, the Group reviews whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired based on 
the following criteria:

– actual, or imminent, default on coupon interest or nominal;
– adverse movements in the credit rating for the investee/borrower;
– price performance of a particular AFS debt security, or group of AFS debt securities, demonstrating an adverse trend 

compared to the market as a whole; and
– whether an event has occurred that could be reliably estimated and which had an impact on the financial asset or its 

future cash flows.

The majority of the Group's financial assets are classified as AFS debt securities (31 December 2021: £4,084.6 million; 
31 December 2020: £4,103.1 million). Impairment losses and exchange differences arising from translating the amortised 
cost of foreign currency monetary AFS financial assets are recognised in the income statement. Other changes in fair value 
are recognised in a separate component of equity. No impairments have been recognised in the AFS portfolio. 

Had all the declines in AFS debt securities asset values met the criteria above at 31 December 2021, the Group would have 
suffered a loss of £24.8 million (2020: £3.0 million), being the transfer of the total AFS reserve for unrealised losses to the 
income statement. However, these movements represent mark-to-market movements and, as there was no objective 
evidence of any loss events that could affect future cash flows, no impairments have been recorded.

The Group has a small portfolio of investments classified as HTM (31 December 2021: £91.2 million; 31 December 2020: 
£103.9 million). These assets are measured at amortised cost and there have been no impairment losses.

The Group has a portfolio of investments classified as loans and receivables, comprising infrastructure debt and 
commercial real estate loans (total 31 December 2021: £451.6 million; 31 December 2020: £471.2 million). There was an 
impairment of £2.1 million within the loans and receivables portfolio in the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: £2.7 
million).

2.2 Fair value of investment properties

Sources of estimation uncertainty
The Group holds a portfolio of investment properties, with a value at 31 December 2021 of £317.0 million (2020: £292.1 
million). Where quoted market prices are not available, valuation techniques are used to value these properties. The fair 
value was determined using a methodology based on recent market transactions for similar properties, which have been 
adjusted for the specific characteristics of each property within the portfolio. The valuation in the financial statements is 
based on valuations by independent registered valuers and the techniques used include some unobservable inputs. The 
valuations used for investment properties are classified in the level 3 category of the fair value hierarchy (see note 43).

Sensitivity analysis for the investment property portfolio has been independently calculated by our register valuers by 
flexing inputs of internal models to a reasonable alternative yield to ascertain the impact on property valuations (see note 
20).
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2.3 General insurance: outstanding claims provisions and related reinsurance recoveries

Accounting judgement
Reserves are based on management's best estimate, which includes a prudence margin that exceeds the internal actuarial 
best estimate. This margin is set by reference to various actuarial scenario assessments and reserve distribution percentiles. 
It also considers other long- and short-term risks not reflected in the actuarial inputs, as well as management's view of the 
uncertainties in relation to the actuarial best estimate. 

Source of estimation uncertainty
The Group makes provision for the full cost of outstanding claims from its general insurance business at the balance sheet 
date, including claims estimated to have been incurred but not yet reported at that date and associated claims handling 
costs. Outstanding claims provisions net of related reinsurance recoveries at 31 December 2021 amounted to £2,548.4 
million (2020: £2,591.7 million).

Claims reserves are assessed separately for large and attritional claims, typically using standard actuarial methods of 
projection. Key sources of estimation uncertainty include those arising from the selection of specific methods as well as 
assumptions for claims frequency and severity through the review of historical claims and emerging trends. The Group 
seeks to adopt a conservative approach to assessing claims liabilities, as evidenced by the favourable development of 
historical claims reserves.

The corresponding reinsurance recoveries are calculated on an equivalent basis, with similar estimation uncertainty, as 
discussed in note 1.6. The reinsurance bad debt provision is mainly held against expected recoveries on future PPO 
payments.

The most common method of settling bodily injury claims is by a lump sum. When this includes an element of indemnity 
for recurring costs, such as loss of earnings or ongoing medical care, the settlement calculations apply the statutory 
discount rate (known as the Ogden discount rate) to reflect the fact that payment is made on a one-off basis rather than 
periodically over time. The current Ogden discount rate is minus 0.25% for England and Wales, minus 0.75% in Scotland, 
and minus 1.75% in Northern Ireland. 

The Group reserves its large bodily injury claims at the relevant discount rate for each jurisdiction, with the overwhelming 
majority now case reserved at minus 0.25% as most will be settled under the law in England and Wales. The Ogden 
discount rate will be reviewed again at the latest in 2024. Sensitivities for the impact of a potential change in the Ogden 
discount rate are shown in note 3.3.1. 

The Group settles some large bodily injury claims as PPOs rather than lump sum payments. The Group has estimated the 
likelihood of large bodily injury claims settling as PPOs. Anticipated PPOs consist of both existing large loss case reserves 
including allowances for development and claims yet to be reported to the Group. Reinsurance is applied at claim level 
and the net cash flows are discounted for the time value of money. The discount rate is consistent with the expected 
return on the assets backing these long-term liabilities.

Higher claims inflation remains a risk, given the continuing rise in consumer price and wage inflation. CPI is at its highest 
level for the past decade and is not expected to decline until 2023. Pressure is likely to remain strong on wages, with 
potential implications for the cost of care. Global supply chain issues remain problematic, resulting in a risk of price 
increases for products and components in short supply. A range of general and specific claims inflation scenarios for goods 
and services have therefore been considered in the reserving process.

Changes in claims frequency present greater uncertainty for the unearned part of the business, whereas uncertainty over 
the level of claims severity has a greater impact on the earned claims reserves. Claims severity risk is particularly acute with 
respect to care costs for large bodily injury claims as well as input costs and replacement costs for damage claims. The 
sensitivity analysis in note 3.3.1 continues to look at a 100 basis point change in the claims inflation assumed in the 
actuarial best estimate over the next two years and therefore continues to remain relevant and within the Group's booked 
reserve margin. 

The table in note 35 to the financial statements provides an analysis of outstanding PPO claims provisions on a discounted 
and an undiscounted basis at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 and further details on sources of estimation 
uncertainty. Details of sensitivity analysis to the discount rate applied to PPO claims are shown in note 3.3.1.

WWW.DIRECTLINEGROUP.CO.UK 191www.directlinegroup.co.uk 191



3. Risk management 

3.1 Enterprise Risk Management Strategy and Framework
The Enterprise Risk Management Strategy and Framework sets out, at a high level, the Group's approach and processes for 
managing risks. Further information can be found in the Risk management section of the Strategic report on page 89.

3.2 Risk and capital management modelling
The Board has ultimate responsibility for ensuring that the Group has sufficient funds to meet its liabilities as they fall due. 
The Group carries out detailed modelling of its assets, liabilities and the key risks to which these are exposed. This 
modelling includes the Group's own assessment of its SCR, using its partial internal model approved by the PRA in 2016. 
The SCR quantifies the insurance, market, credit, operational and liquidity risks that the regulated entities are undertaking. 

The Board is closely involved in the SCR process and reviews, challenges and approves its assumptions and results.

3.3 Principal risks from insurance activities and use of financial instruments
The Risk management section of the Strategic report also sets out all the risks assessed by the Group as principal risks. 
Detailed below is the Group's risk exposure arising from its insurance activities and use of financial instruments specifically 
in respect of insurance risk, market risk, credit risk, operational risk and liquidity risk.

Following the end of the transition period on 31 December 2020 and the trade and co-operation agreement between the 
UK and the EU, there still remains considerable uncertainty as to the effect of Brexit on the Group. The Group has 
proactively considered a variety of possible implications of the end to existing trading and other arrangements between 
the UK and the EU, including of a financial and operational nature. Additionally, the risk of a UK-wide recession and global 
financial instability as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic remains high and the Group continues to monitor the worst-case 
impact. The implications of both these risks are referred to in the Risk management section of the Strategic report.

3.3.1 Insurance risk
The Group is exposed to insurance risk as a primary consequence of its business. Key insurance risks focus on the risk of loss 
due to fluctuations in the timings, amount, frequency and severity of an insured event relative to the expectations at the 
time of underwriting.

The Group is mainly exposed to the following insurance risks:

Reserve risk
Reserve risk relates to both premium and claims. This is the risk of understatement or overstatement of reserves arising 
from:

– the uncertain nature of claims;
– data issues and changes to the claims reporting process;
– operational failures;
– failure to recognise claims trends in the market; and
– changes in underwriting and business written so that past trends are not necessarily a predictor of the future.

Understatement of reserves may result in not being able to pay claims when they fall due. Alternatively, overstatement of 
reserves can lead to a surplus of funds being retained resulting in opportunity cost; for example, lost investment return or 
insufficient resource to pursue strategic projects and develop the business.

Reserve risk is controlled through a range of processes:

– regular reviews of the claims and premiums, along with an assessment of the requirement for a liability adequacy 
provision for the main classes of business by the internal actuarial team;

– the use of external actuaries to review periodically the actuarial best estimate reserves produced internally, either 
through peer review or through provision of independent reserve estimates;

– accompanying all reserve reviews with actuarial assessment of the uncertainties through a variety of techniques 
including bootstrapping and scenario analysis;

– oversight of the reserving process by relevant senior management and the Board;
– regular reconciliation of the data used in the actuarial reviews against general ledger data and reconciliation of the 

claims data history against the equivalent data from prior reviews; and
– regular assessment of the uncertainty in the reserves to help the Board set management best estimate reserves.

The Group's reserves are subject to the risk of retrospective changes in judicial conditions such as the recent changes in the 
Ogden discount rate. Detailed information on the Ogden discount rate is provided in note 2.3.

Uncertainty in claims reserves estimation is larger for claims such as PPOs for which annually indexed payments are made, 
typically over the lifetime of the injured party. Claims reserves for PPOs are held on a discounted basis and are sensitive to a 
change in the discount rate.
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The table below provides a sensitivity analysis of the potential net impact of a change in a single factor (the internal 
discount rate used for PPOs, Ogden discount rate or claims inflation) with all other assumptions left unchanged. Other 
potential risks beyond the ones described could have additional financial impacts on the Group.

Increase/(decrease) in profit 
before tax1,2

2021 2020

At 31 December £m £m

PPOs3

Impact of an increase in the discount rate used in the calculation of present values of 100 basis 
points  43.0  45.9 

Impact of a decrease in the discount rate used in the calculation of present values of 100 basis 
points  (58.9)  (62.7) 

Ogden discount rate4

Impact of the Group reserving at a discount rate of 0.75% compared to minus 0.25% (2020: 
0.75% compared to minus 0.25%)  42.5  43.7 

Impact of the Group reserving at a discount rate of minus 1.25% compared to minus 0.25% 
(2020: minus 1.25% compared to minus 0.25%)  (59.4)  (61.1) 

Claims inflation
Impact of a decrease in claims inflation by 100 basis points for two consecutive years  37.3  32.4 

Impact of an increase in claims inflation by 100 basis points for two consecutive years  (37.6)  (32.2) 

Notes:

1. These sensitivities are net of reinsurance and exclude the impact of taxation. 
2. These sensitivities reflect one-off impacts at the balance sheet date and should not be interpreted as predictions.
3. The sensitivities relating to an increase or decrease in the real discount rate used for PPOs illustrate a movement in the time value of money from the assumed 

level of 0% for reserving. The PPO sensitivity has been calculated on the direct impact of the change in the real internal discount rate with all other factors 
remaining unchanged.

4. Ogden discount rate sensitivity has been calculated on the direct impact of a permanent change in the discount rate in England and Wales with all other 
factors remaining unchanged. The Group will consider the statutory discount rate when setting the reserves but not necessarily provide on this basis. This is 
intended to ensure that reserves are appropriate for current and potential future developments.

The PPO sensitivity above is calculated on the basis of a change in the internal discount rate used for the actuarial best 
estimate reserves as at 31 December 2021. It does not take into account any second order impacts such as changes in 
PPO propensity or reinsurance bad debt assumptions.

There is the risk that claims are reserved or paid inappropriately, including the timing of such activity. However, there are 
claims management controls in place to mitigate this risk, as outlined below:

– claims are managed utilising a range of IT system-driven controls coupled with manual processes outlined in detailed 
policies and procedures to ensure claims are handled in an appropriate, timely and accurate manner;

– each member of staff has a specified handling authority, with controls preventing them handling or paying claims 
outside their authority, as well as controls to mitigate the risk of paying invalid claims. In addition, there are various 
outsourced claims handling arrangements, all of which are monitored closely by management, with similar principles 
applying in terms of the controls and procedures;

– loss adjusters are used in certain circumstances to handle claims to conclusion. This involves liaison with the 
policyholder, third parties, suppliers and the Claims function;

– specialist bodily injury claims teams are responsible for handling these types of losses, with the nature of handling 
dependent on the level and type of claim. Claims exceeding a certain threshold are referred to the technical and large 
loss teams who also deal with all other claim types above defined limits or within specific criteria; and

– a process is in place to deal with major weather and other catastrophic events, known as the 'Surge Demand Plan'. A 
surge is the collective name given to an incident which significantly increases the volume of claims reported to the 
Group's claims function. The plan covers surge demand triggers, stages of incident, operational impact, communication 
and management information monitoring of the plan.

Underwriting risk
This is the risk that future claims experience on business written is materially different from the results expected, resulting 
in current-year losses. The Group predominantly underwrites personal lines insurance including motor, residential property, 
roadside assistance, creditor, travel and pet business. The Group also underwrites commercial risks primarily for low-to-
medium risk trades within the small and medium-sized enterprises market. Contracts are typically issued on an annual 
basis which means that the Group's liability usually extends for a 12-month period, after which the Group is entitled to 
decline to renew or can revise renewal terms by amending the premium or other policy terms and conditions such as the 
excess as appropriate.

Underwriting risk includes catastrophe risk and the risk of loss, or of adverse change in the value of the insurance liabilities 
resulting from significant uncertainty of pricing, underwriting and provisioning assumptions related to extreme or 
exceptional circumstances.
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3. Risk management continued

3.3.1 Insurance risk continued
The key risks relating to climate change today are UK floods and major UK windstorms. 

The Group recognises that climate change may impact its business over the longer term. In particular, there is a risk that 
climate change affects the frequency and severity of extreme weather events (physical risk), which will change the Group's 
view of underwriting risk, reinsurance and pricing. The Group will continue to develop its risk management systems and 
monitoring tools over 2022 for physical risk building on the work undertaken to complete the Climate Biennial Exploratory 
Scenario ("CBES") in 2021. Low-frequency, high-severity weather losses are mitigated to a significant degree by the 
catastrophe reinsurance programme, the ceding of home high flood risks to Flood Re, and the commercial underwriting 
strategy which reduces high flood risk exposure. Furthermore, there is a risk that the Group's insurance products will not 
meet its customers' needs as a result of changes in market dynamics and customer behaviour in relation to climate 
change, for example a rapid shift towards electric vehicle usage. The Group expects these specific risks to materialise in the 
medium to longer term (see page 78 for definition) and anticipates that its continued strategic and operational response 
to the transition to a lower-carbon economy will support mitigation of these risks and the associated impacts in the long 
term.

When underwriting policies, the Group is subject to concentration risk in a variety of forms, including:

– geographic concentration risk – the Group purchases a catastrophe reinsurance programme to protect against a 
modelled 1-in-200 year windstorm/storm surge loss. The programme renews annually on 1 July and has a retention of 
£150 million and an upper limit of £1,150 million;

– product concentration risk – the Group's business is heavily concentrated in the UK general insurance market. However, 
the Group offers a diversified portfolio of products and a variety of brands sold through a range of distribution channels 
to its customers; and

– sector concentration risk – the concentration of the Group to any given industry sector is monitored and analysed in 
respect of commercial customers.

It is important to note that none of these risk categories is independent of the others and that giving due consideration to 
the relationship between these risks is an important aspect of the effective management of insurance risk.

Distribution risk
The risk of a material reduction in profit compared to plan due to the Group not writing its planned policy volumes in each 
segment.

Pricing risk
The risk of economic loss arising from business being incorrectly priced or underwritten.

Reinsurance risk
This is the risk of inappropriate selection and/or placement of reinsurance arrangements, with either individual or multiple 
reinsurers, which renders the transfer of insurance risk to the reinsurer(s) inappropriate and/or ineffective. 

Other risks include:

– reinsurance concentration risk – the concentration of credit exposure to any given counterparty;
– reinsurance capacity being reduced and/or withdrawn;
– underwriting risk appetite and reinsurance contract terms not being aligned;
– reinsurance contract terms being inappropriate or ineffective resulting in classes or types of business not being 

appropriately reinsured;
– non-adherence to the reinsurance policy terms and conditions, in terms of both policy management and claims not 

being handled within the reinsurance contract terms and conditions, or paid on an ex-gratia basis, resulting in 
reinsurance recoveries not being made in full;

– inappropriate or inaccurate management information and/or modelling being used to determine the value for money 
and purchasing of reinsurance (including aggregate modelling); and 

– changes in the external legal, regulatory, social or economic environment (including changes resulting from climate 
change) altering the definition and application of reinsurance policy wordings or the effectiveness or value for money of 
reinsurance.

The Group uses reinsurance to:

– protect the underwriting result against low-frequency, high-severity losses through the transfer of catastrophe claims 
volatility to reinsurers;

– protect the underwriting result against unforeseen volumes of, or adverse trends in, large individual claims in order to 
reduce volatility and to improve stability of earnings;

– reduce the Group's capital requirements; and/or 
– transfer risk that is not within the Group's current risk appetite.
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Market risk is the risk of loss resulting from fluctuations in the level and in the volatility of market prices of assets, liabilities 
and financial instruments.

The Group is mainly exposed to the following market risk factors:

– spread risk;
– interest rate risk;
– property risk; and
– currency risk.

The Group has policies and limits approved by the Investment Committee for managing the market risk exposure. These 
set out the principles that the business should adhere to for managing market risk and establishing the maximum limits 
the Group is willing to accept having considered strategy, risk appetite and capital resources.

The Group monitors its market risk exposure on a daily basis and, in addition, has established an aggregate exposure limit 
consistent with its risk objective to maintain capital adequacy. Interdependencies across risk types have also been 
considered within the aggregate exposure limit. The allocation of the Group's investments across asset classes has been 
approved by the Investment Committee. The strategic asset allocation within the investment portfolio is reviewed by the 
Investment Committee, which makes recommendations to the Board for its investment strategy approval. The Investment 
Committee determines policy and controls, covering such areas as risk, liquidity and performance. The Investment 
Committee meets at least three times a year to evaluate risk exposure, the current strategy, associated policies and 
investment guidelines and to consider investment recommendations submitted to it. Oversight of the implementation of 
decisions taken by the Investment Committee is via the first and second lines of defence.

The investment management objectives are to:

– maintain the safety of the portfolio's principal both in economic terms and from a capital, accounting and reporting 
perspective;

– maintain sufficient liquidity to provide cash requirements for operations, including in the event of a catastrophe; and
– maximise the portfolio's total return within the constraints of the other objectives and the limits defined by the 

investment guidelines and capital allocation.

The Investment Committee has agreed long-term targets for the investment portfolio in relation to supporting the Group's 
objectives on climate change. These are: ensuring the Group's entire investment portfolio is net zero emissions by 2050 in 
line with the aims of the Race to Zero campaign; and an interim target of a 50% reduction in weighted average 
greenhouse gas emissions intensity by 2030 within the Group's corporate bonds portfolio, the largest part of its investment 
portfolio, compared to a 2020 baseline.

The Group has a property portfolio and an infrastructure debt portfolio to generate a real return which, from an asset and 
liability matching perspective, is used to offset the liability arising from longer duration PPOs.

When setting the strategic asset allocation, the Group is subject to concentration risk in a variety of forms including:

– large exposures to individual assets (either bond issuers or deposit-taking institutions); and
– large exposures to different assets where movements in values and ratings are closely correlated.

Concentration risk on investments arises through excessive exposure to particular industry sectors, groups of business 
undertakings or similar activities. The Group may suffer significant losses in its investment portfolio as a result of over-
exposure to particular sectors engaged in similar activities or having similar economic features that would cause their 
ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions.
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3. Risk management continued

3.3.2 Market risk 
The table below analyses the distribution of debt securities by geographical area (commercial real estate loans and 
infrastructure debt are all within the UK).

Corporate
Local 

government Sovereign Supranational
Debt securities 

total

At 31 December 2021 £m £m £m £m £m

Australia  215.0  —  —  —  215.0 
Austria  17.7  —  —  —  17.7 
Belgium  31.6  —  —  —  31.6 
Canada  99.1  —  —  —  99.1 
Cayman Islands  4.0  —  —  —  4.0 
China  1.0  —  —  —  1.0 
Czech Republic  1.0  —  —  —  1.0 
Denmark  15.6  —  —  —  15.6 
Finland  29.4  12.1  —  —  41.5 
France  301.6  5.9  —  —  307.5 
Germany  243.3  —  —  —  243.3 
Ireland  1.4  —  —  —  1.4 
Italy  21.0  —  —  —  21.0 
Japan  48.6  —  —  —  48.6 
Mexico  13.1  —  —  —  13.1 
Netherlands  125.1  —  —  —  125.1 
New Zealand  11.0  —  —  —  11.0 
Norway  17.9  10.1  —  —  28.0 
Portugal  4.9  —  —  —  4.9 
South Africa  10.6  —  —  —  10.6 
South Korea  3.0  —  —  —  3.0 
Spain  74.3  —  —  —  74.3 
Sweden  65.8  —  —  —  65.8 
Switzerland  57.3  —  —  —  57.3 
United Arab Emirates  3.5  —  —  —  3.5 
United Kingdom  1,134.0  —  29.7  —  1,163.7 
USA  1,546.1  —  5.9  —  1,552.0 
Zambia  1.2  —  —  —  1.2 
Supranational  —  —  —  14.0  14.0 
Total  4,098.1  28.1  35.6  14.0  4,175.8 
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The table below analyses the distribution of debt securities by geographical area (commercial real estate loans and 
infrastructure debt are all within the UK).

Corporate
Local 

government Sovereign Supranational
Debt securities 

total

At 31 December 2020 £m £m £m £m £m

Australia  205.7  —  —  —  205.7 

Austria  17.1  —  —  —  17.1 

Belgium  38.0  —  —  —  38.0 

Canada  127.6  —  —  —  127.6 

Cayman Islands  1.8  —  —  —  1.8 

Czech Republic  1.1  —  —  —  1.1 

Denmark  11.9  —  —  —  11.9 

Finland  27.7  12.3  —  —  40.0 

France  311.0  13.1  —  —  324.1 

Germany  199.6  —  1.3  —  200.9 

Ireland  7.1  —  —  —  7.1 

Italy  27.1  —  —  —  27.1 

Japan  48.2  —  —  —  48.2 

Luxembourg  4.4  —  —  —  4.4 

Mexico  14.0  —  —  —  14.0 

Netherlands  155.3  —  —  —  155.3 

New Zealand  8.1  —  —  —  8.1 

Norway  15.0  10.2  —  —  25.2 

Peru  1.9  —  —  —  1.9 

South Africa  10.0  —  —  —  10.0 

South Korea  3.1  —  —  —  3.1 

Spain  75.8  —  —  —  75.8 

Sweden  61.4  —  —  —  61.4 

Switzerland  33.1  —  —  —  33.1 

United Arab Emirates  3.6  —  —  —  3.6 

United Kingdom  1,201.1  —  15.1  —  1,216.2 

USA  1,514.2  —  8.8  —  1,523.0 

Supranational  —  —  —  21.3  21.3 

Total  4,124.9  35.6  25.2  21.3  4,207.0 
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3. Risk management continued

3.3.2 Market risk 
The table below analyses the distribution of debt securities by industry sector classifications.

2021 2020

At 31 December £m % £m %

Basic materials  82.6  2%  104.5  3% 

Communications  203.4  5%  212.2  5% 

Consumer, cyclical  410.3  10%  358.0  9% 

Consumer, non-cyclical  361.4  9%  426.7  10% 

Diversified  19.2  0%  20.8  0% 

Energy  152.8  4%  184.2  4% 

Financial  2,050.2  49%  1,897.0  45% 

Industrial  250.5  6%  280.3  7% 

Sovereign, supranational and local government  77.7  2%  82.1  2% 

Technology  121.5  3%  103.9  3% 

Transport  13.4  0%  13.4  0% 

Utilities  432.8  10%  523.9  12% 

Total  4,175.8  100%  4,207.0  100% 

The table below analyses the distribution of infrastructure debt by industry sector classifications.

2021 2020

At 31 December £m % £m %

Social, of which:

Education  110.3  44%  115.7  44% 
Health  67.2  26%  70.3  26% 
Other  49.0  20%  50.7  19% 

Transport  24.3  10%  27.8  11% 
Total  250.8  100%  264.5  100% 

The Group uses its internal economic capital model to determine its capital requirements and market risk limits and 
monitors its market risk exposure based on a 99.5% value-at-risk measure. The Group also applies market risk stress and 
scenario testing for the economic impact of specific severe market conditions. The results of this analysis are used to 
enhance the understanding of market risk. The market risk minimum standard explicitly prohibits the use of derivatives for 
speculative or gearing purposes. However, the Group is able to and does use derivatives for hedging its currency risk and 
interest rate risk exposures.

Spread risk
This is the risk of loss from the sensitivity of the value of assets and investments to changes in the level or in the volatility of 
credit spreads over the risk-free interest rate term structure. The level of spread is the difference between the risk-free rate 
and actual rate paid on the asset, with larger spreads being associated with higher-risk assets. The Group is exposed to 
spread risk through its asset portfolio, most notably through its investment in corporate bonds.

Net interest rate risk
This is the risk of loss from changes in the term structure of interest rates or interest rate volatility which impact assets and 
liabilities. The Group's interest rate risk arises mainly from its debt, floating interest rate investments and assets and 
liabilities exposed to fixed interest rates.

The Group has subordinated guaranteed dated Tier 2 notes with fixed coupon rates which were issued on 27 April 2012 at 
a fixed rate of 9.25% and have a redemption date of 27 April 2042; at the time of issue, the Group entered into a 10-year 
interest rate swap, to exchange the fixed rate of interest on these notes to a floating rate, to hedge exposure to interest 
rates. This was treated as a designated hedging instrument.

Of the £500 million notes issued, the Group has bought back a total nominal value of £250 million.

The hedging relationship between the subordinated debt and the interest rate swap was redesignated to reflect this 
transaction and ensure continuing hedge effectiveness. However, on 31 July 2020 the Group identified that the hedge no 
longer met the criteria of hedge effectiveness under IAS 39 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement' and, 
under the rules of the standard, the accumulated hedging adjustment is being amortised to the income statement from 
the date of the last successful hedge effectiveness test over the remaining life of the subordinated debt using an effective 
interest rate calculation.

The Group also has subordinated Tier 2 notes with fixed coupon rates with a nominal value of £260 million that were 
issued on 5 June 2020 and perpetual Tier 1 notes with fixed coupon rates with a nominal value of £350 million that were 
issued on 7 December 2017. 

The Group also invests in floating rate debt securities, whose investment income is influenced by the movement of the 
short-term interest rate. A movement of the short-term interest rate will affect the expected return on these investments.
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The market value of the Group's financial investments with fixed coupons is affected by the movement of interest rates. For 
the majority of debt securities investments in US dollar and Euro debt securities, the Group hedges its exposure to US 
dollar and Euro interest rate risk using swaps, excluding £348.6 million of US dollar short-duration, high-yield bonds (2020: 
£361.8 million), £123.9 million of US dollar subordinated financial debt and £96.2 million of Euro subordinated financial 
debt (2020: £99.9 million and £71.4 million, respectively) and £nil million short-duration Euro credit (2020: £58.7 million).

The Group is exposed to the following interest rate benchmarks within its hedging relationships: GBP SONIA, USD SOFR 
and EURIBOR. The first two have been subject to interest rate benchmark reform during 2021 (historically both LIBOR). 
The hedged items include issued sterling fixed rate subordinated debt (which is no longer treated as designated under IAS 
39) and holdings of US dollar and Euro denominated fixed rate debt securities.

The Group has in place an IBOR transition plan which is updated regularly. The most recent version of the plan was 
reviewed by the Investment Committee in November 2021. The plan identifies where the Group has IBOR exposures and 
the departments responsible for ensuring a suitable plan is in place to enable a smooth transition to alternative 
benchmark rates. Delivering the plan is under the governance of the Chief Financial Officer. The Group has also provided 
the plan and data in response to data submission requests from the PRA throughout 2021.

In the course of 2020 and 2021 the following steps were undertaken as part of the transition process: 

– amendments were made to the intra-company loan agreements to ensure that they contain LIBOR fall-back language;
– U K Insurance Limited adhered to the International Swaps and Derivative Association fall-back protocol which covers 

the interest rate swap held to hedge issued subordinated debt which references GBP LIBOR; the external asset 
managers too have to adhere to the protocol, thus covering the interest rate swaps in the managed portfolios;

– the loan documentation for infrastructure debt and commercial real estate loans was amended in 2021 to include 
LIBOR fall-back clauses to the existing loan agreements in line with Loan Market Association guidance; and

– these fall-back clauses will be added to any new agreements. 

In November 2021, the transition from USD LIBOR interest rate swaps to SOFR swaps for all US dollar hedge exposures was 
completed in line with accounting standards.

All legacy commercial real estate loans (issuance pre-April 2021) transitioned on the Q4 2021 interest payment date to 
GBP SONIA.

Not all the infrastructure loans as at 31 December 2021 have transitioned away from GBP LIBOR over to GBP SONIA.  
Where legal documentation has yet to be completed, in the immediate future reference of rates will be linked to synthetic 
GBP LIBOR. 

The table below discloses in more detail for the transition from LIBOR to GBP SONIA for all sterling illiquid assets.

Non-derivative floating rate financial 
instruments prior to transition Maturing in

Number of 
instruments

Nominal 
exposure 

(£m) Transition progress

Private placement linked to 
LIBOR

2025 1 13.5 Transitioned to SONIA

Commercial real estate loans 
linked to LIBOR

2022 - 2026 27 200.8 Transitioned to SONIA

Infrastructure debt linked to 
LIBOR

2025 - 2040 29 250.8 – 6 loans completed transition to SONIA;
– 10 loans on which arrangements to transition to 

SONIA are agreed and awaiting execution; 
– 12 loans are in the process of agreeing 

documentation to transition to SONIA; and 
– one loan will be prepaid in full in the first quarter 

of 2022 and will not transition to SONIA.

The Group's designated interest rate hedging instruments and hedged items as at 31 December 2021 are set out in the 
table below.

Hedge type Instrument type Maturing in Nominal Hedged item

Fair value 
hedges

Pay USD fixed, receive USD SOFR 
interest rate swaps

2023 - 2032 US$1,108 million Portfolio fair value hedge of the USD 
SOFR component of US dollar 
denominated fixed rate debt securities

Pay Euro fixed, receive 6-month 
EURIBOR interest rate swaps

2024 - 2042 €109 million Portfolio fair value hedge of the 6-month 
EURIBOR component of Euro 
denominated fixed rate debt securities

Property risk
This is the risk of loss arising from sensitivity of assets and financial investments to the level or volatility of market prices, 
rental yields, or occupancy rates of properties. At 31 December 2021, the value of these property investments was £317.0 
million (2020: £292.1 million). The property investments are located in the UK.
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3. Risk management continued

3.3.2 Market risk continued

Currency risk
This is the risk of loss from changes in the level or volatility of currency exchange rates.

Exposure to currency risk is generated by the Group's investments in US dollar and Euro denominated debt bonds.

The Group maintains exposure to US dollar securities through £1,376.5 million (2020: £1,331.9 million) of investments in US 
dollar bonds and Euro securities through £197.7 million (2020: £231.1 million) of Euro bonds. The foreign currency 
exposure of these investments is hedged by foreign currency forward contracts, maintaining a minimal unhedged 
currency exposure on these portfolios, as well as a low basis risk on the hedging contracts.

A limited exposure to currency risk also arises through the Group's insurance and other contractual liabilities. 

Currency risk is not material at Group level.

Use of derivatives
The Group uses derivatives to hedge against interest rate and currency risk.

The tables below analyse the maturity of the Group's derivative assets and liabilities.

Notional 
amounts Maturity and fair value

Less than 1 
year 1 – 5 years Over 5 years Total

At 31 December 2021 £m £m £m £m £m

Derivative assets
At fair value through the income statement
Foreign exchange contracts (forwards)  1,695.4  27.8  —  —  27.8 
Interest rate swaps  250.0  2.4  —  —  2.4 
Designated as hedging instruments
Foreign exchange contracts (forwards)  10.0  —  —  —  — 
Interest rate swaps  901.0  (0.9)  3.6  3.0  5.7 
Total  2,856.4  29.3  3.6  3.0  35.9 

Notional 
amounts Maturity and fair value

Less than 1 
year 1 – 5 years Over 5 years Total

At 31 December 2021 £m £m £m £m £m

Derivative liabilities
At fair value through the income statement
Foreign exchange contracts (forwards)  1,318.9  19.1  —  —  19.1 
Designated as hedging instruments
Foreign exchange contracts (forwards)  4.1  0.1  0.1  —  0.2 
Interest rate swaps  9.1  —  —  0.2  0.2 
Total  1,332.1  19.2  0.1  0.2  19.5 

Notional 
amounts Maturity and fair value

Less than 1 
year 1 – 5 years Over 5 years Total

At 31 December 2020 £m £m £m £m £m

Derivative assets
At fair value through the income statement
Foreign exchange contracts (forwards)  2,182.8  63.5  —  —  63.5 

Interest rate swaps  250.0  1.0  7.2  —  8.2 

Designated as hedging instruments
Foreign exchange contracts (forwards)  4.1  0.1  —  —  0.1 

Interest rate swaps  150.3  —  —  1.6  1.6 

Total  2,587.2  64.6  7.2  1.6  73.4 
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Notional 
amounts Maturity and fair value

Less than 1 
year 1 – 5 years Over 5 years Total

At 31 December 2020 £m £m £m £m £m

Derivative liabilities
At fair value through the income statement
Foreign exchange contracts (forwards)  696.4  12.3  —  —  12.3 

Designated as hedging instruments
Interest rate swaps  785.1  2.4  17.7  24.8  44.9 

Total  1,481.5  14.7  17.7  24.8  57.2 

Sensitivity analysis
The table below provides a sensitivity analysis of the potential impact on financial investments and derivatives of a change 
in a single factor with all other assumptions left unchanged. Other potential risks beyond the ones described in the table 
could have an additional financial impact on the Group.

Increase/(decrease)
in profit before tax1

Decrease 
in total equity1 

at 31 December

2021 2020 2021 2020

£m £m £m £m

Spread
Impact of a 100 basis points increase in spreads on financial 
investments2,3  —  —  (144.3)  (151.2) 

Interest rate
Impact of a 100 basis points increase in interest rates on financial 
investments and derivatives2,3,4  11.8  12.5  (100.6)  (114.1) 

Investment property
Impact of a 15% decrease in property markets  (47.5)  (43.8)  (47.5)  (43.8) 

Notes:

1. These sensitivities exclude the impact of taxation and have not considered the impact of the general market changes on the value of the Group's insurance 
liabilities or retirement benefit obligations. They reflect one-off impacts at 31 December and should not be interpreted as predictions.

2. The income statement impact on financial investments is limited to floating rate instruments and interest rate derivatives used to hedge a portion of the 
portfolio. The income statement is not impacted in relation to fixed rate instruments, in particular AFS debt securities, where the coupon return is not impacted 
by a change in prevailing market rates, as the accounting treatment for AFS debt securities means that only the coupon received is processed through the 
income statement, with fair value movements being recognised through total equity.

3. The increase or decrease in total equity does not reflect any fair value movement in infrastructure debt, commercial real estate loans and HTM debt securities 
that would not be recorded in the financial statements under IFRSs as they are classified as loans and receivables and HTM respectively, which are carried at 
amortised cost. It is estimated that a fair value reduction in these asset categories resulting from a 100 basis points increase in spreads would have been £13.7 
million (2020: £15.1 million) and a 100 basis points increase in interest rates would have been £4.8 million (2020: £4.4 million).

4. The sensitivities set out above reflect one-off impacts at 31 December, with the exception of the income statement interest rate sensitivity on financial 
investments and derivatives, which projects a movement in a full year's interest charge as a result of the increase in the interest rate applied to these assets or 
liabilities on those positions held at 31 December.

The Group has a number of open interest rate and foreign exchange derivative positions. Collateral management 
arrangements are in place for significant counterparty exposures. At 31 December 2021, the Group has pledged £26.3 
million in cash (2020: £65.8 million) to cover initial margins and out-of-the-money derivative positions. At 31 December 
2021, counterparties have pledged £5.4 million in cash and £2.2 million in UK Gilts (2020: £12.0 million in cash and £8.1 
million in UK Gilts) to the Group to cover in-the-money derivative positions.

The terms and conditions of collateral pledged for both assets and liabilities are market-standard. When securities are 
pledged they are required to be readily convertible to cash, and as such no policy has been established for the disposal of 
assets not readily convertible into cash.

3.3.3 Credit risk
This is the risk of loss resulting from defaults in obligations due and/or changes in credit standing of either issuers of 
securities, counterparties or any debtors to which the Group is exposed. The Group is mainly exposed to counterparty 
default risk.

Counterparty default risk
This is the risk of loss from unexpected default or deterioration in the credit standing of the counterparties and debtors of 
Group undertakings. This risk is monitored by three forums: the Investment Risk Forum monitors credit spreads as 
indicators of potential losses on investments incurred but not yet realised; the Credit Risk Forum monitors reinsurance and 
corporate insurance counterparty default risk; and the NIG Credit Committee is responsible for monitoring broker credit 
risk. The main responsibility of these forums is to ensure that all material aspects of counterparty default risk within the 
Group are identified, monitored and measured.
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3. Risk management continued

3.3.3 Credit risk continued

Counterparty default risk continued
The main sources of counterparty default risk for the Group are:

– investments – this arises from the investment of funds in a range of investment vehicles permitted by the investment 
policy;

– reinsurance recoveries – this arises in respect of reinsurance claims against which a reinsurance bad debt provision is 
assessed. PPOs have the potential to increase the ultimate value of a claim and, by their very nature, to increase 
significantly the length of time to reach final payment. This can increase reinsurance counterparty default risk in terms 
of both amount and longevity; 

– commercial credit – this arises as brokers collect premiums on behalf of the Group; and
– consumer credit – exposure from offering monthly instalments on annual insurance contracts.

The Group cedes insurance risk to reinsurers but, in return, assumes counterparty default risk against which a reinsurance 
bad debt provision is assessed. The financial security of the Group's panel of reinsurers is therefore important and both the 
quality and amount of the assumed counterparty default risk are subject to an approval process whereby reinsurance is 
only purchased from reinsurers that hold a credit rating of at least A– at the time cover is purchased. The Group's leading 
counterparty exposures are reviewed on a quarterly basis by the Head of Reinsurance and Corporate Insurance. The Group 
aims to deal with a diverse range of reinsurers on its contracts to mitigate the credit and/or non-payment risks associated 
with its reinsurance exposures.

The following tables analyse the carrying value of financial and insurance assets that bear counterparty default risk 
between those assets that have not been impaired by age in relation to due date, and those that have been impaired.

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired
Past due 1 – 90 

days
Past due more 

than 90 days

Carrying value 
in the balance 

sheet

At 31 December 2021 £m £m £m £m

Reinsurance assets  1,205.1  —  6.7  1,211.8 
Insurance and other receivables  762.4  0.3  0.1  762.8 
Derivative assets  35.9  —  —  35.9 
Debt securities  4,175.8  —  —  4,175.8 
Infrastructure debt  250.8  —  —  250.8 
Commercial real estate loans  200.8  —  —  200.8 
Cash and cash equivalents1  955.7  —  —  955.7 
Total  7,586.5  0.3  6.8  7,593.6 

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired
Past due 1 – 90 

days
Past due more 

than 90 days

Carrying value 
in the balance 

sheet

At 31 December 2020 £m £m £m £m

Reinsurance assets  1,129.1  —  0.1  1,129.2 

Insurance and other receivables  802.6  45.0  0.6  848.2 

Derivative assets  73.4  —  —  73.4 

Debt securities  4,207.0  —  —  4,207.0 

Infrastructure debt  264.5  —  —  264.5 

Commercial real estate loans  206.7  —  —  206.7 

Cash and cash equivalents1  1,220.1  —  —  1,220.1 

Total  7,903.4  45.0  0.7  7,949.1 

Note:

1. This represents money market funds with no notice period for withdrawal and cash at bank and in hand.

Within the analysis of debt securities above are bank debt securities at 31 December 2021 of £1,366.2 million (2020: 
£1,282.8 million) that can be further analysed as: secured £15.5 million (2020: £16.2 million); unsecured £1,193.7 million 
(2020: £1,125.2 million); and subordinated £157.0 million (2020: £141.4 million).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED

202 DIRECT LINE GROUP ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2021202 Direct Line Group Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued 



The tables below analyse the credit quality of debt securities that are neither past due nor impaired.

AAA AA+ to AA- A+ to A- BBB+ to BBB- BB+ and below Total

At 31 December 2021 £m £m £m £m £m £m

Corporate  58.5  334.7  1,913.3  1,439.4  352.2  4,098.1 
Supranational  14.0  —  —  —  —  14.0 
Local government  10.1  18.0  —  —  —  28.1 
Sovereign  5.9  29.7  —  —  —  35.6 
Total  88.5  382.4  1,913.3  1,439.4  352.2  4,175.8 

AAA AA+ to AA- A+ to A- BBB+ to BBB- BB+ and below Total

At 31 December 2020 £m £m £m £m £m £m

Corporate  68.1  400.9  1,842.3  1,447.1  366.5  4,124.9 

Supranational  21.3  —  —  —  —  21.3 

Local government  10.2  25.4  —  —  —  35.6 

Sovereign  10.1  15.1  —  —  —  25.2 

Total  109.7  441.4  1,842.3  1,447.1  366.5  4,207.0 

The tables below analyse the credit quality of financial and insurance assets that are neither past due nor impaired 
(excluding debt securities analysed above). The tables include reinsurance exposure, after provision. The Group's approach 
to reinsurance counterparty default risk is detailed on page 201.

AAA AA+ to AA- A+ to A- BBB+ to BBB- BB+ and below Not rated Total

At 31 December 2021 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Reinsurance assets  —  660.1  528.2  1.9  —  14.9  1,205.1 
Insurance and other 
receivables1  —  37.6  27.3  13.0  —  684.5  762.4 
Derivative assets  —  7.9  9.9  18.1  —  —  35.9 
Infrastructure debt  —  —  67.9  175.9  7.0  —  250.8 
Commercial estate loans  17.7  73.3  66.9  34.1  8.8  —  200.8 
Cash and cash equivalents2  792.9  26.2  133.0  3.6  —  —  955.7 
Total  810.6  805.1  833.2  246.6  15.8  699.4  3,410.7 

AAA AA+ to AA- A+ to A- BBB+ to BBB- BB+ and below Not rated Total

At 31 December 2020 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Reinsurance assets  —  766.9  359.7  1.9  —  0.6  1,129.1 

Insurance and other 
receivables1  —  17.3  40.2  16.4  —  728.7  802.6 

Derivative assets  —  8.5  64.9  —  —  —  73.4 

Infrastructure debt  —  —  71.7  192.8  —  —  264.5 

Commercial estate loans  1.2  44.7  117.8  32.3  10.7  —  206.7 

Cash and cash equivalents2  995.2  55.7  169.2  —  —  —  1,220.1 

Total  996.4  893.1  823.5  243.4  10.7  729.3  3,696.4 

Notes:

1. Includes receivables due from policyholders, agents, brokers and intermediaries which generally do not have a credit rating. 
2. This represents money market funds with no notice period for withdrawal and cash at bank and in hand.

3.3.4 Operational risk
This is the risk of loss due to inadequate or failed internal processes, people, systems, or from external events. Material 
sources of operational risk for the Group include:

Change risk
This is the risk of failing to manage the Group's business change portfolio resulting in conflicting priorities and failure to 
deliver strategic outcomes to time, cost or quality.

Technology and infrastructure risk
This is the risk that information or services are unavailable because of compromised, unstable or inadequately performing 
systems, all of which impact customers. 

Outsourcing risk
This is the risk of failing to implement a robust framework for the sourcing, appointment and ongoing contract 
management of third-party suppliers, outsourced service providers and intra-group relationships. This includes both 
domestic and offshore outsourcing activities.
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3. Risk management continued

3.3.4 Operational risk continued

Information security risk
This is the risk of loss or corruption to Group or customer data, intellectual property or failure of business-critical systems 
resulting in reputational damage, regulatory censure, supervision, fines and/or loss of competitive advantage. 

Partnership contractual obligations
This is the risk of contractual obligations not being delivered for business partners resulting in damaged reputation, the 
loss of contract at renewal, significant liability payments and/or the early termination of a partnership scheme.

The Group has in place agreed policies and standards to establish and monitor key controls relating to operational risk.

3.3.5 Liquidity risk
This is the risk of being unable to access cash from the sale of investments or other assets in order to settle financial 
obligations as they fall due. 

The measurement and management of the Group's liquidity risk is undertaken within the limits and other policy 
parameters of the Group's liquidity risk appetite and is detailed in the liquidity risk minimum standard. As part of this 
process the Investment and Treasury team are required to put in place a liquidity plan which must consider expected and 
stressed scenarios for cash inflows and outflows that is reviewed at least annually by the Investment Committee. 
Compliance is monitored in respect of both the minimum standard and the regulatory requirements of the PRA.

The following table analyses the carrying value of financial investments and cash and cash equivalents, by contractual 
maturity, which can fund the repayment of liabilities as they crystallise.

Within
1 year 1 – 3 years 3 – 5 years 5 – 10 years

Over
10 years Total

At 31 December 2021 £m £m £m £m £m £m

Debt securities  507.0  972.7  1,293.2  1,281.0  121.9  4,175.8 
Infrastructure debt  14.6  34.4  34.2  101.7  65.9  250.8 
Commercial real estate loans  87.0  54.0  59.8  —  —  200.8 
Cash and cash equivalents1  955.7  —  —  —  —  955.7 
Total  1,564.3  1,061.1  1,387.2  1,382.7  187.8  5,583.1 

Within
1 year 1 – 3 years 3 – 5 years 5 – 10 years

Over
10 years Total

At 31 December 2020 £m £m £m £m £m £m

Debt securities  407.7  1,053.8  1,133.6  1,492.8  119.1  4,207.0 

Infrastructure debt  14.0  31.4  34.9  98.1  86.1  264.5 

Commercial real estate loans  35.0  106.3  65.4  —  —  206.7 

Cash and cash equivalents1  1,220.1  —  —  —  —  1,220.1 

Total  1,676.8  1,191.5  1,233.9  1,590.9  205.2  5,898.3 

Note:

1. This represents money market funds with no notice period for withdrawal and cash at bank and in hand.

The following table analyses the undiscounted cash flows of insurance and financial liabilities by contractual repricing or 
maturity dates, whichever is earlier.

Less than 1 
year 1 – 3 years 3 – 5 years 5 – 10 years Over 10 years Total Carrying value

At 31 December 2021 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Subordinated liabilities  272.0  20.8  20.8  52.0  265.2  630.8  513.6 

Insurance liabilities1  1,182.2  995.1  480.1  385.8  1,549.1  4,592.3  3,680.5 

Borrowings  59.2  —  —  —  —  59.2  59.2 

Lease liabilities  11.2  17.9  14.6  31.7  32.8  108.2  84.2 

Provisions  95.8  0.5  0.1  —  —  96.4  96.4 
Trade and other payables, 
including insurance payables  450.6  6.4  0.3  —  —  457.3  457.3 

Total  2,071.0  1,040.7  515.9  469.5  1,847.1  5,944.2  4,891.2 
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Less than 1 
year 1 – 3 years 3 – 5 years 5 – 10 years Over 10 years Total Carrying value

At 31 December 2020 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Subordinated liabilities  33.5  282.4  20.8  52.0  280.8  669.5  516.6 

Insurance liabilities1  1,053.5  953.8  456.8  371.6  1,817.6  4,653.3  3,617.0 

Borrowings  51.9  —  —  —  —  51.9  51.9 

Lease liabilities  17.6  29.6  25.9  57.1  75.4  205.6  152.4 

Provisions  108.2  6.5  0.1  —  —  114.8  114.8 
Trade and other payables, 
including insurance payables  543.6  6.1  0.2  —  —  549.9  549.9 

Total  1,808.3  1,278.4  503.8  480.7  2,173.8  6,245.0  5,002.6 

Note:

1. Insurance liabilities exclude unearned premium reserves as there are no liquidity risks inherent in them.

The following table analyses the undiscounted cash flows of derivative financial instruments, by contractual maturity.

Within
1 year 1 – 3 years 3 – 5 years 5 – 10 years

Over
10 years Total

Carrying
value

At 31 December 2021 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Derivative assets  27.4  3.1  3.2  2.8  —  36.5  35.9 

Derivative liabilities  (19.4)  (0.1)  —  —  —  (19.5)  (19.5) 

Total  8.0  3.0  3.2  2.8  —  17.0  16.4 

Within
1 year 1 – 3 years 3 – 5 years 5 – 10 years

Over
10 years Total

Carrying
value

At 31 December 2020 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Derivative assets  69.2  2.3  0.1  1.9  —  73.5  73.4 

Derivative liabilities  (24.6)  (18.2)  (10.8)  (3.6)  (0.1)  (57.3)  (57.2) 

Total  44.6  (15.9)  (10.7)  (1.7)  (0.1)  16.2  16.2 

3.4 Capital management
At 31 December 2021, the Group's capital position was comprised of shareholders' equity of £2,550.2 million (31 December 
2020: £2,699.7 million) and Tier 1 notes of £346.5 million (31 December 2020: £346.5 million). In addition, the Group's 
balance sheet also included £513.6 million of subordinated loan capital (31 December 2020: £516.6 million) which is 
classified as Tier 2 for Solvency II purposes.

The Group manages capital in accordance with the Group's capital management minimum standard, the aims of which 
are to manage capital efficiently and generate long-term sustainable value for shareholders, while balancing operational, 
regulatory, credit rating agency and policyholder requirements. The Group seeks to hold capital resources such that, in 
normal circumstances, the solvency capital ratio is around the middle of the target range of 140% to 180%.

The Group's regulatory capital position is assessed against the Solvency II framework. From 1 July 2016, the Group gained 
approval to assess its SCR using a partial internal model, including a full internal economic capital model for the U K 
Insurance Limited underwriting entity. The model is calibrated to a 99.5% confidence interval and considers business 
written to date and one year of future written business over a one-year time horizon, in line with Solvency II requirements.

3.5 Capital adequacy (unaudited)
Using the Group's partial internal model, there is a capital surplus of approximately £1.03 billion above an estimated SCR of 
£1.35 billion as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: £1.22 billion and £1.34 billion respectively). The Group's capital 
requirements and solvency position are produced and presented to the Board on a regular basis.
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4. Segmental analysis

The Directors manage the Group primarily by product type and present the segmental analysis on that basis. The 
segments, which are all UK based, reflect the management structure whereby a member of the Executive Committee is 
accountable to the Chief Executive Officer for each of the operating segments:

Motor
This segment consists of personal motor insurance together with the associated legal protection cover. The Group sells 
motor insurance direct to customers through its own brands Direct Line, Churchill, Privilege and Darwin, and through 
partnership brands such as vehicle manufacturers and through price comparison websites ("PCWs").

Home
This segment consists of home insurance together with associated legal protection cover. The Group sells home insurance 
products through its brands Direct Line, Churchill and Privilege, and its partnership brands (Royal Bank of Scotland and 
NatWest), as well as through PCWs.

Rescue and other personal lines
This segment consists of rescue products which are sold direct through the Group's own brand, Green Flag, and other 
personal lines insurance, including travel, pet and creditor sold through its own brands Direct Line, Churchill and Privilege, 
and through partnership brands and through PCWs.

Commercial
This segment consists of commercial insurance for small and medium-sized enterprises sold through the Group's brands 
NIG, Direct Line for Business and Churchill. NIG sells its products exclusively through brokers operating across the UK. 
Direct Line for Business sells its products directly to customers, and Churchill sells its products directly to customers and 
through PCWs.

Restructuring and one-off costs
Restructuring costs are costs incurred in respect of those business activities which have a material effect on the nature and 
focus of the Group's operations. One-off costs are costs that are non-recurring in nature.

No inter-segment transactions occurred in the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: £nil). If any transaction were to occur, 
transfer prices between operating segments would be set on an arm's-length basis in a manner similar to transactions with 
third parties. Segment income, expenses and results will include those transfers between business segments which will 
then be eliminated on consolidation.

For each operating segment, there is no individual policyholder or customer that represents 10% or more of the Group's 
total revenue.
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The table below analyses the Group's revenue and results by reportable segment for the  year ended 31 December 2021.

Motor Home

Rescue 
and other

personal lines Commercial
Total

 Group

£m £m £m £m £m

Gross written premium  1,560.8  577.8  380.0  653.0  3,171.6 
Gross earned premium  1,597.8  579.8  372.5  617.9  3,168.0 
Reinsurance premium  (124.5)  (26.4)  (3.0)  (56.7)  (210.6) 
Net earned premium  1,473.3  553.4  369.5  561.2  2,957.4 
Investment return  99.8  12.5  3.7  30.3  146.3 
Instalment income  69.4  18.3  3.0  6.6  97.3 
Other operating income  33.9  1.0  9.7  2.1  46.7 
Total income  1,676.4  585.2  385.9  600.2  3,247.7 
Insurance claims  (1,086.8)  (287.7)  (177.2)  (363.6)  (1,915.3) 
Insurance claims recoverable from/(payable to) 
reinsurers  139.8  7.3  (8.1)  57.6  196.6 
Net insurance claims  (947.0)  (280.4)  (185.3)  (306.0)  (1,718.7) 
Commission expenses  (48.2)  (38.1)  (42.3)  (112.3)  (240.9) 
Operating expenses before restructuring and one-off 
costs  (366.4)  (124.9)  (93.5)  (121.5)  (706.3) 
Total expenses  (414.6)  (163.0)  (135.8)  (233.8)  (947.2) 
Operating profit  314.8  141.8  64.8  60.4  581.8 
Restructuring and one-off costs  (101.5) 
Finance costs  (34.3) 
Profit before tax  446.0 

Underwriting profit  111.7  110.0  48.4  21.4  291.5 
Loss ratio  64.3%  50.7%  50.2%  54.5%  58.1% 
Commission ratio  3.3%  6.9%  11.4%  20.0%  8.1% 
Expense ratio  24.8%  22.5%  25.3%  21.7%  23.9% 
Combined operating ratio  92.4%  80.1%  86.9%  96.2%  90.1% 

The table below analyses the Group's assets and liabilities by reportable segment at 31 December 2021.

Motor Home

Rescue 
and other

personal lines Commercial
Total

 Group

£m £m £m £m £m

Goodwill  130.4  45.8  28.7  10.1  215.0 
Assets held for sale  29.2  3.5  1.1  7.4  41.2 
Other segment assets  6,467.2  750.1  268.4  1,566.7  9,052.4 
Segment liabilities  (4,551.2)  (550.3)  (166.5)  (1,143.9)  (6,411.9) 
Segment net assets  2,075.6  249.1  131.7  440.3  2,896.7 

The segmental analysis of assets and liabilities is prepared using a combination of asset and liability balances directly 
attributable to each operating segment and an apportionment of assets and liabilities managed at a Group-wide level. This 
does not represent the Group's view of the capital requirements for its operating segments.
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4. Segmental analysis continued
The table below analyses the Group's revenue and results by reportable segment for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Motor Home

Rescue
and other

personal lines Commercial
Total

Group

£m £m £m £m £m

Gross written premium  1,616.9  577.9  417.8  567.8  3,180.4 

Gross earned premium  1,635.3  581.9  425.6  546.5  3,189.3 

Reinsurance premium  (150.5)  (26.1)  (2.7)  (49.5)  (228.8) 

Net earned premium  1,484.8  555.8  422.9  497.0  2,960.5 

Investment return  62.8  10.3  3.4  18.6  95.1 

Instalment income  80.1  19.2  3.0  7.0  109.3 

Other operating income  38.4  0.2  8.9  2.4  49.9 

Total income  1,666.1  585.5  438.2  525.0  3,214.8 

Insurance claims  (889.2)  (316.5)  (279.1)  (245.6)  (1,730.4) 

Insurance claims recoverable from/(payable to) 
reinsurers  1.1  7.4  18.0  (9.7)  16.8 

Net insurance claims  (888.1)  (309.1)  (261.1)  (255.3)  (1,713.6) 

Commission expenses  (47.4)  (45.0)  (69.4)  (92.9)  (254.7) 

Operating expenses before restructuring and one-off 
costs  (367.1)  (130.0)  (100.9)  (126.4)  (724.4) 

Total expenses  (414.5)  (175.0)  (170.3)  (219.3)  (979.1) 

Operating profit  363.5  101.4  6.8  50.4  522.1 

Restructuring and one-off costs  (39.4) 

Finance costs  (31.3) 

Profit before tax  451.4 

Underwriting profit/(loss)  182.2  71.7  (8.5)  22.4  267.8 

Loss ratio  59.8%  55.6%  61.7%  51.4%  57.9% 

Commission ratio  3.2%  8.1%  16.4%  18.7%  8.6% 

Expense ratio  24.7%  23.4%  23.9%  25.4%  24.5% 

Combined operating ratio  87.7%  87.1%  102.0%  95.5%  91.0% 

The table below analyses the Group's assets and liabilities by reportable segment at 31 December 2020.

Motor Home

Rescue
and other

personal lines Commercial Total

£m £m £m £m £m

Goodwill  129.6  45.8  28.7  10.1  214.2 

Other segment assets  6,874.0  765.5  304.2  1,464.4  9,408.1 

Segment liabilities  (4,771.6)  (558.7)  (196.2)  (1,049.6)  (6,576.1) 

Segment net assets  2,232.0  252.6  136.7  424.9  3,046.2 

The segmental analysis of assets and liabilities is prepared using a combination of asset and liability balances directly 
attributable to each operating segment and an apportionment of assets and liabilities managed at a Group-wide level. This 
does not represent the Group's view of the capital requirements for its operating segments.
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5. Net earned premium
2021 2020

£m £m

Gross earned premium:

Gross written premium  3,171.6  3,180.4 

Movement in unearned premium reserve  (3.6)  8.9 

 3,168.0  3,189.3 

Reinsurance premium paid and payable:

Premium payable  (186.4)  (231.0) 

Movement in reinsurance unearned premium reserve  (24.2)  2.2 

 (210.6)  (228.8) 

Total  2,957.4  2,960.5 

6. Investment return
2021 2020

£m £m

Investment income:

Interest income from:

Debt securities  90.9  98.6 

Cash and cash equivalents  0.2  2.5 

Infrastructure debt  4.4  5.8 

Commercial real estate loans  6.0  6.5 

Interest income  101.5  113.4 

Rental income from investment property  14.5  13.7 

 116.0  127.1 

Net realised gains/(losses):

AFS debt securities  7.9  1.1 

Derivatives  (5.2)  69.9 

Investment property (note 20)  0.2  — 

 2.9  71.0 

Net unrealised gains/(losses):

Impairment of loans and receivables  (2.1)  (2.7) 

Derivatives  (8.1)  (90.2) 

Investment property (note 20)  37.6  (10.1) 

 27.4  (103.0) 

Total  146.3  95.1 

The table below analyses the realised and unrealised gains and losses on derivative instruments included in investment 
return.

Realised Unrealised Realised Unrealised

2021 2021 2020 2020

£m £m £m £m

Derivative (losses)/gains:

Foreign exchange forward contracts1  39.9  (42.5)  57.4  (50.8) 

Associated foreign exchange risk  (22.8)  24.7  28.1  (45.7) 

Net gains/(losses) on foreign exchange forward contracts  17.1  (17.8)  85.5  (96.5) 

Interest rate swaps1  (26.3)  48.9  (26.2)  (23.0) 

Associated interest rate risk on hedged items  4.0  (39.2)  10.6  29.3 

Net (losses)/gains on interest rate derivatives  (22.3)  9.7  (15.6)  6.3 

Total  (5.2)  (8.1)  69.9  (90.2) 

Note:

1. All foreign exchange forward contracts and certain interest rate swaps are measured at fair value through the income statement. There are also interest rate 
swaps designated as hedging instruments.
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7. Other operating income
2021 2020

£m £m

Revenue from vehicle recovery and repair services  19.7  24.0 

Vehicle replacement referral income  13.1  12.2 

Legal services income  7.2  8.8 

Other income1  6.7  4.9 

Total  46.7  49.9 

Note:

1. Other income includes fee income from insurance intermediary services.

8. Net insurance claims
Gross Reinsurance Net Gross Reinsurance Net

2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Current accident year claims paid  1,058.6  (1.1)  1,057.5  1,056.4  (18.1)  1,038.3 

Prior accident year claims paid  793.2  (88.7)  704.5  876.6  (123.0)  753.6 

Movement in insurance liabilities  63.5  (106.8)  (43.3)  (202.6)  124.3  (78.3) 

Total  1,915.3  (196.6)  1,718.7  1,730.4  (16.8)  1,713.6 

Claims handling expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021 of £188.4 million (2020: £208.2 million) have been 
included in the claims figures above.

9. Commission expenses
2021 2020

£m £m

Commission expenses  201.2  180.9 

Expenses incurred under profit participations  39.7  73.8 

Total  240.9  254.7 

10. Operating expenses
2021 2020

£m £m

Staff costs1,2  268.8  270.3 

IT and other operating expenses1,2,3  157.0  220.2 

Marketing  112.0  106.6 

Insurance levies  89.0  80.4 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of intangible and ROU assets1,4  97.1  86.3 

Loss on termination of property lease1,5  83.9  — 

Total other operating expenses (including restructuring and one-off costs)  807.8  763.8 

Of which restructuring and one-off costs1,5  101.5  39.4 

Total excluding restructuring and one-off costs  706.3  724.4 

Notes:

1. Restructuring and one-off costs of £101.5 million (2020: £39.4 million) are included as follows: staff costs of £7.8 million (2020: £14.7 million), other operating 
expenses of £9.3 million (2020: £24.2 million), depreciation of £0.5 million (2020: £0.5 million) and loss on termination of property lease of £83.9 million (2020: 
£nil).

2. Staff costs and other operating expenses attributable to claims handling activities are allocated to the cost of insurance claims.
3. IT and other operating expenses include professional fees and property costs.
4. For the year ended 31 December 2021, depreciation and amortisation includes a £2.1 million impairment charge (2020: £6.6 million), which relates to 

capitalised software development costs for ongoing IT projects primarily relating to the development of new systems, and a £0.5 million impairment charge 
(2020: £nil), which relates to ROU property assets.

5. As part of the review of the Group's office site property strategy on 10 February 2021, U K Insurance Limited signed a contract in relation to its Bromley site to 
surrender the current lease and DL Insurance Services Limited signed a contract to purchase the head lease. The loss on terminating the lease was £83.9 million 
and the value of the fixed asset capitalised was £19.8 million.
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The table below analyses the number of people employed by the Group's operations.

At 31 December Average for the year

2021 2020 2021 2020

Insurance operations 6,976 8,022 7,502 8,010
Repair centre operations 1,408 1,441 1,432 1,454
Support 1,402 1,344 1,382 1,388

Total 9,786 10,807 10,316 10,852

The aggregate remuneration of those employed by the Group's operations comprised:

2021 2020

£m £m

Wages and salaries  392.8  393.5 

Social security costs  42.6  43.6 

Pension costs  26.1  26.2 

Share-based payments  18.4  18.5 

Total  479.9  481.8 

The table below analyses Auditor's remuneration in respect of the Group's operations.

2021 2020

£m £m

Fees payable for the audit of:

The Company's annual accounts  0.2  0.2 

The Company's subsidiaries  1.9  1.9 

Total audit fees  2.1  2.1 

Audit-related assurance services  0.2  0.2 

Non-audit services  0.3  0.6 

Total  2.6  2.9 

Aggregate Directors' emoluments
The table below analyses the total amount of Directors' remuneration in accordance with Schedule 5 to the Accounting 
Regulations.

2021 2020

£m £m

Salaries, fees, bonuses and benefits in kind  3.5  3.8 

Gains on exercise of share options  0.8  — 

Total  4.3  3.8 

Further information about the remuneration of individual Directors is provided in the Directors' Remuneration Report.

At 31 December 2021, no Directors (2020: no Directors) had retirement benefits accruing under the defined contribution 
pension scheme in respect of qualifying service. During the year ended 31 December 2021, two Directors exercised share 
options (2020: one Director).
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11. Finance costs
2021 2020

£m £m

Interest expense on subordinated liabilities1  33.6  29.1 

Net interest received on interest rate swap2  (5.3)  (4.1) 

Unrealised losses on interest rate swap²  5.8  1.9 

Unrealised gains on designated hedging instrument²  —  (1.2) 

Unrealised losses on associated interest rate risk on hedged item²  —  0.9 

Amortisation of arrangement costs, discount on issue and fair value hedging adjustment of 
subordinated liabilities  (3.0)  (1.3) 

Interest expense on lease liabilities  3.2  6.0 

Total  34.3  31.3 

Notes:

1. On 5 June 2020, the Group issued subordinated Tier 2 notes at a fixed rate of 4.0%. See note 34.
2. As described in note 34, on 27 April 2012 the Group issued subordinated guaranteed dated Tier 2 notes with a nominal value of £500 million at a fixed rate of 

9.25%. On the same date, the Group also entered into a 10-year interest rate swap to exchange the fixed rate of interest on the notes for a floating rate. This was 
treated as a designated hedging instrument. On 8 December 2017, the Group redeemed £250 million nominal value of the notes and the hedging agreement 
was redesignated accordingly. On 31 July 2020, the Group identified that the hedge no longer met the criteria of hedge effectiveness under IAS 39 and, under 
the rules of the standard, the accumulated hedging adjustment has begun to be amortised to the income statement from the date of the last successful hedge 
effectiveness test over the remaining life of the subordinated debt using an effective interest rate calculation.

12. Tax charge
2021 2020

£m £m

Current taxation:

Charge for the year  102.6  95.2 

Over-provision in respect of prior year  (8.3)  (0.5) 

 94.3  94.7 

Deferred taxation (note 13):

Credit for the year  (1.1)  (11.1) 

Under-provision in respect of prior year  9.1  0.6 

 8.0  (10.5) 

Current taxation  94.3  94.7 

Deferred taxation (note 13)  8.0  (10.5) 

Tax charge for the year  102.3  84.2 

The following table analyses the difference between the actual income tax charge and the expected income tax charge 
computed by applying the standard rate of corporation tax of 19.0%1 (2020: 19.0%).

2021 2020

£m £m

Profit before tax  446.0  451.4 

Expected tax charge  84.7  85.8 

Effects of:

Disallowable expenses  5.0  1.3 

Lease surrender  17.3  — 

Non-taxable items  (0.6)  — 

Effect of change in corporation taxation rate1  (1.7)  0.1 

Under provision in respect of prior year  0.8  0.1 

Revaluation of property  —  0.1 

Deductible Tier 1 notes coupon payment in equity  (3.2)  (3.2) 

Tax charge for the year  102.3  84.2 

Effective income tax rate  22.9%  18.7% 

Note:

1. In the Finance Act 2021 the UK Government enacted, on 10 June 2021, an increase in the UK corporation tax rate from 19% to 25% effective from 1 April 2023. 
As a consequence the closing deferred tax assets and liabilities have been recognised at the tax rates expected to apply when the temporary differences 
reverse. The impact of these changes on the tax charge for the year is set out in the table above.
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13. Current and deferred tax

The aggregate current and deferred tax relating to items that are credited to equity is £0.7 million (2020: £0.2 million).

The table below analyses the major deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group and movements thereon.

Provisions and 
other 

temporary 
differences

Retirement 
benefit 

obligations

Depreciation in 
excess of 

capital 
allowances

Non-
distributable 

reserve1
Share-based 

payments
AFS revaluation 

reserve Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 2020  4.3  (1.8)  4.0  (8.8)  2.1  (9.4)  (9.6) 
Credit/(charge) to the income 
statement  5.9  (0.3)  0.2  3.9  0.8  —  10.5 

Credit/(charge) to other 
comprehensive income  —  0.3  —  —  —  (10.1)  (9.8) 

Credit direct to equity  —  —  —  —  0.2  —  0.2 

At 31 December 2020  10.2  (1.8)  4.2  (4.9)  3.1  (19.5)  (8.7) 
(Charge)/credit to the income 
statement  (4.0)  (0.5)  (8.9)  4.9  0.5  —  (8.0) 
(Charge)/credit to other 
comprehensive income  —  (0.8)  —  —  —  17.1  16.3 
Charge direct to equity  —  —  —  —  (0.1)  —  (0.1) 
At 31 December 2021  6.2  (3.1)  (4.7)  —  3.5  (2.4)  (0.5) 

Note:

1. The non-distributable reserve was a statutory claims equalisation reserve calculated in accordance with the rules of the PRA. With the introduction of Solvency II 
on 1 January 2016, the requirement to maintain the claims equalisation reserve ceased and the balance at 31 December 2015 was released to retained 
earnings. The taxation of this release is spread over six years from the change in regulation. It is provided for in deferred tax above as it represents the future 
unwind of previously claimed tax deductions for transfers into the reserve.

In addition, the Group has an unrecognised deferred tax asset at 31 December 2021 of £12.8 million (2020: £5.0 million) in 
relation to capital losses of which £10.4 million (2020: £5.0 million) relates to realised losses and £2.4 million (2020: £nil) 
relates to unrealised losses.

14. Dividends and appropriations
2021 2020

£m £m

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the period:

2021 interim dividend of 7.6 pence per share paid on 3 September 2021  101.9  — 

2020 final dividend of 14.7 pence per share paid on 20 May 2021  198.9  — 

2020 interim dividend of 7.4 pence per share paid on 4 September 2020  —  100.4 

2020 special interim dividend of 14.4 pence per share paid on 4 September 2020  —  195.5 

 300.8  295.9 

Coupon payments in respect of Tier 1 notes1  16.6  16.6 

 317.4  312.5 

Proposed dividends:

2021 final dividend of 15.1 pence per share  199.4  — 

2020 final dividend of 14.7 pence per share  —  199.3 

Note:

1. Coupon payments on the Tier 1 notes issued in December 2017 are treated as an appropriation of retained profits and, accordingly, are accounted for when 
paid.

The proposed final dividends for 2021 have not been included as a liability in these financial statements.

On 7 March 2022, the Board approved a share buyback programme of up to £100 million to be completed during 2022.

On 8 March 2021, the Group announced that the Board had approved a share buyback programme of up to £100 million 
which was completed on 15 November 2021 in accordance with its terms.

The trustees of the employee share trusts waived their entitlement to dividends on shares held to meet obligations arising 
on the Long-Term Incentive Plan, Deferred Annual Incentive Plan and Restricted Share Plan awards, which reduced the 
total dividends paid for the year ended 31 December 2021 by £1.7 million (2020: £1.6 million).
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15. Earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated by dividing earnings attributable to the owners of the Company less coupon payments in 
respect of Tier 1 notes by the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares during the year.

Basic
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to the owners of the Company less coupon 
payments in respect of Tier 1 notes by the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares during the period, excluding 
Ordinary Shares held as employee trust shares.

Diluted
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to the owners of the Company less coupon 
payments in respect of Tier 1 notes by the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares during the period, excluding 
Ordinary Shares held as employee trust shares, adjusted for the dilutive potential Ordinary Shares. The Company has share 
options and contingently issuable shares as categories of dilutive potential Ordinary Shares.

2021 2020

£m £m

Earnings attributable to owners of the Company  343.7  367.2 

Coupon payments in respect of Tier 1 notes  (16.6)  (16.6) 

Profit for the calculation of earnings per share  327.1  350.6 
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares (millions)  1,335.8  1,356.5 

Effect of dilutive potential of share options and contingently issuable shares (millions)  20.8  18.6 

Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares for the purpose of diluted earnings per share 
(millions)  1,356.6  1,375.1 

Basic earnings per share (pence)  24.5  25.8 

Diluted earnings per share (pence)  24.1  25.5 

On 8 March 2021, the Group announced that the Board had approved a share buyback programme of up to £100 million, 
which was completed on 15 November 2021 in accordance with its terms. Across the programme, the Group repurchased 
and cancelled 33,838,593 ordinary shares for an aggregate consideration of £101,043,742 (including related transaction 
costs).

16. Net asset value per share and return on equity
Net asset value per share is calculated as total shareholders' equity (which excludes Tier 1 notes) divided by the number of 
Ordinary Shares at the end of the period excluding shares held by employee share trusts.

Tangible net asset value per share is calculated as total shareholders' equity less goodwill and other intangible assets 
divided by the number of Ordinary Shares at the end of the period, excluding shares held by employee share trusts.

The table below analyses net asset and tangible net asset value per share.

2021 2020

£m £m

Net assets  2,550.2  2,699.7 

Goodwill and other intangible assets1  (822.5)  (786.8) 

Tangible net assets  1,727.7  1,912.9 

Number of Ordinary Shares (millions)  1,330.7  1,364.6 

Shares held by employee trusts (millions)  (13.4)  (12.8) 

Closing number of Ordinary Shares (millions)  1,317.3  1,351.8 

Net asset value per share (pence)  193.6  199.7 

Tangible net asset value per share (pence)  131.2  141.5 

Note:

1. Goodwill has arisen on acquisition by the Group of subsidiary companies and on acquisition of new accident repair centres. Intangible assets primarily comprise 
software development costs.
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Return on equity
The table below details the calculation of return on equity.

2021 2020

£m £m

Earnings attributable to owners of the Company  343.7  367.2 

Coupon payments in respect of Tier 1 notes  (16.6)  (16.6) 

Profit for the calculation of return on equity  327.1  350.6 

Opening shareholders' equity  2,699.7  2,643.6 

Closing shareholders' equity  2,550.2  2,699.7 

Average shareholders' equity  2,625.0  2,671.7 

Return on equity  12.5%  13.1% 

17. Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill

Other 
intangible 

assets Total

£m £m £m

Cost
At 1 January 2020  214.2  944.8  1,159.0 

Acquisitions and additions  —  140.7  140.7 

At 31 December 2020  214.2  1,085.5  1,299.7 

Acquisitions and additions  0.8  108.6  109.4 
Disposals and write-off1  —  (12.0)  (12.0) 
At 31 December 2021  215.0  1,182.1  1,397.1 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2020  —  456.5  456.5 

Amortisation charge for the year  —  49.8  49.8 

Impairment losses2  —  6.6  6.6 

At 31 December 2020  —  512.9  512.9 

Amortisation charge for the year  —  71.6  71.6 
Disposals and write-off1  —  (12.0)  (12.0) 
Impairment losses2  —  2.1  2.1 
At 31 December 2021  —  574.6  574.6 

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2021  215.0  607.5  822.5 
At 31 December 2020  214.2  572.6  786.8 

Notes:

1. Disposals and write-off include fully amortised intangible assets no longer utilised by the Group in its operating activities.
2. Impairment losses relate to capitalised software development costs for ongoing IT projects primarily relating to development of new systems.

Included within other intangible assets are assets still in development of £72.8 million (2020: £370.7 million). The reduction 
of £297.9 million is primarily due to the launch of the Group's Motor platform in H1 2021. The assets still in development at 
31 December 2021 relate mainly to finance and core technology projects which are expected to be ready for use in 2022. 
These assets are tested for impairment during the Group's annual impairment review at each reporting date.

Other intangible assets relate mainly to internally generated software. For year ended 31 December 2021 other intangible 
assets additions, which are internally generated, are £105.9 million (2020: £140.7 million).

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of U K Insurance Limited (£141.0 million), Churchill Insurance Company Limited (£70.0 
million) and accident repair networks (£4.0 million) and is allocated to reportable segments. The addition to goodwill in 
the year ended 31 December 2021 of £0.8 million arose from the purchase of the business and assets of a vehicle repair 
workshop on 21 February 2021. The acquisition is to further expand the Group's wholly owned DLG Auto Services network.
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17. Goodwill and other intangible assets continued
The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquisition are presented in the table below.

Fair value 
recognised on 

acquisition

£m

ROU assets  1.1 
Property, plant and equipment  0.1 
Lease liabilities  (1.1) 
Goodwill  0.8 
Total consideration paid in cash  0.9 

Goodwill represents the value attributed to the business by the Group as part of its ongoing strategy of developing its 
repair network. The Group measured the acquired lease liabilities and matching ROU asset using the present value of the 
remaining lease payments at the date of acquisition. No disclosure has been made for revenue and profit before tax 
generated as the Group does not manage its business at this level.

The Group's testing for impairment of goodwill and intangible assets includes the comparison of the recoverable amount 
of each CGU to which goodwill and other intangible assets have been allocated with its carrying value and is updated at 
each reporting date and whenever there are indications of impairment.

The table below analyses the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each CGU.

2021 2020

£m £m

Motor  130.4  129.6 

Home  45.8  45.8 

Rescue and other personal lines  28.7  28.7 

Commercial  10.1  10.1 

Total  215.0  214.2 

There is no goodwill impairment for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: £nil).

The recoverable amount is the higher of the CGU fair value less the costs to sell and its value-in-use. Value-in-use is the 
present value of expected future cash flows from the CGU. Fair value is the estimated amount that could be obtained from 
the sale of the CGU in an arm's-length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties.

The recoverable amounts of all CGUs were based on the value-in-use test, using the Group's Strategic Plan. The long-term 
growth rates have been based on gross domestic product rates adjusted for inflation. The risk discount rates incorporate 
observable market long-term government bond yields and average industry betas adjusted for an appropriate risk 
premium based on independent analysis.

The table below details the recoverable amounts in excess of carrying value for the CGUs where goodwill and other 
intangible assets are held. Sensitivity information is included to enhance user understanding of the influence of key 
assumptions. Following the annual impairment review, no reasonable possible change in these key assumptions would 
have resulted in an impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets.

Assumptions Sensitivity: impact on recoverable amount of a:

CGU

Terminal 
growth rate

Pre-tax 
discount rate

Recoverable 
amount in 

excess of 
carrying value

1% decrease in 
terminal 

growth rate

1% increase in 
pre-tax 

discount rate

1% decrease in 
forecast pre-

tax profit¹

% % £m £m £m £m

Motor 1.5 11.3 1,754.8  (259.1)  (370.5)  (377.9) 

Home 1.5 11.3 754.7  (68.3)  (97.9)  (100.8) 

Rescue and other personal lines 1.5 11.3 629.1  (55.9)  (79.7)  (80.3) 

Commercial 1.5 11.3 397.0  (52.9)  (76.0)  (79.7) 

Note:

1. Reflects a 1% decrease in the profit for each year of the Group's Strategic Plan, which is five years.
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18. Property, plant and equipment
Land and 
buildings

Other 
equipment Total

£m £m £m

Cost
At 1 January 2020  79.8  189.2  269.0 

Additions  —  20.1  20.1 

Disposals  —  (13.4)  (13.4) 

At 31 December 2020  79.8  195.9  275.7 

Additions  19.8  9.5  29.3 
Disposals  —  (7.4)  (7.4) 
Assets held for sale  (42.9)  (12.7)  (55.6) 
At 31 December 2021  56.7  185.3  242.0 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2020  6.4  119.2  125.6 

Depreciation charge for the year  1.1  14.0  15.1 

Disposals  —  (11.1)  (11.1) 

At 31 December 2020  7.5  122.1  129.6 

Depreciation charge for the year  1.2  10.9  12.1 
Disposals  —  (5.1)  (5.1) 
Assets held for sale  (4.3)  (4.1)  (8.4) 
At 31 December 2021  4.4  123.8  128.2 

Carrying amount
 At 31 December 2021  52.3  61.5  113.8 
 At 31 December 2020  72.3  73.8  146.1 

The Group is satisfied that the aggregate fair value of property, plant and equipment is not less than its carrying value.
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19. Right-of-use assets
Property Motor vehicles IT equipment Total

£m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 January 2020  209.9  14.0  1.2  225.1 

Additions  4.2  1.8  —  6.0 

Modifications1  (16.1)  —  —  (16.1) 

Disposals  (2.6)  (3.2)  —  (5.8) 

At 31 December 2020  195.4  12.6  1.2  209.2 

Additions  4.5  1.2  —  5.7 
Modifications  27.8  —  —  27.8 
Disposals  (111.1)  (2.9)  —  (114.0) 
At 31 December 2021  116.6  10.9  1.2  128.7 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
 At 1 January 2020  68.7  6.7  0.5  75.9 

Depreciation charge for the year  11.0  3.6  0.2  14.8 

Modifications1  (13.5)  —  —  (13.5) 

Disposals  (2.6)  (3.2)  —  (5.8) 

At 31 December 2020  63.6  7.1  0.7  71.4 

Depreciation charge for the year  7.3  3.2  0.3  10.8 
Disposals  (27.2)  (2.9)  —  (30.1) 
Impairment losses  0.5  —  —  0.5 
At 31 December 2021  44.2  7.4  1.0  52.6 

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2021  72.4  3.5  0.2  76.1 
At 31 December 2020  131.8  5.5  0.5  137.8 

Note:

1. Modifications were previously reported in disposals. Comparative data for the year ended 31 December 2020 has been re-presented accordingly. 
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20. Investment property

Retail
Retail 

Warehouse Supermarkets Office Industrials Hotels
Alternative 

sector Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 
2021  31.5  19.9  52.0  10.0  105.3  55.5  17.9  292.1 
Fair value 
adjustments  (1.5)  2.7  4.9  (0.4)  28.9  2.9  0.3  37.8 
Disposals  —  —  —  (9.6)  —  —  —  (9.6) 
Transferred to 
assets held for 
sale (note 30)  (3.4)  —  —  —  —  —  —  (3.4) 
Capitalised 
expenditure  —  0.1  —  —  —  —  —  0.1 
At 31 December 
2021¹  26.6  22.7  56.9  —  134.2  58.4  18.2  317.0 

Retail
Retail 

Warehouse Supermarkets Office Industrials Hotels
Alternative 

sector Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 
2020  37.6  24.3  49.7  12.9  88.0  59.4  19.8  291.7 

Acquisitions at 
cost  —  —  —  —  10.5  —  —  10.5 

Fair value 
adjustments  (6.1)  (4.4)  2.3  (2.9)  6.8  (3.9)  (1.9)  (10.1) 

At 31 December 
2020¹  31.5  19.9  52.0  10.0  105.3  55.5  17.9  292.1 

Note:

1. The cost included in the carrying value at 31 December 2021 is £215.8 million (2020: £233.4 million).

The investment properties are measured at fair value derived from valuation work carried out at the balance sheet date by 
independent property valuers.

The valuation conforms to international valuation standards. The fair value was determined using a methodology based on 
recent market transactions for similar properties, which have been adjusted for the specific characteristics of each property 
within the portfolio. This approach to valuation is consistent with the methodology used in the year ended 31 December 
2020.

Lease agreements with tenants are drawn up in line with local practice and the Group has no exposure to leases that 
include contingent rents.

The following table provides a sensitivity analysis for +/- 5 basis points and +/- 50 basis points movement in tenants' rental 
income and impact on property valuation in sterling.

-50bp -5bp

Baseline as at 
31 December 

2021 +5bp +50bp

Equivalent yield %  3.749  3.749  4.549  3.749  4.904 

Value £m  236.6  308.6  317.0  325.1  399.9 

21. Subsidiaries
The principal subsidiary undertakings of the Group, over which it exercises 100% voting power, are shown below. Their 
capital consists of Ordinary Shares which are unlisted. All subsidiaries (a full list of which is included in note 2 of the Parent 
Company's financial statements) are included in the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Name of subsidiary

Company
registration
number

Place of incorporation
and operation Principal activity

DL Insurance Services Limited 03001989 United Kingdom Management services

U K Insurance Limited 01179980 United Kingdom General insurance

The Group did not acquire or dispose of any subsidiaries in the year ended 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: one 
acquisition).

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, Brolly UK Technology Limited was exempt from the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 relating to the audit of individual accounts by virtue of section 479 A(2)(d).
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22. Reinsurance assets
2021 2020

£m £m

Reinsurers' share of general insurance liabilities  1,169.6  1,071.6 

Impairment provision1  (37.5)  (46.3) 

Total excluding reinsurers' unearned premium reserves (note 35)  1,132.1  1,025.3 

Reinsurers' unearned premium reserve (note 36)  79.7  103.9 

Total  1,211.8  1,129.2 

Note:

1. Impairment provision relates to reinsurance debtors, allowing for the risk that reinsurance assets may not be collected, or where one or more reinsurers' credit 
rating has been significantly downgraded and it may have difficulty in meeting its obligations.

Movements in reinsurance asset impairment provision
2021 2020

£m £m

At 1 January  (46.3)  (40.5) 

Additional provision  (3.2)  (13.7) 

Released to income statement  12.0  7.9 

At 31 December  (37.5)  (46.3) 

23. Deferred acquisition costs

2021 2020

£m £m

At 1 January  172.2  176.2 

Additions  400.7  361.6 

Recognised in the income statement  (386.3)  (365.6) 

At 31 December  186.6  172.2 

24. Insurance and other receivables
2021 2020

£m £m

Receivables arising from insurance contracts:

Due from policyholders1  609.2  655.8 

Impairment provision of policyholder receivables  (1.7)  (2.2) 

Due from agents, brokers and intermediaries1  81.3  94.8 

Impairment provision of agent, broker and intermediary receivables  (0.1)  (0.3) 

Amounts due from reinsurers  41.0  51.8 

Other debtors  33.1  48.3 

Total  762.8  848.2 

Note:

1. For the year ended 31 December 2020, there has been no net impact to the total of insurance and other receivables of £848.2 million. Following an exercise to 
re-present certain debtor balances, the comparatives for receivables due from policyholders and due from agents, brokers and intermediaries have been re-
presented by £41.2 million (2020 as originally reported: receivables due from policy holders £614.6 million; receivables due from agents, brokers and 
intermediaries: £136.0 million).

Movement in impairment provisions during the year

Policyholders

Agents, 
brokers and 

intermediaries Total

£m £m £m

At 1 January 2021  2.2  0.3  2.5 
Additional provision  3.6  0.2  3.8 
Released to income statement  (4.1)  (0.4)  (4.5) 
At 31 December 2021  1.7  0.1  1.8 
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25. Prepayments, accrued income and other assets
2021 2020

£m £m

Prepayments  89.1  95.1 

Accrued income and other assets  36.0  30.9 

Total  125.1  126.0 

26. Derivative financial instruments
2021 2020

£m £m

Derivative assets
At fair value through the income statement:
Foreign exchange contracts (forwards)  27.8  63.5 

Interest rate swaps  2.4  8.2 

Designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign exchange contracts (forwards)1  —  0.1 

Interest rate swaps  5.7  1.6 

Total  35.9  73.4 

Derivative liabilities
At fair value through the income statement:
Foreign exchange contracts (forwards)  19.1  12.3 

Designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign exchange contracts (forwards)1  0.2  — 

Interest rate swaps  0.2  44.9 

Total  19.5  57.2 

Note:

1. Foreign exchange contracts (forwards) are designated as cash flow hedges in relation to supplier payments.

27. Retirement benefit obligations

Defined contribution scheme
The pension charge in respect of the defined contribution scheme for the year ended 31 December 2021 was £26.1 million 
(2020: £26.2 million).

Defined benefit scheme
The Group's defined benefit pension scheme was closed in 2003, although the Group remains the sponsoring employer for 
obligations to current and deferred pensioners based on qualifying years' service and final salaries. The defined benefit 
scheme is legally separated from the Group with a trustee who is required by law to act in the interests of the scheme and 
of all the relevant stakeholders. The trustee of the pension scheme is responsible for the investment policy with regard to 
the assets of the scheme. 

The trustee invests the scheme's assets in an appropriate mix of return-seeking assets and liability-matching assets to 
better match the assets to future pension obligations. The main risks impacting funding levels are interest rates, changes in 
inflation expectations and the performance of the dynamic bond fund. The split of scheme assets is shown below. The 
matching assets are invested in liability-driven investment strategies, primarily UK gilts and index-linked gilt funds, but also 
including some leveraged gilt funds and interest rate and inflation swap funds. These are used to reduce the scheme’s 
inflation and duration risks against its liabilities.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligations at 31 December 2021 is 20 years (2020: 20 years) using 
accounting assumptions.

The table below sets out the principal assumptions used in determining the defined benefit scheme obligations.

2021 2020

% %

Rate of increase in pension payment 2.6 2.2

Rate of increase in deferred pensions 2.6 2.2

Discount rate 2.0 1.4

Inflation rate 3.3 2.9

No assumption has been made for salary growth as there are no obligations in the scheme that are linked to future 
increases in salaries.
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27. Retirement benefit obligations continued

Post-retirement mortality assumptions
2021 2020

Life expectancy at age 60 now:

Males  87.5  87.5 

Females  89.4  89.3 

Life expectancy at age 60 in 20 years' time:

Males  89.3  89.3 

Females  91.2  91.1 

The table below analyses the fair value of the scheme assets by type of asset.

2021 2020

£m £m

Index-linked bonds  32.3  30.0 

Government bonds  27.9  33.6 

Liquidity fund1  0.5  1.5 

Dynamic bond fund2  41.6  42.3 

Defined contribution section funds3  5.4  — 

Other  0.5  0.3 

Total  108.2  107.7 

Notes:

1. The liquidity fund is an investment in an open-ended fund incorporated in the Republic of Ireland which targets capital stability and income in the UK. It is 
invested in short-term fixed income and variable rate securities (such as treasury bills) listed or traded on one or more recognised exchanges.

2. The dynamic bond fund targets positive returns on a three-year rolling basis. It is invested to maximise the total return from a globally diversified portfolio, 
predominantly comprising high-yielding corporate and government bonds.

3. The defined contribution section funds relate to members in that section who have a defined benefit underpin that exceeds the value of the defined 
contribution funds. The investments are largely in a diversified growth fund. The corresponding liability is included in the defined benefit scheme obligation (see 
the movement in net pension surplus table on page 223).

The majority of debt instruments held directly or through the liquidity fund have quoted prices in active markets.
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Movement in net pension surplus

Fair value of 
defined benefit 
scheme assets

Present value of 
defined benefit 

scheme 
obligations

Net pension 
surplus

£m £m £m

At 1 January 2020  100.0  (90.3)  9.7 

Income statement:

Net interest income/(cost)1  1.9  (1.8)  0.1 

Administration costs  (0.4)  —  (0.4) 

Statement of comprehensive income:

Remeasurement losses
Return on plan assets excluding amounts included in the net interest on the 
defined benefit asset  9.0  —  9.0 

Actuarial losses of defined benefit scheme

Experience gains  —  2.4  2.4 

Losses from change in demographic assumptions  —  (1.7)  (1.7) 

Losses from change in financial assumptions  —  (10.1)  (10.1) 

Benefits paid  (2.8)  2.8  — 

At 31 December 2020  107.7  (98.7)  9.0 

Income statement:

Net interest income/(cost)1  1.5  (1.4)  0.1 
Administration costs  (0.8)  —  (0.8) 

Statement of comprehensive income:

Remeasurement gains
Return on plan assets excluding amounts included in the net interest on the 
defined benefit asset  2.2  —  2.2 
Actuarial gains of defined benefit scheme

Experience losses  —  (5.8)  (5.8) 
Gains from change in demographic assumptions  —  0.2  0.2 
Gains from change in financial assumptions  —  7.2  7.2 

Benefits paid  (2.4)  2.4  — 
At 31 December 2021  108.2  (96.1)  12.1 

Note:

1. The net interest income/(cost) in the income statement has been included under other operating expenses.

The table below details the history of the scheme for the current and prior years.

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

£m £m £m £m £m

Present value of defined benefit scheme obligations  (96.1)  (98.7)  (90.3)  (78.6)  (87.3) 

Fair value of defined benefit scheme assets  108.2  107.7  100.0  95.6  101.7 

Net pension surplus  12.1  9.0  9.7  17.0  14.4 

Experience (losses)/gains on scheme liabilities  (5.8)  2.4  0.4  —  1.5 

Return on plan assets excluding amounts included in 
the net interest on the defined benefit asset  2.2  9.0  4.4  (3.5)  1.0 
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27. Retirement benefit obligations continued

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis has been calculated by valuing the pension scheme liabilities using the amended assumptions 
shown in the table below and keeping the remaining assumptions the same as disclosed in the table above, except in the 
case of the inflation sensitivity where other assumptions that depend on assumed inflation have also been amended 
correspondingly. The pension cost has been determined allowing for the estimated impact on the scheme's assets. The 
sensitivity to discount rates is based on movements in credit spreads, rather than gilt yields, which are hedged in the 
scheme's assets. The selection of these movements to illustrate the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to key 
assumptions should be viewed as illustrative, rather than providing a view on the likely size of any change.

Impact on pension cost

Impact on present value
of defined benefit

scheme obligations

2021 2020 2021 2020

£m £m £m £m

Discount rate
0.25% increase in discount rate  —  (0.1)  (4.8)  (4.9) 

0.25% decrease in discount rate  0.2  0.1  4.8  4.9 

Inflation rate
0.25% increase in inflation rate  —  —  2.4  2.5 

0.25% decrease in inflation rate  —  —  (2.4)  (2.5) 

Life expectancy
1-year increase in life expectancy  0.1  0.1  3.0  3.6 

1-year decrease in life expectancy  (0.1)  (0.1)  (3.0)  (3.6) 

The most recent funding valuation of the Group's defined benefit scheme was carried out as at 1 October 2020. This 
showed an excess of assets over liabilities. The Group agreed with the trustee to make contributions of up to £1.5 million 
per annum in 2022, 2023 and 2024, in the event that a deficit subsequently emerges on the anniversary of the funding 
valuation date.

At the date of signing these financial statements, no contributions are expected to be payable in 2022 (2021: £nil).

28. Financial investments
2021 2020

£m £m

AFS debt securities
Corporate  4,006.9  4,021.0 

Supranational  14.0  21.3 

Local government  28.1  35.6 

Sovereign  35.6  25.2 

Total  4,084.6  4,103.1 

HTM debt securities
Corporate  91.2  103.9 

Total debt securities  4,175.8  4,207.0 

Total debt securities
Fixed interest rate1  4,158.3  4,184.5 

Floating interest rate  17.5  22.5 

Total  4,175.8  4,207.0 

Loans and receivables
Infrastructure debt  250.8  264.5 

Commercial real estate loans  200.8  206.7 

Total loans and receivables  451.6  471.2 

Equity investments2  6.2  3.2 

Total  4,633.6  4,681.4 

Notes: 

1. The Group swaps a fixed interest rate for a floating rate of interest on its US dollar and Euro corporate debt securities by entering into interest rate derivatives. 
The hedged amount at 31 December 2021 was £1,005.6 million (2020: £971.1 million).

2. An insurtech-focused equity fund which is valued based on external valuation reports received from a third-party fund manager.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED

                                                                                                                                                                                                             

224 DIRECT LINE GROUP ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2021224 Direct Line Group Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued 



29. Cash and cash equivalents and borrowings
2021 2020

£m £m

Cash at bank and in hand  162.8  224.9 

Short term deposits with credit institutions1  792.9  995.2 

Cash and cash equivalents  955.7  1,220.1 

Bank overdrafts2  (59.2)  (51.9) 

Cash and bank overdrafts3  896.5  1,168.2 

Notes:

1. This represents money market funds.
2. Bank overdrafts represent short-term timing differences between transactions posted in the records of the Group and transactions flowing through the 

accounts at the bank.
3. Cash and bank overdrafts total is included for the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement.

The effective interest rate on short-term deposits with credit institutions for the year ended 31 December 2021 was 0.16% 
(2020: 0.25%) and average maturity was 10 days (2020: 10 days).

30. Assets held for sale
2021 2020

£m £m

Property, plant and equipment  36.8  — 

Investment property  4.4  — 

Total assets held for sale  41.2  — 

The Group is able to reduce the number of head office sites it needs by changing the way it uses its premises so that they 
support collaboration, training and teamwork rather than being an everyday place of work for most people.

Assets held for sale at 31 December 2021 relate to head office sites in Birmingham, Ipswich and Leeds (including retail 
space within the Leeds property) that is no longer required. 

A net impairment loss of £9.4 million is included within operating expenses (as part of restructuring and one-off costs) for 
the write down of the carrying value of these three properties to their held for sale values.

31. Share capital
Issued and fully paid: equity shares 2021 2020

Number of 
shares Share capital

Transfer to 
capital 

redemption 
reserve

Number of 
shares Share capital

Transfer to 
capital 

redemption 
reserve

Ordinary Shares of 10 10/11 pence each1 millions £m £m millions £m £m

At 1 January  1,364.6  148.9  1.1  1,375.0  150.0  — 

Shares cancelled following buyback2,3  (33.9)  (3.7)  3.7  (10.4)  (1.1)  1.1 

At 31 December  1,330.7  145.2  4.8  1,364.6  148.9  1.1 

Notes:

1. The shares have full voting dividend and capital distribution rights (including on wind-up) attached to them; these do not confer any rights of redemption.
2. On 8 March 2021, the Group announced that the Board had approved a share buyback programme of up to £100 million, which was completed on 15 

November 2021 in accordance with its terms. Across the programme, the Group repurchased and cancelled 33,838,593 ordinary shares for an aggregate 
consideration of £101,043,742 (including related transaction costs) as reflected in retained earnings. The shares have subsequently been cancelled giving rise to 
a capital redemption reserve of an equivalent amount as required by the Companies Act 2006.

3. On 3 March 2020, the Group announced a share buyback of Ordinary Shares for an aggregate purchase price of £150 million. On 19 March 2020, the buyback 
programme was cancelled, given the uncertainty in the capital markets at the time driven by the rapidly emerging Covid-19 pandemic. At the time of 
cancellation, the Group had repurchased 10,448,395 Ordinary Shares for an aggregate consideration of £30,014,567 (including transaction costs) as reflected in 
retained earnings. The shares were subsequently cancelled giving rise to a capital redemption reserve of an equivalent amount as required by the Companies 
Act 2006.

Employee trust shares
The Group satisfies share-based payments under the Group's share plans primarily through shares purchased in the market 
and held by employee share trusts.

At 31 December 2021, 13,442,422 Ordinary Shares (2020: 12,753,755 Ordinary Shares) were owned by the employee share 
trusts at a cost of £41.4 million (2020: £40.3 million). These Ordinary Shares are carried at cost and at 31 December 2021 
had a market value of £37.5 million (2020: £40.7 million).
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32. Other reserves

Movements in the AFS investments revaluation reserve
2021 2020

£m £m

At 1 January  83.9  47.5 

Revaluation during the year – gross  (84.1)  47.4 

Revaluation during the year – tax  15.1  (10.1) 

Net gains transferred to income statement on disposals – gross  (7.9)  (1.1) 

Net gains transferred to income statement on disposals – tax  2.0  0.2 

At 31 December  9.0  83.9 

Capital reserves
2021 2020

£m £m

Capital contribution reserve1  100.0  100.0 

Capital redemption reserve2  1,354.8  1,351.1 

Total  1,454.8  1,451.1 

Notes:

1. Arose on the cancellation of a debt payable to a shareholder.
2. £1,350.0 million arose on the reduction of nominal value of each share in issue with a corresponding transfer to capital redemption reserve. Further additions of 

£3.7 million in 2021 and £1.1 million in 2020 were made when shares repurchased through buyback were cancelled.

33. Tier 1 notes
2021 2020

£m £m

Tier 1 notes  346.5  346.5 

On 7 December 2017, the Group issued £350 million of fixed rate perpetual Tier 1 notes with a coupon rate of 4.75% per 
annum.

The Group has an optional redemption date of 7 December 2027. If the notes are not repaid on that date, a fixed rate of 
interest per annum will be reset. The notes are direct, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the issuer ranking pari 
passu and without any preference amongst themselves.

The Tier 1 notes are treated as a separate category within equity and the coupon payments are recognised outside of the 
profit after tax result and directly in shareholders' equity.

The Group has the option to cancel the coupon payment. Cancellation becomes mandatory if: the Solvency condition1 is 
not met at the time of, or following, coupon payment; there is non-compliance with the SCR or the minimum capital 
requirement; the Group has insufficient distributable reserves; or the relevant regulator requires the coupon payment to be 
cancelled.

Note:

1. All payments shall be conditional upon the Group being solvent at the time of payment and immediately after payment. The Issuer will be solvent if (i) it is able 
to pay its debts owed to senior creditors as they fall due and (ii) its assets exceed its liabilities.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED

226 DIRECT LINE GROUP ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2021226 Direct Line Group Annual Report and Accounts 2021

Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued 



 34. Subordinated liabilities
2021 2020

£m £m

£250 million 9.25% subordinated Tier 2 notes due 2042  255.2  258.5 

£260 million 4.0% subordinated Tier 2 notes due 2032  258.4  258.1 

Subordinated Tier 2 notes  513.6  516.6 

The 2032 and 2042 notes are unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Group and rank pari passu and without any 
preference among themselves. In the event of a winding-up or of bankruptcy they are to be repaid only after the claims of 
all other senior creditors have been met and will rank at least pari passu with the claims of holders of other Tier 2 capital.

£250 million 9.25% subordinated Tier 2 notes due 2042
Subordinated guaranteed dated notes with a nominal value of £500 million were issued on 27 April 2012 at a fixed rate of 
9.25%. On the same date, the Group also entered into a 10-year interest rate swap to exchange the fixed rate of interest for 
a floating rate of 3-month LIBOR plus a spread of 706 basis points which was credit value adjusted to 707 basis points with 
effect from 29 July 2013. This was treated as a designated hedging instrument.

On 8 December 2017, the Group repurchased £250 million nominal value of the subordinated guaranteed dated notes for 
a purchase price of £330.1 million including accrued interest of £2.7 million and associated transaction costs of £0.6 
million. The designated hedging agreement was adjusted accordingly.

The remaining notes, with a nominal value of £250 million, have a redemption date of 27 April 2042 with the option to 
repay the notes on 27 April 2022. If the notes are not repaid on that date, the terms of the notes provide that the rate of 
interest will be reset at a rate of 6-month LIBOR plus 7.91%. If LIBOR has been discontinued by this time, the terms of the 
notes provide for an ultimate fall-back rate of interest of 9.25% for subsequent interest periods. The terms of the notes do 
not automatically provide for the transition of LIBOR to SONIA, which would require a separate agreement between the 
Group and the noteholders.

The Group has the option, in certain circumstances, to defer interest payments on the notes but to date has not exercised 
this right.

During 2020, the Group identified that the hedge no longer met the criteria of hedge effectiveness under IAS 39 'Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement' and, under the rules of the standard, the accumulated hedging adjustment 
has begun to be amortised to the income statement from the date of the last successful hedge effectiveness test over the 
remaining life of the subordinated debt using an effective interest rate calculation.

£260 million 4.0% subordinated Tier 2 notes due 2032
On 5 June 2020, the Group issued subordinated Tier 2 notes at a fixed rate of 4.0%. The notes have a redemption date of 5 
June 2032 and may be redeemed at the option of the Group commencing on 5 December 2031 until the maturity date.

The Group has the option, in certain circumstances, to defer interest payments on the notes but to date has not exercised 
this right.
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35. Insurance liabilities
2021 2020

£m £m

Insurance liabilities  3,680.5  3,617.0 

Gross insurance liabilities

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Total

Accident year £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Estimate of ultimate 
gross claims costs:

At end of 
accident year  2,372.7  2,184.0  2,094.5  2,118.1  2,157.7  2,217.3  2,300.1  2,110.4  1,847.3  1,955.8 

One year later  (163.3)  (117.6)  20.7  (30.0)  (86.7)  (116.2)  (62.3)  (67.2)  (116.8) 

Two years later  (118.9)  (153.0)  (38.4)  (143.5)  (53.3)  (103.1)  (52.0)  (56.1) 

Three years later  (49.3)  (21.0)  (144.9)  (62.4)  (82.8)  (42.4)  (9.5) 

Four years later  (9.9)  (102.1)  (50.2)  (22.9)  (46.1)  (21.0) 

Five years later  (79.2)  (50.8)  (51.6)  (22.0)  (16.7) 

Six years later  (36.2)  (27.4)  (33.6)  (9.0) 

Seven years later  (23.8)  (14.0)  (6.5) 

Eight years later  (1.6)  (0.3) 

Nine years later  (1.3) 

Current estimate of 
cumulative claims  1,889.2  1,697.8  1,790.0  1,828.3  1,872.1  1,934.6  2,176.3  1,987.1  1,730.5  1,955.8 

Cumulative 
payments to date  (1,876.7)  (1,686.1)  (1,708.4)  (1,713.7)  (1,745.0)  (1,748.3)  (1,832.2)  (1,582.0)  (1,230.7)  (907.7) 

Gross liability 
recognised in 
balance sheet  12.5  11.7  81.6  114.6  127.1  186.3  344.1  405.1  499.8  1,048.1  2,830.9 
2011 and prior  770.9 
Claims handling 
provision  78.7 
Total  3,680.5 
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Net insurance liabilities

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Total

Accident year £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Estimate of ultimate 
net claims costs:

At end of 
accident year  2,271.8  2,093.9  1,971.0  1,926.7  1,922.2  2,016.9  2,125.9  1,941.2  1,674.5  1,791.8 

One year later  (146.7)  (123.6)  (29.7)  (67.0)  (18.9)  (79.7)  (41.4)  (34.5)  (88.1) 

Two years later  (107.8)  (134.4)  (42.0)  (77.8)  (38.2)  (65.3)  (27.1)  (54.5) 

Three years later  (35.6)  (27.8)  (100.7)  (30.4)  (43.7)  (14.0)  (27.6) 

Four years later  (11.6)  (64.3)  (41.3)  (24.1)  (16.9)  (39.7) 

Five years later  (54.2)  (38.9)  (52.5)  (20.7)  (12.4) 

Six years later  (30.3)  (17.7)  (8.3)  (4.6) 

Seven years later  (14.6)  (10.6)  (8.0) 

Eight years later  (1.2)  0.4 

Nine years later  (1.5) 

Current estimate of 
cumulative claims  1,868.3  1,677.0  1,688.5  1,702.1  1,792.1  1,818.2  2,029.8  1,852.2  1,586.4  1,791.8 

Cumulative 
payments to date  (1,859.2)  (1,667.2)  (1,666.8)  (1,656.0)  (1,716.6)  (1,699.5)  (1,814.5)  (1,560.5)  (1,208.6)  (906.6) 

Gross liability 
recognised in 
balance sheet  9.1  9.8  21.7  46.1  75.5  118.7  215.3  291.7  377.8  885.2  2,050.9 
2011 and prior  418.8 
Claims handling 
provision  78.7 
Total  2,548.4 
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35. Insurance liabilities continued

Movements in gross and net insurance liabilities
Gross Reinsurance Net

£m £m £m

Claims reported  2,916.0  (829.3)  2,086.7 

Incurred but not reported  825.4  (320.3)  505.1 

Claims handling provision  78.2  —  78.2 

At 1 January 2020  3,819.6  (1,149.6)  2,670.0 

Cash paid for claims settled in the year  (1,933.0)  141.1  (1,791.9) 

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Arising from current-year claims  2,057.3  (169.9)  1,887.4 

Arising from prior-year claims  (326.9)  153.1  (173.8) 

At 31 December 2020  3,617.0  (1,025.3)  2,591.7 

Claims reported  2,762.0  (842.8)  1,919.2 

Incurred but not reported  777.0  (182.5)  594.5 

Claims handling provision  78.0  —  78.0 

At 31 December 2020  3,617.0  (1,025.3)  2,591.7 

Cash paid for claims settled in the year  (1,851.8)  89.8  (1,762.0) 
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Arising from current-year claims  2,142.9  (166.1)  1,976.8 
Arising from prior-year claims  (227.6)  (30.5)  (258.1) 

At 31 December 2021  3,680.5  (1,132.1)  2,548.4 
Claims reported  2,840.0  (885.2)  1,954.8 
Incurred but not reported  761.8  (246.9)  514.9 
Claims handling provision  78.7  —  78.7 
At 31 December 2021  3,680.5  (1,132.1)  2,548.4 

Movement in prior-year net claims liabilities by operating segment
2021 2020

£m £m

Motor  (127.1)  (100.6) 
Home  (45.8)  (10.8) 
Rescue and other personal lines  (23.8)  (5.6) 
Commercial  (61.4)  (56.8) 

Total  (258.1)  (173.8) 
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Analysis of outstanding PPO claims provisions on a discounted and an undiscounted basis 
The Group settles some large bodily injury claims as PPOs rather than lump sum payments.

The table below analyses the outstanding PPO claims provisions on a discounted and an undiscounted basis at 
31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020. These represent the total cost of PPOs rather than any costs in excess of purely 
Ogden-based settlements.

Discounted Undiscounted Discounted Undiscounted

2021 2021 2020 2020

At 31 December £m £m £m £m

Gross claims
Approved PPO claims provisions  564.4  1,260.9  561.1  1,289.5 

Anticipated PPOs  193.4  408.7  253.7  561.6 

Total  757.8  1,669.6  814.8  1,851.1 

Reinsurance
Approved PPO claims provisions  (316.2)  (731.4)  (309.3)  (743.6) 

Anticipated PPOs  (142.1)  (313.8)  (186.9)  (435.8) 

Total  (458.3)  (1,045.2)  (496.2)  (1,179.4) 

Net of reinsurance
Approved PPO claims provisions  248.2  529.5  251.8  545.9 

Anticipated PPOs  51.3  94.9  66.8  125.8 

Total  299.5  624.4  318.6  671.7 

The provisions for PPOs have been categorised as either claims which have already been determined by the courts as PPOs 
(approved PPO claims provisions) or those expected to settle as PPOs in the future (anticipated PPOs). The Group has 
estimated the likelihood of large bodily injury claims settling as PPOs. The anticipated PPOs in the table above are based 
on historically observed propensities adjusted for the assumed Ogden discount rate.

In the majority of cases, the inflation agreed in the settlement is the Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings SOC 6115 
inflation published by the Office for National Statistics, for which the long-term rate is assumed to be 3.5% (2020: 3.5%). 
The Group has estimated a rate of interest used for the calculation of present values as 3.5% (2020: 3.5%), which results in a 
real discount rate of 0% (2020: 0%). The Group will continue to review the inflation and discount rates used to calculate 
these insurance reserves.

36. Unearned premium reserve

Movement in unearned premium reserve
Gross Reinsurance Net 

£m £m £m

At 1 January 2020  1,506.0  (101.7)  1,404.3 
Written in the period  3,180.4  (231.0)  2,949.4 
Earned in the period  (3,189.3)  228.8  (2,960.5) 

At 31 December 2020  1,497.1  (103.9)  1,393.2 

Written in the period  3,171.6  (186.4)  2,985.2 
Earned in the period  (3,168.0)  210.6  (2,957.4) 
At 31 December 2021  1,500.7  (79.7)  1,421.0 
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37. Share-based payments
The Group operates equity-settled, share-based compensation plans in the form of a Long-Term Incentive Plan ("LTIP"), a 
Restricted Shares Plan, a Deferred Annual Incentive Plan ("DAIP") and Direct Line Group Share Incentive Plans, including 
both the Free Share awards and a Buy-As-You-Earn Plan, details of which are set out below. All awards are to be satisfied 
using market-purchased shares.

Long-Term Incentive Plan
Executive Directors and certain members of senior management are eligible to participate in the LTIP with awards granted 
in the form of nil-cost options. Under the plan, the shares vest at the end of a three-year period dependent upon the 
continued employment by the Group and also the Group achieving predefined performance conditions associated with 
Total Shareholder Return ("TSR") and return on tangible equity ("RoTE"). For awards since August 2017, the Executive 
Directors are subject to an additional two-year holding period following the three-year vesting period.

Awards were made in the year ended 31 December 2021 over 3.6 million Ordinary Shares with an estimated fair value of 
£11.3 million at the 2021 grant dates (2020: 4.7 million Ordinary Shares with an estimated fair value of £13.2 million).

The estimated fair value of the LTIP share awards with market-based performance conditions was calculated using a 
Monte Carlo simulation model.

The table below details the inputs into the model.

2021 2020

Weighted average assumptions during the year:

Share price (pence)  315  290 

Exercise price (pence)  0  0 

Volatility of share price  26%  34% 

Average comparator volatility  40%  48% 

Expected life 3 years 3 years

Risk-free rate  0.16%  0.02% 

Expected volatility was determined by considering the actual volatility of the Group's share price since its initial public 
offering and that of a group of listed UK insurance companies. 

Plan participants are entitled to receive additional shares in respect of dividends paid to shareholders over the vesting 
period. Therefore, no deduction has been made from the fair value of awards in respect of dividends.

Expected life was based on the contractual life of the awards and adjusted based on management's best estimate, for the 
effects of exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

Restricted Shares Plan
The purpose of the Restricted Shares Plan is to facilitate the wider participation in Group share-based awards of eligible 
employees. These awards can be granted in the form of a nil-cost option at any time during the year, generally have no 
performance criteria, and vest over periods ranging up to seven years from the date of the grant, subject to continued 
employment. During the year awards were made of 1.1 million Ordinary Shares (2020: 1.0 million Ordinary Shares) with an 
estimated fair value of £3.2 million (2020: £2.9 million) using the market value at the date of grant. 

Deferred Annual Incentive Plan 
To incentivise delivery of performance over a one-year operating cycle, Executive Directors and certain members of senior 
management are eligible for awards under the Annual Incentive Plan ("AIP"), of which at least 40% is granted in the form 
of a nil-cost option under the DAIP with the remainder being settled in cash following year end. During the year awards 
were made over 1.4 million Ordinary Shares (2020: 1.8 million Ordinary Shares) under this plan with an estimated fair value 
of £4.5 million (2020: £4.6 million) using the market value at the date of grant.

The awards outstanding at 31 December 2021 have no performance criteria attached; there is a requirement that the 
employee remains in employment with the Group for three years from the date of grant.

Direct Line Group Share Incentive Plans: Free Share awards
In early 2021, the Group offered all eligible employees a Free Share award granting 112 Ordinary Shares free of charge as a 
measure of thanks to the employees for the part they played in the good results that the Group reported for 2020. These 
awards have no performance criteria attached and vest on the third anniversary of the award grant date, subject to 
completion of three years' continuing employment. The Group initially granted 1.2 million Ordinary Shares with an 
estimated fair value of £3.7 million using the market value at the date of grant.

In 2020, the Group offered all eligible employees a Free Share award granting 180 Ordinary Shares free of charge as a 
measure of thanks to the employees for the part they played in the good results that the Group reported for 2019. These 
awards have no performance criteria attached and vest on the third anniversary of the award grant date, subject to 
completion of three years' continuing employment. The Group initially granted 1.9 million Ordinary Shares with an 
estimated fair value of £5.4 million using the market value at the date of grant.

Direct Line Group Share Incentive Plans: Buy-As-You-Earn Plan
The Buy-As-You-Earn Plan entitles employees to purchase shares from pre-tax pay for between £10 and £150 per month 
and receive one matching share for every two shares purchased.
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In the year ended 31 December 2021, matching share awards were granted over 0.6 million Ordinary Shares (2020: 0.6 
million Ordinary Shares) with an estimated fair value of £1.8 million (2020: £1.6 million). The fair value of each matching 
share award is estimated using the market value at the date of grant.

Under the plan, the shares vest at the end of a three-year period dependent upon continued employment with the Group 
together with continued ownership of the associated purchased shares up to the point of vesting.

Movement in total share awards

Number of share awards

2021 2020

millions millions

At 1 January  26.9  21.6 

Granted during the year1  9.4  11.3 

Forfeited during the year  (2.9)  (1.9) 

Exercised during the year  (5.0)  (4.1) 

At 31 December  28.4  26.9 

Exercisable at 31 December  2.6  1.5 

Note:

1. In accordance with the rules of the LTIP, Restricted Shares Plan and DAIP, additional awards of 1.5 million shares were granted during the year ended 
31 December 2021 (2020: 1.3 million) in respect of the equivalent dividend.

In respect of the outstanding options at 31 December 2021, the weighted average remaining contractual life is 1.64 years 
(2020: 1.61 years). No share awards expired during the year (2020: nil).

The weighted average share price for awards exercised during the year ended 31 December 2021 was £3.06 (2020: £2.86).

The Group recognised total expenses in the year ended 31 December 2021 of £18.4 million (2020: £18.5 million) relating to 
equity-settled share-based compensation plans. 

Further information on share-based payments, in respect of Executive Directors, is provided in the Directors' Remuneration 
Report.

38. Provisions

Movement in provisions during the year
Regulatory 

levies Restructuring Other Total

£m £m £m £m

At 1 January 2021  41.6  25.9  47.3  114.8 
Additional provision  67.7  16.1  31.2  115.0 
Utilisation of provision  (61.1)  (20.6)  (40.3)  (122.0) 
Released to income statement  —  (7.7)  (3.7)  (11.4) 
At 31 December 2021  48.2  13.7  34.5  96.4 

Of the above, £nil (2020: £6.0 million) is due to be settled outside of 12 months.

Regulatory levies provisions include undiscounted balances held for MIB, FSCS and other insurance levies where the Group 
is charged in the following year.

Restructuring provisions include balances held in respect of various property dilapidations and a number of restructuring 
programmes within the Group, including office site closures and staff restructuring.

Other provisions primarily include balances held in respect of staff bonuses and reward.

39. Trade and other payables, including insurance payables
2021 2020

£m £m

Trade creditors and accruals  230.9  293.5 

Other taxes  99.1  100.4 

Other creditors  73.6  89.1 

Due to reinsurers  45.4  60.2 

Due to agents, brokers and intermediaries  4.0  2.5 

Deferred income  3.2  3.3 

Due to insurance companies  1.1  0.9 

Total  457.3  549.9 
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40. Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement
2021 2020

Notes £m £m

Profit for the year  343.7  367.2 

Adjustments for:

Investment return  6  (146.3)  (95.1) 

Instalment income  (97.3)  (109.3) 

Finance costs  11  34.3  31.3 

Defined benefit pension scheme – net interest charge 27  (3.1)  0.7 

Equity-settled share-based payment charge  18.4  18.5 

Tax charge  12  102.3  84.2 

Depreciation and amortisation charge  94.5  79.7 

Impairment of intangible and ROU assets 17/19  2.6  6.6 
Impairment provision movements on reinsurance contracts  22  (8.8)  5.8 

Unrealised gain on assets held for sale  30  9.4  — 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and ROU assets  86.2  4.9 

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital  435.9  394.5 

Movements in working capital:

Net decrease in net insurance liabilities including reinsurance assets, unearned 
premium reserves and deferred acquisition costs  (21.1)  (91.3) 

Net decrease/(increase) in insurance and other receivables  85.4  (1.6) 

Net decrease/(increase) in accrued income and other assets1  0.9  (5.8) 

Net (decrease)/increase in trade and other payables, including insurance 
payables and provisions  (111.0)  106.8 

Cash generated from operations  390.1  402.6 

Taxes paid  (118.4)  (134.0) 

Cash flow hedges  0.1  0.2 

Net cash generated from operating activities before investment of insurance 
assets  271.8  268.8 

Interest received  234.6  260.0 

Rental income received from investment property  6  14.5  13.7 

Purchase of investment property  20  (0.1)  (10.5) 

Proceeds on disposal of investment property  20  9.6  — 

Proceeds on disposal/maturity of AFS debt securities  1,170.1  1,614.0 

Proceeds from maturity of HTM debt securities  22.4  — 

Advances made for commercial real estate loans  (44.3)  (46.3) 

Repayments of infrastructure debt and commercial real estate loans  63.2  56.7 

Purchase of AFS debt securities  (1,291.4)  (1,568.5) 

Purchase of equity investments  (1.5)  (3.2) 

Purchase of HTM debt securities  (9.9)  — 

Cash generated from investment of insurance assets  167.2  315.9 

Note:

1. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the movement in prepayments of £4.1 million was disclosed in operating cash flows before movements in working 
capital. This movement has been included in cash generated from operations within the net decrease/(increase) in accrued income and other assets for the year 
ended 31 December 2021 and the comparative figure has been re-presented accordingly.
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The table below details changes in liabilities arising from the Group's financing activities.

Lease liabilities Subordinated liabilities
Interest rate swap associated 

with subordinated debt1

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

£m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January  (152.4)  (164.4)  (516.6)  (259.0)  8.2  9.0 

Proceeds on issue of subordinated 
liabilities2

 —  —  —  (257.2)  —  — 

Interest paid on subordinated liabilities  —  —  33.5  28.3  —  — 
Interest rate swap cash settlement  —  —  —  —  (5.3)  (4.1) 
Lease repayments  105.1  18.5  —  —  —  — 
Financing cash flows  105.1  18.5  33.5  (228.9)  (5.3)  (4.1) 

Additions/disposals of leases  (5.9)  (6.0)  —  —  —  — 
Modifications of leases  (27.8)  5.5  —  —  —  — 
Interest on lease liabilities3

 (3.2)  (6.0)  —  —  —  — 
Amortisation of arrangement costs and 
discount on issue of subordinated liabilities

 —  —  (0.6)  (0.5)  —  — 

Amortisation of fair value hedging  —  —  3.6  1.8  —  — 
Accrued interest expense on subordinated 
liabilities

 —  —  (33.5)  (29.1)  —  — 

Unrealised loss on associated interest rate 
risk on hedged item

 —  —  —  (0.9)  —  — 

Net accrued interest on interest rate swap  —  —  —  —  (0.1)  0.3 
Fair value movement in interest rate swap  —  —  —  —  (0.5)  3.0 
Non-cash changes  (36.9)  (6.5)  (30.5)  (28.7)  (0.6)  3.3 
At 31 December  (84.2)  (152.4)  (513.6)  (516.6)  2.3  8.2 

Notes:

1. As described in note 34, the Group entered into a 10-year interest rate swap on the same date as issuing the £250 million 9.25% subordinated Tier 2 notes due 
2042.

2. As described in note 34, on 5 June 2020 the Group issued £260.0 million of subordinated Tier 2 notes at a fixed rate of 4.0%. The notes have a redemption date 
of 5 June 2032 and may be redeemed at the option of the Group commencing on 5 December 2031 until the maturity date. Proceeds are net of issue costs of 
£2.8 million.

3. Interest on lease liabilities were previously reported in financing cash flows. Comparative data for the year ended 31 December 2020 has been re-presented 
accordingly. 

41. Commitments and contingent liabilities
The Group did not have any material commitments and contingent liabilities at 31 December 2021 (2020: none).

42. Leases

Operating lease commitments where the Group is the lessor
The following table analyses future aggregate minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable operating 
leases in respect of property leased to third-party tenants.

2021 2020

£m £m

Within one year  13.1  13.7 

In the second to fifth year inclusive  38.4  38.6 

After five years  70.0  66.5 

Total1  121.5  118.8 

Note:

1. At year ended 31 December 2021: £114.4 million of the total operating lease commitments where the Group is the lessor relates to the lease of investment 
properties detailed in note 20 (2020: £116.6 million).
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42. Leases continued

Other lease disclosures
The following table analyses the amounts that have been included in the income statement for leases.

2021 2020

£m £m

Depreciation of ROU assets  10.8  14.8 

Gain on modification of leases  —  (2.6) 

Loss on disposal of leases  83.9  — 

Interest on lease liabilities  3.2  6.0 

Short-term leases2  0.8  0.8 

Low-value leases2  0.8  0.2 

Impairment on ROU assets  0.5  — 

Income from subleasing ROU assets  (0.1)  (0.2) 

Total  99.9  19.0 

Notes:

1. Total cash outflows in respect of leases was £106.7 million (2020: £18.7 million).

2. At years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, expenses relating to short-term leases and leases of low-value assets were not included in the 
measurement of lease liabilities as they were not considered significant.

43. Fair value

Fair value hierarchy
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using 
another valuation technique.

For disclosure purposes, fair value measurements are classified as level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which fair value is 
observable:

– Level 1 financial assets are measured in whole or in part by reference to published quotes in an active market. In an 
active market quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing 
service or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm's-
length basis.

– Level 2 financial assets and liabilities are measured using a valuation technique based on assumptions that are 
supported by prices from observable current market transactions. These include AFS debt security assets for which 
pricing is obtained via pricing services, but where prices have not been determined in an active market, or financial 
assets with fair values based on broker quotes or assets that are valued using the Group's own models whereby the 
majority of assumptions are market-observable. Derivatives are valued using broker quotes or appropriate valuation 
models. Model inputs include a range of factors which are deemed to be observable, including current market and 
contractual prices for underlying instruments, period to maturity, correlations, yield curves and volatility of underlying 
instruments.

– Level 3 fair value measurements used for investment properties, HTM debt securities, infrastructure debt, commercial 
real estate loans and equity investments are those derived from a valuation technique that includes inputs for the asset 
that are unobservable.
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Comparison of carrying value to fair value of financial instruments and assets where fair value is 
disclosed

Carrying Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

At 31 December 2021 £m £m £m £m £m

Assets held at fair value:
Investment property (note 20)  317.0  —  —  317.0  317.0 
Derivative assets (note 26)  35.9  —  35.9  —  35.9 
AFS debt securities (note 28)  4,084.6  35.6  4,049.0  —  4,084.6 
Equity investments (note 28)  6.2  —  —  6.2  6.2 
Other financial assets:
HTM debt securities (note 28)  91.2  —  24.3  69.1  93.4 
Infrastructure debt (note 28)  250.8  —  —  257.8  257.8 
Commercial real estate loans (note 28)  200.8  —  —  198.3  198.3 
Total  4,986.5  35.6  4,109.2  848.4  4,993.2 
Liabilities held at fair value:
Derivative liabilities (note 26)  19.5  —  19.5  —  19.5 
Other financial liabilities:
Subordinated liabilities (note 34)  513.6  —  543.7  —  543.7 
Total  533.1  —  563.2  —  563.2 

Carrying Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

At 31 December 2020 £m £m £m £m £m

Assets held at fair value:
Investment property (note 20)  292.1  —  —  292.1  292.1 

Derivative assets (note 26)  73.4  —  73.4  —  73.4 

AFS debt securities (note 28)  4,103.1  25.2  4,077.9  —  4,103.1 

Equity investments (note 28)  3.2  —  —  3.2  3.2 

Other financial assets:
HTM debt securities (note 28)  103.9  —  14.2  93.7  107.9 

Infrastructure debt (note 28)  264.5  —  —  273.6  273.6 

Commercial real estate loans (note 28)  206.7  —  —  202.9  202.9 

Total  5,046.9  25.2  4,165.5  865.5  5,056.2 

Liabilities held at fair value:
Derivative liabilities (note 26)  57.2  —  57.2  —  57.2 

Other financial liabilities:
Subordinated liabilities (note 34)  516.6  —  589.0  —  589.0 

Total  573.8  —  646.2  —  646.2 

Differences arise between carrying value and fair value where the measurement basis of the asset or liability is not fair 
value (for example; assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost). Fair values of the following assets and liabilities 
approximate their carrying values:

– insurance and other receivables;
– cash and cash equivalents;
– borrowings; and
– trade and other payables, including insurance payables.

The movements in assets held at fair value and classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy relate to investment property 
and equity investments. Investment property is analysed in note 20 along with further details on the Group's valuation 
approach. A summary of realised and unrealised gains or losses in relation to investment property at fair value are 
presented in note 6. Sensitivity analysis in respect of investment property has been provided in note 3.

There was one HTM debt security with fair value of £10.7 million (2020: £11.2 million) transferred from level 3 to level 2 due 
to market-observable valuation inputs. There were no other changes in the categorisation of assets between levels 1, 2 and 
3 for assets and liabilities held by the Group since 31 December 2020.
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43. Fair value continued
The table below shows the unobservable inputs used by the Group in the fair value measurement of its investment 
property.

31 December 2021
Fair value

£m
Valuation

technique
Unobservable

input
Range

(weighted average)

Investment property 317.01 Income 
capitalisation

Equivalent yield 3.38% – 7.97% 
(average 4.55%)

Estimated rental value 
per square foot

£1.81 – £35.00 
(average £12.71)

Note:

1. The methodology of valuation reflects commercial property held within U K Insurance Limited.

The table below analyses the movement in assets carried at fair value classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

Investment 
property 
(note 20)

Equity 
investment

£m £m

At 1 January 2021  292.1  3.2 
Additions at cost  —  1.5 
Increase in fair value in the period through profit and loss (notes 6 & 20)  37.8  1.5 
Disposals (note 20)  (9.6)  — 
Transferred to assets held for sale (note 30)  (3.4)  — 
Capitalised expenditure (note 20)  0.1  — 
At 31 December 2021  317.0  6.2 

44. Related parties
Transactions between the Group's subsidiary undertakings, which are related parties, have been eliminated on 
consolidation and accordingly are not disclosed.

Subject to the preceding sentence, there were no sales or purchases of products and services to or from related parties in 
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: £nil).

Compensation of key management
2021 2020

£m £m

Short-term employee benefits  11.9  11.9 

Post-employment benefits  0.1  0.1 

Share-based payments  7.2  7.6 

Total  19.2  19.6 

45. Post balance sheet events
As part of the Group's ongoing change of the core operational real estate portfolio, on 28 February 2022, the freehold 
interest in the Birmingham property with a carrying value of £24.4 million and impaired by £5.0 million to reflect the costs 
of remediation and estimated realisable value, was sold for £19.4 million.

On 4 March 2022, the Group’s principal underwriter, U K Insurance Limited, entered into an agreement to extend its 
contract with NatWest Group until 2027 to continue to provide home insurance for its customers.
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2021 2020

Notes £m £m

Assets
Investment in subsidiary undertakings 2  3,322.9  3,305.9 

Other receivables 3  342.5  335.7 

Current tax assets 4  6.4  5.5 

Derivative financial instruments 5  0.2  0.1 

Financial investments 6  45.2  — 

Cash and cash equivalents 7  204.6  266.1 

Total assets  3,921.8  3,913.3 

Equity
Shareholders' equity  2,937.9  2,936.6 

Tier 1 notes 9  346.5  346.5 

Total equity  3,284.4  3,283.1 

Liabilities
Subordinated liabilities 10  512.4  511.9 

Borrowings 11  123.9  116.4 

Derivative financial instruments 5  0.2  0.1 

Trade and other payables 12  —  1.1 

Deferred tax liabilities 4  0.9  0.7 

Total liabilities  637.4  630.2 

Total equity and liabilities  3,921.8  3,913.3 

The attached notes on pages 241 to 245 form an integral part of these separate financial statements.

The profit for the year net of tax was £421.9 million (2020: £343.0 million).

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 7 March 2022.

They were signed on its behalf by:

NEIL MANSER
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Direct Line Insurance Group plc

Registration No. 02280426

PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET 
As at 31 December 2021
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Parent Company Balance Sheet 
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2021 2020

£m £m

Profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Company  421.9  343.0 

Other comprehensive loss
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement:

Loss on fair value through other comprehensive income investments  —  (0.1) 

Other comprehensive loss for the year net of tax  —  (0.1) 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the owners of the Company  421.9  342.9 

PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Share 
capital

Capital 
reserves

Share-
based 

payment 
reserve

Fair value 
through other 

comprehensive 
income 

revaluation 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Shareholders 
equity Tier 1 notes Total equity

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Balance at 1 January 2020  150.0  1,450.0  2.4  —  1,329.0  2,931.4  346.5  3,277.9 

Total comprehensive income 
for the year  —  —  —  (0.1)  343.0  342.9  —  342.9 

Dividends and 
appropriations paid
(note 13)  —  —  —  —  (312.5)  (312.5)  —  (312.5) 

Shares cancelled following 
buyback  (1.1)  1.1  —  —  (30.0)  (30.0)  —  (30.0) 

Credit to equity for equity-
settled share-based 
payments  —  —  18.5  —  —  18.5  —  18.5 

Shares distributed by 
employee trusts  —  —  (13.7)  —  —  (13.7)  —  (13.7) 

Total transactions with 
equity holders  (1.1)  1.1  4.8  —  (342.5)  (337.7)  —  (337.7) 

Balance at 31 December 2020  148.9  1,451.1  7.2  (0.1)  1,329.5  2,936.6  346.5  3,283.1 

Total comprehensive income 
for the year  —  —  —  —  421.9  421.9  —  421.9 

Dividends and 
appropriations paid
(note 13)  —  —  —  —  (317.4)  (317.4)  —  (317.4) 
Shares cancelled following 
buyback  (3.7)  3.7  —  —  (101.0)  (101.0)  —  (101.0) 
Credit to equity for equity-
settled share-based 
payments  —  —  17.0  —  —  17.0  —  17.0 
Shares distributed by 
employee trusts  —  —  (19.2)  —  —  (19.2)  —  (19.2) 

Total transactions with 
equity holders  (3.7)  3.7  (2.2)  —  (418.4)  (420.6)  —  (420.6) 
Balance at 31 December 2021  145.2  1,454.8  5.0  (0.1)  1,333.0  2,937.9  346.5  3,284.4 

The attached notes on pages 241 to 245 form an integral part of these separate financial statements.

PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2021
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Parent Company Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020

£m £m

Profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Company  421.9  343.0 

Other comprehensive loss
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement:

Loss on fair value through other comprehensive income investments  —  (0.1) 

Other comprehensive loss for the year net of tax  —  (0.1) 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the owners of the Company  421.9  342.9 

PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Share 
capital

Capital 
reserves

Share-
based 

payment 
reserve

Fair value 
through other 

comprehensive 
income 

revaluation 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Shareholders 
equity Tier 1 notes Total equity

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Balance at 1 January 2020  150.0  1,450.0  2.4  —  1,329.0  2,931.4  346.5  3,277.9 

Total comprehensive income 
for the year  —  —  —  (0.1)  343.0  342.9  —  342.9 

Dividends and 
appropriations paid
(note 13)  —  —  —  —  (312.5)  (312.5)  —  (312.5) 

Shares cancelled following 
buyback  (1.1)  1.1  —  —  (30.0)  (30.0)  —  (30.0) 

Credit to equity for equity-
settled share-based 
payments  —  —  18.5  —  —  18.5  —  18.5 

Shares distributed by 
employee trusts  —  —  (13.7)  —  —  (13.7)  —  (13.7) 

Total transactions with 
equity holders  (1.1)  1.1  4.8  —  (342.5)  (337.7)  —  (337.7) 

Balance at 31 December 2020  148.9  1,451.1  7.2  (0.1)  1,329.5  2,936.6  346.5  3,283.1 

Total comprehensive income 
for the year  —  —  —  —  421.9  421.9  —  421.9 

Dividends and 
appropriations paid
(note 13)  —  —  —  —  (317.4)  (317.4)  —  (317.4) 
Shares cancelled following 
buyback  (3.7)  3.7  —  —  (101.0)  (101.0)  —  (101.0) 
Credit to equity for equity-
settled share-based 
payments  —  —  17.0  —  —  17.0  —  17.0 
Shares distributed by 
employee trusts  —  —  (19.2)  —  —  (19.2)  —  (19.2) 

Total transactions with 
equity holders  (3.7)  3.7  (2.2)  —  (418.4)  (420.6)  —  (420.6) 
Balance at 31 December 2021  145.2  1,454.8  5.0  (0.1)  1,333.0  2,937.9  346.5  3,284.4 

The attached notes on pages 241 to 245 form an integral part of these separate financial statements.

PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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1. Accounting policies

1.1 Basis of preparation
Direct Line Insurance Group plc, registered in England and Wales (company number 02280426), is the ultimate parent 
company of the Group. The principal activity of the Company is managing its investments in subsidiaries, providing loans 
to those subsidiaries, raising funds for the Group and the receipt and payment of dividends. 

The address of the Company's registered office is Churchill Court, Westmoreland Road, Bromley, BR1 1DP. 

The Company's financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial investments and 
derivative financial investments, which are measured at fair value.

In accordance with the exemption permitted under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company's income 
statement and related notes have not been presented in these separate financial statements.

The Company's financial statements are prepared in accordance with FRS 101 'Reduced Disclosure Framework'.

The Company has taken advantage of the following FRS 101 disclosure exemptions:

– FRS 101.8 (d): the requirements of IFRS 7 'Financial Instruments: Disclosures' to make disclosures about financial 
instruments;

– FRS 101.8 (e): the disclosure requirements of IFRS 13 'Fair Value Measurement';
– FRS 101.8 (g): the requirements of paragraphs 10(d), 10(f), 16, 38A, 38B, 38C, 111 and 134 – 136 of IAS 'Presentation of 

Financial Statements' to produce a cash flow statement and to make an explicit and unreserved statement of 
compliance with IFRSs;

– FRS 101.8 (h): the requirements of IAS 7 'Statements of Cash Flows' to produce a cash flow statement and related notes;
– FRS 101.8 (i): the requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 'Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 

and Errors' to include a list of new IFRSs that have been issued but that have yet to be applied; and
– FRS 101.8 (k): the requirements of IAS 24 'Related Party Disclosures' to disclose related party transactions entered into 

between two or more members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which is party to a transaction is wholly owned 
by such a member.

Adoption of new and revised standards
Full details of the new and revised standards adopted by the Company are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

1.2 Investment in subsidiaries
Investment in subsidiaries is stated at cost less any impairment.

1.3 Financial assets
Financial assets are classified at initial recognition and subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value through 
other comprehensive income. The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset's 
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Company's business model for managing them. 

Amortised cost 
Assets which are held to collect contractual cash flows, and with contractual terms which give rise to cash flows which are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are classified as financial assets held at 
amortised cost. The Company initially measures financial assets held at amortised cost at fair value plus transaction costs. 
They are subsequently measured using the effective interest method where applicable and are subject to impairment. 
Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. 

Fair value through other comprehensive income 
Assets which are held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell the financial asset, where the contractual terms of 
the asset give rise to cash flows which are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, 
are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, unless designated as fair value through profit or loss. The 
Company's financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income relate to corporate debt securities. 
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income, except for gains or losses recognised 
in the income statement when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. 

Impairment
At initial recognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income an 
expected credit loss assessment is conducted with an impairment loss booked if material. The Company uses judgement 
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation based on the credit quality and 
history of the financial asset or group of financial assets, as well as existing market conditions and forward-looking 
expectations.

At each balance sheet date, the Company assesses on a forward-looking basis whether there is objective evidence that an 
impairment loss on a financial asset or group of financial assets classified as held at amortised cost or fair value through 
other comprehensive income is expected. The Company measures the expected loss as the difference between the 
carrying amount of the asset or group of assets, including the allowance for expected losses at initial recognition, and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows from the asset or group of assets discounted at the effective interest rate of 
the instrument at initial recognition.

The Company applies the simplified impairment approach to trade receivables due from subsidiary undertakings.

Impairment losses, including the expected credit allowance, are recognised in the income statement and the carrying 
amount of the financial asset or group of financial assets is reduced by establishing an allowance for the impairment 
losses. If in a subsequent period the amount of the expected impairment allowance reduces, and this can be ascribed to 
an event after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance. A 
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
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2. Investment in subsidiary undertakings
2021 2020

£m £m

At 1 January  3,305.9  3,137.4 

Additional investment in subsidiary undertakings  17.0  168.5 

At 31 December  3,322.9  3,305.9 

On 27 March 2020, the Company provided additional funding to its subsidiary, U K Insurance Limited. It purchased one 
Ordinary Share of £1 nominal value for a consideration of £150 million.

The subsidiary undertakings of the Company are set out in the table below. Their capital consists of Ordinary Shares which 
are unlisted. In all cases, the Company owns 100% of the Ordinary Shares, either directly or through its ownership of other 
subsidiaries, and exercises full control over their decision making. 

Name of subsidiary

Company 
registration
number

Place of incorporation
and operation Principal activity

Directly held by the Company:
Direct Line Group Limited1 02811437 United Kingdom Intermediate holding company

DL Insurance Services Limited1 03001989 United Kingdom Management services

Finsure Premium Finance Limited1 01670887 United Kingdom Non-trading company

Inter Group Insurance Services Limited1 02762848 United Kingdom Dormant7

UK Assistance Accident Repair Centres Limited1 02568507 United Kingdom Motor vehicle repair services

UK Assistance Limited1 02857232 United Kingdom Dormant7

U K Insurance Business Solutions Limited1 05196274 United Kingdom Insurance intermediary services

U K Insurance Limited2,3 01179980 United Kingdom General insurance

Indirectly held by the Company:
10-15 Livery Street, Birmingham UK Limited4 JE109119 Jersey Dormant8

Brolly UK Technology Limited1,5 10134039 United Kingdom Insurance intermediary services

Churchill Insurance Company Limited1 02258947 United Kingdom General insurance

Direct Line Insurance Limited1 01810801 United Kingdom Dormant7

DL Support Services India Private Limited6 See 
footnote 6

India Support and operational services

DLG Legal Services Limited2 08302561 United Kingdom Legal services

DLG Pension Trustee Limited1 08911044 United Kingdom Dormant7

Farmweb Limited1 03207393 United Kingdom Dormant7

Green Flag Group Limited2 02622895 United Kingdom Intermediate holding company

Green Flag Holdings Limited1 03577191 United Kingdom Intermediate holding company

Green Flag Limited2 01003081 United Kingdom Breakdown recovery services

Intergroup Assistance Services Limited1 03315786 United Kingdom Dormant7

National Breakdown Recovery Club Limited1 02479300 United Kingdom Dormant7

Nationwide Breakdown Recovery Services 
Limited1

01316805 United Kingdom Dormant7

The National Insurance and Guarantee 
Corporation Limited1

00042133 United Kingdom Dormant7

UKI Life Assurance Services Limited1 03034263 United Kingdom Dormant7

Notes:

1. Registered office at: Churchill Court, Westmoreland Road, Bromley, BR1 1DP.
2. Registered office at: The Wharf, Neville Street, Leeds, LS1 4AZ.
3. U K Insurance Limited has a branch in the Republic of South Africa and a branch in the Republic of Ireland.
4. Registered office at: 22 Grenville Street, St Helier, JE4 8PX, Jersey.
5. On 15 September 2020, DL Insurance Services Limited acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Brolly UK Technology Limited. For the year ended 31 

December 2021, Brolly UK Technology Limited is exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 relating to the audit of individual accounts by 
virtue of section 479 A(2)(d).

6. Registered office at: ESC House, 155, 1st & 2nd Floor, Okhla Industrial Area Phase-3, New Delhi, 110020, India. Company registration number: 
U74140DL2014FTC265567.

7. These entities have not been audited, in accordance with the exemptions available for dormant entities under section 480 of the Companies Act 2006.
8. Under the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991, there is no requirement to file individual accounts and audit a private limited company.
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3. Other receivables
2021 2020

£m £m

Loans to subsidiary undertakings1  337.1  322.2 

Trade receivables due from subsidiary undertakings  5.4  13.5 

Total  342.5  335.7 

Current  92.5  85.7 

Non-current  250.0  250.0 

Total  342.5  335.7 

Note:

1. Included in loans to subsidiary undertakings is a £250 million unsecured subordinated loan to U K Insurance Limited. All loans are neither past due nor 
impaired.

4. Current and deferred tax 
2021 2020

£m £m

Per balance sheet:
Current tax assets  6.4  5.5 

Deferred tax liabilities  (0.9)  (0.7) 

The deferred tax liability is in respect of provisions and other temporary differences.

5. Derivative financial instruments1

Notional 
amount Fair value

Notional 
amount Fair value

2021 2021 2020 2020

£m £m £m £m

Derivative assets
Designated as hedging instruments:

Foreign exchange contracts2  14.1  0.2  4.1  0.1 

Total  14.1  0.2  4.1  0.1 

Derivative liabilities
Designated as hedging instruments:

Foreign exchange contracts2  14.1  0.2  4.1  0.1 

Total  14.1  0.2  4.1  0.1 

Notes:

1. The derivative assets and liabilities are both classified as level 2 within the Group's fair value hierarchy set out in note 43 of the consolidated financial statements.
2. The foreign exchange cash flow hedges have been entered into on behalf of the Group's subsidiary companies.

6. Financial investments
2021 2020

£m £m

Fair value through other comprehensive income debt securities1  45.2  — 

Note:

1. At 31 December 2021, the fair value through other comprehensive income debt securities are corporate debt securities of £45.2 million classified as level 2 
within the Group's fair value hierarchy which is set out in note 43 of the consolidated financial statements.

7. Cash and cash equivalents
2021 2020

£m £m

Cash at bank and in hand  —  — 

Short-term deposits with credit institutions1  204.6  266.1 

Total  204.6  266.1 

Note:

1. This represents money market funds.
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8. Share capital, capital reserves and distributable reserves
Full details of the share capital and capital reserves of the Company are set out in notes 31 and 32 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Of the Company's total equity, £1,333.0 million (2020: £1,329.5 million), being the total of its retained earnings less 
unrealised losses of £0.1 million (2020: £0.1 million), is considered to be distributable reserves.

9. Tier 1 notes
Full details of the Tier 1 notes of the Company are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

10. Subordinated liabilities
2021 2020

£m £m

£250 million 9.25% subordinated Tier 2 notes due 2042  254.1  253.7 

£260 million 4.0% subordinated Tier 2 notes due 2032  258.3  258.2 

Total  512.4  511.9 

£250 million 9.25% subordinated Tier 2 notes due 2042
The subordinated guaranteed dated notes with a nominal value of £500 million were issued on 27 April 2012 at a fixed 
rate of 9.25% and have a redemption date of 27 April 2042. On 8 December 2017, the Company repurchased £250 million 
nominal value of subordinated guaranteed dated notes for a purchase price of £330.1 million including accrued interest of 
£2.7 million and associated transaction costs of £0.6 million. 

The remaining notes, with a nominal value of £250 million, have a redemption date of 27 April 2042 with the option to 
repay the notes on 27 April 2022. If the notes are not repaid on that date, the terms of the notes provide that the rate of 
interest will be reset at a rate of 6-month LIBOR plus 7.91%. If LIBOR has been discontinued by this time, the terms of the 
notes provide for an ultimate fall-back rate of interest of 9.25% for subsequent interest periods. The terms of the notes do 
not automatically provide for the transition of LIBOR to SONIA, which would require a separate agreement between the 
Group and the noteholders.

The notes are guaranteed by U K Insurance Limited, a principal subsidiary of the Company.

£260 million 4.0% subordinated Tier 2 notes due 2032
On 5 June 2020, the Company issued subordinated Tier 2 notes at a fixed rate of 4.0%. The notes have a redemption date 
of 5 June 2032 and may be redeemed at the option of the Company commencing on 5 December 2031 until the maturity 
date.

The Company has the option, in certain circumstances, to defer interest payments on the notes but to date has not 
exercised this right.

The 2032 and 2042 notes are unsecured, and subordinated obligations of the Company and rank pari passu and without 
any preference among themselves. In the event of a winding-up or of bankruptcy they are to be repaid only after the 
claims of all other senior creditors have been met and will rank at least pari passu with the claims of holders of other Tier 2 
capital.

The aggregate fair value of subordinated guaranteed dated notes at 31 December 2021 was £543.7 million (2020: £589.0 
million).

11. Borrowings
2021 2020

£m £m

Loans from fellow subsidiaries within the Group1  123.9  116.4 

Note:

1. Included in the above is a loan of £93.8 million (2020: £71.4 million) from UK Assistance Accident Repair Centres Limited. All loans from fellow Group 
subsidiaries are repayable by 31 December 2024 and are subject to interest on outstanding balances based on the average 3-month LIBOR rate.

12. Trade and other payables
2021 2020

£m £m

Total payables to third parties  —  1.1 

13. Dividends
Full details of the dividends paid and proposed by the Company are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial 
statements. 
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14. Share-based payments
Full details of share-based compensation plans are provided in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

15. Contingent liabilities
The Company will guarantee the debts and liabilities of its UK subsidiary, Brolly UK Technology Limited, at the balance 
sheet date in accordance with section 479C of the Companies Act 2006. The Company has assessed the probability of loss 
under this guarantee as remote.

16. Risk management
The risks faced by the Company, arising from its investment in subsidiaries, are considered to be the same as those in the 
operations of the Group. Details of the key risks and the steps taken to manage them are disclosed in note 3 to the 
consolidated financial statements. The Company also holds, on behalf of its subsidiaries, designated hedging instruments 
which relate to foreign currency supplier payments.

17. Directors and key management remuneration
The Directors and key management of the Group and the Company are the same. The aggregate emoluments of the 
Directors are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements, the compensation for key management is set out 
in note 44 to the consolidated financial statements and the remuneration and pension benefits payable in respect of the 
highest-paid Director are included in the Directors' Remuneration Report in the Governance section of the Annual Report 
and Accounts.

WWW.DIRECTLINEGROUP.CO.UK 245www.directlinegroup.co.uk 245



Financial calendar1

2022

Date Event

08 March Preliminary Results 2021 
announcement

07 April "Ex-dividend" date for 2021 final 
dividend

08 April Record date for 2021 final dividend

25 April Final date for election under the 
Dividend Reinvestment Plan

04 May Trading update for the first quarter 
of 2022

10 May Annual General Meeting

17 May Payment date for 2021 final 
dividend

02 August Half-year report 2022

11 August "Ex-dividend" date for 2022 interim 
dividend

12 August Record date for 2022 interim 
dividend

18 August Final date for election under the 
Dividend Reinvestment Plan

09 September Payment date for 2022 interim 
dividend

08 November Trading update for the third quarter 
of 2022

Annual General Meeting
The 2022 AGM will be held at No 1 Minster Court, 
Mincing Lane, London, EC3R 7AA on 10 May 2022, 
starting at 11.00 am. All shareholders will receive a 
separate notice convening the AGM. This will explain the 
resolutions to be put to the meeting.

The Articles of Association of the Company and the 
letters of appointment of the Executive Directors, the 
Chair and the Non-Executive Directors are available for 
inspection at the Company's registered office and at the 
offices of Allen & Overy LLP.

Market
The Company has a premium listing on the UK Listing 
Authority's Official List. The Company's Ordinary Shares 
(EPIC: DLG) are admitted to trading on the London Stock 
Exchange.

Note:

1. These dates are subject to change.

Share ownership

Share capital
You can find details of the Company's share capital in 
note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

Dividends
The Company pays its dividends in sterling to 
shareholders registered on its register of members at the 
relevant record date.

Shareholders can arrange to receive their cash dividend 
payments in a bank or building society account by 
completing a dividend mandate form. This is available 
from the Company's registrar, Computershare Investor 
Services Plc ("Registrar"), in the UK. You can find the 
Registrar's contact details on page 257. Alternatively, 
shareholders can access their shareholdings online and 
download a dividend mandate form from the Investor 
Centre. You can find details of this below.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan
The Company offers a Dividend Reinvestment Plan. This 
enables shareholders to use their cash dividends to buy 
the Company's Ordinary Shares in the market. You can 
find more details on the Company's website.

Shareholder enquiries
Shareholders with queries about anything relating to 
their shares can contact our Registrar.

Shareholders should notify the Registrar of any change 
in shareholding details, such as their address, as soon as 
possible.

Shareholders can access their current shareholding 
details online at www.investorcentre.co.uk/directline. 
Investor Centre is a free-to-use, secure, self-service 
website that enables shareholders to manage their 
holdings online. The website allows shareholders to:

– check their holdings;
– update their records, including address and direct 

credit details;
– access all their securities in one portfolio by setting 

up a personal account;
– vote online; and
– register to receive electronic shareholder 

communications.
To access information, the website requires shareholders 
to quote their shareholder reference number. 
Shareholders can find this number on their share 
certificates.

Corporate website
The Group's corporate website is 
www.directlinegroup.co.uk. It contains useful 
information for the Company's investors and 
shareholders. For example, it includes press releases, 
details of forthcoming events, essential shareholder 
information, a dividend history, a financial calendar, and 
details of the Company's AGM. You can also subscribe to 
email news alerts.

Shareholder warning
Fraudsters use persuasive and high-pressure tactics to 
lure investors into scams. They may offer to sell shares 
that prove to be worthless or non-existent, or they can 
offer to buy shares at an inflated price in return for you 
paying upfront. They promise high profits. However, if 
you buy or sell shares in this way, you will probably lose 
your money.
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How to avoid share fraud
– Remember that FCA-authorised firms are unlikely to 

contact you unexpectedly offering to buy or sell 
shares.

– Do not converse with them. Note the name of the 
person and firm contacting you, then end the call.

– To see if the person and firm contacting you are 
authorised by the FCA, check the Financial Services 
Register at www.fca.org.uk/register.

– Beware of fraudsters claiming to be from an 
authorised firm; copying its website; or giving you 
false contact details.

– If you want to phone the caller back, use the firm's 
contact details listed on the Financial Services 
Register at www.fca.org.uk/register.

– If the firm does not have contact details on the 
Register or they tell you the details are out of date, 
call the FCA on 0800 111 6768.

– Search the list of unauthorised firms to avoid at 
www.fca.org.uk/consumers/unauthorised-firms-
individuals.

– Remember that if you buy or sell shares from an 
unauthorised firm, you cannot access the Financial 
Ombudsman Service or Financial Services 
Compensation Scheme.

– Get independent financial and professional advice 
before handing over any money.

– If it sounds too good to be true, it probably is.

Report a scam
If fraudsters approach you, tell the FCA using the share 
fraud reporting form at www.fca.org.uk/consumers/
report-scam-unauthorised-firm. You can also find out 
more about investment scams on the same web page.

You can call the FCA Consumer Helpline on 0800 111 
6768.

If you have already paid money to share fraudsters, call 
Action Fraud on 0300 123 2040.

Tips on protecting your shares
– Keep all your certificates in a safe place. Alternatively, 

consider holding your shares in the UK's electronic 
registration and settlement system for equity, called 
CREST, or via a nominee;

– Keep correspondence from the Registrar that shows 
your shareholder reference number in a safe place, 
and shred unwanted correspondence;

– Inform the Registrar as soon as you change your 
address;

– If you receive a letter from the Registrar regarding a 
change of address and you have not recently moved, 
contact them immediately;

– Find out when your dividends are paid and contact 
the Registrar if you do not receive them;

– Consider having your dividends paid direct into your 
bank account. You will need to complete a dividend 
mandate form and send it to the Registrar. This 
reduces the risk of cheques being stolen or lost in the 
post;

– If you change your bank account, inform the Registrar 
of your new account details immediately;

– If you are buying or selling shares, only deal with 
brokers registered in the UK or in your country of 
residence; and

– Be aware that the Company will never call you 
concerning investments. 

Electronic communications and voting
The Group produces various communications. 
Shareholders can view these online, download them, or 
receive paper copies by contacting the Registrar.

Shareholders, who register their email address with our 
Registrar, or at the Investor Centre, can receive emails 
with news on events, such as the AGM. They can also 
receive shareholder communications electronically, such 
as the Annual Report and Accounts and Notice of 
Meeting.

Dealing facilities
Shareholders who wish to buy, sell or transfer their 
shares may do so through a stockbroker or a high street 
bank; or through the Registrar's share-dealing facility.

You can call or email the Registrar regarding its share-
dealing facility using this contact information:

– For telephone sales, call +44 (0)370 703 0084 
between 8.00 am and 6.00 pm, Monday to Friday, 
excluding public holidays, and

– For internet sales, go to www.investorcentre.co.uk/
directline. You will need your shareholder reference 
number, as shown on your share certificate, or your 
welcome letter from the Chair.

Dividend tax allowance
The dividend tax-free allowance is £2,000 across an 
individual's entire share portfolio. Above this amount, 
individuals will pay tax on their dividend income. The 
rate of this tax depends on their income tax bracket and 
personal circumstances. The Company will continue 
providing registered shareholders with a confirmation of 
the dividends paid. Shareholders should include this 
with any other dividend income they receive when 
calculating and reporting total dividend income 
received to HMRC. The shareholder is responsible for 
including all dividend income when calculating tax 
requirements. If you have any tax queries, please contact 
your financial adviser.
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Actuarial best estimate 
("ABE")

The probability-weighted average of all future claims and cost scenarios. It is calculated using 
historical data, actuarial methods and judgement. A best estimate of reserves will therefore 
normally include no margin for optimism or, conversely, caution.

Adjusted solvency capital 
ratio

The ratio of Solvency II own funds to the solvency capital requirement, which excludes the 
Tier 2 subordinated debt which can first be called on 27 April 2022 from the Group's own 
funds.

Annual Incentive Plan 
("AIP")

This incentivises the performance of Executive Directors and employees over a one-year 
operating cycle. It focuses on the short- to medium-term elements of the Group's strategic 
aims.

Assets under 
management ("AUM")

This represents all assets managed or administered by or on behalf of the Group, including 
those assets managed by third parties.

Association of British 
Insurers ("ABI")

The trade body that represents the insurance and long-term savings industry in the UK.

Available-for-sale ("AFS") 
investments

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as such, 
or are not classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity, or financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss.

Average written 
premium

The total written premium at inception divided by the number of policies.

Bootstrapping A statistical sampling technique used to estimate reserve variability around the Actuarial Best 
Estimate ("ABE"). Results produced from bootstrapping historical data are used to set and 
inform the level of margin incorporated in the Management Best Estimate ("MBE").

Buy-As-You-Earn Plan The HM Revenue & Customs approved Buy-As-You-Earn Share Incentive Plan gives all 
employees the opportunity to become shareholders in the Company.

Capital The funds invested in the Group, including funds invested by shareholders and Tier 1 notes. In 
addition, the subordinated liabilities in the Group's balance sheet is classified as Tier 2 capital 
for Solvency II purposes.

Carbon emissions Scope 1 – covers direct emissions from owned or controlled sources, including fuels used in 
office buildings, accident repair centres and owned vehicles.
Scope 2 – covers indirect emissions from the generation of purchased electricity, steam, 
heating and cooling for office buildings and accident repair centres.
Scope 3 under our direct control – includes indirect emissions that occur in the Group's value 
chain, under its direct control, such as waste disposal and business travel.
Total Scope 3 – includes all other indirect emissions that occur in the Group's value chain and 
purchased goods and services, excluding investments.

Claims frequency The number of claims divided by the number of policies per year.

Claims handling 
provision (provision for 
losses and loss-
adjustment expense)

Funds set aside by the Group to meet the estimated cost of settling claims and related 
expenses that the Group considers it will ultimately need to pay.

Clawback The Group's ability to claim repayment of paid amounts both cash and equity-settled share-
based payments.

Combined operating 
ratio

The sum of the loss, commission and expense ratios. The ratio measures the amount of 
claims costs, commission and operating expenses, compared to net earned premium 
generated. A ratio of less than 100% indicates profitable underwriting. Normalised 
combined operating ratio adjusts loss and commission ratios for weather and changes to 
the Ogden discount rate. (See page 253 alternative performance measures.)

Commission expenses Payments to brokers, partners and price comparison websites for generating business.

Commission ratio The ratio of commission expense divided by net earned premium. (See page 251 alternative 
performance measures.)

Company Direct Line Insurance Group plc.

Current-year attritional 
loss ratio

The loss ratio for the current accident year, excluding the movement of claims reserves 
relating to previous accident years and claims relating to major weather events. (See page 
251 alternative performance measures.)

Current-year combined 
operating ratio

This is calculated using the combined operating ratio less movement in prior-year reserves. 
(See page 251 alternative performance measures.)

Current-year normalised 
operating profit

This is calculated using the normalised operating profit adjusted for prior-year reserve 
movements. (See page 251 alternative performance measures.)

Deferred Annual 
Incentive Plan ("DAIP")

For Executive Directors and certain members of senior management, at least 40% of the AIP 
award is deferred into shares typically vesting three years after grant. The remainder of the 
award is paid in cash following year end.

Direct own brands Direct own brands include Home and Motor under the Direct Line, Churchill, Darwin and 
Privilege brands, Rescue under the Green Flag brand and Commercial under the Direct Line 
for Business and Churchill brands.

Term Definition and explanation
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Earnings per share The amount of the Group's profit after deduction of the Tier 1 coupon payments allocated to 
each Ordinary Share of the Company.

Employee Representative 
Body ("ERB")

The forum that represents all employees, including when there is a legal requirement to 
consult employees.

Expense ratio The ratio of operating expenses divided by net earned premium. (See page 251 alternative 
performance measures.)

Finance costs The cost of servicing the Group's external borrowings and including the interest on ROU 
assets.

Financial Conduct 
Authority ("FCA")

The independent body responsible for regulating the UK's financial services industry.

Financial leverage ratio Tier 1 notes and financial debt (subordinated Tier 2 notes) as a percentage of total capital 
employed.

Financial Reporting 
Council

The UK's regulator for the accounting, audit and actuarial professions, promoting 
transparency and integrity in business.

Gross written premium The total premiums from insurance contracts that were incepted during the period.

Group Direct Line Insurance Group plc and its subsidiaries.

Incremental borrowing
rate ("IBR")

The rate of interest that a lessee would have to pay to borrow, over a similar term and 
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the ROU asset in a similar 
economic environment.

Incurred but not 
reported ("IBNR")

Funds set aside to meet the cost of claims for accidents that have occurred but have not yet 
been reported to the Group. This includes an element of uplift on the value of claims 
reported.

In-force policies The number of policies on a given date that are active and against which the Group will pay, 
following a valid insurance claim.

Insurance liabilities This comprises insurance claims reserves and claims handling provision, which the Group 
maintains to meet current and future claims.

International
Accounting Standards 
Board ("IASB")

A not-for-profit public interest organisation that is overseen by a monitoring board of public 
authorities. It develops International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") that aim to 
make worldwide markets transparent, accountable and efficient.

Investment income
yield

The income earned from the investment portfolio, recognised through the income statement 
during the period (excluding unrealised and realised gains and losses, impairments and fair 
value adjustments) divided by the average assets under management ("AUM"). The average 
AUM derives from the period's opening and closing balances for the total Group. (See page 
251 alternative performance measures.)

Investment return The investment return earned from the investment portfolio, including unrealised and 
realised gains and losses, impairments and fair value adjustments.

Investment return
yield

The investment return divided by the average AUM. The average AUM derives from the 
period’s opening and closing balances. (See page 251 alternative performance measures.)

Long-Term Incentive 
Plan ("LTIP")

Awards made as nil-cost options or conditional share awards, which vest to the extent that 
performance conditions are satisfied after a period of at least three years.

Loss ratio Net insurance claims divided by net earned premium. (See page 251 alternative performance 
measures.)

Malus An arrangement that permits unvested remuneration awards to be forfeited, when the 
Company considers it appropriate.

Management's best 
estimate ("MBE")

These reserves are based on management's best estimate, which includes a prudence 
margin that exceeds the internal ABE.

Minimum capital 
requirement ("MCR")

The minimum amount of capital that an insurer needs to hold to cover its risks under the 
Solvency II regulatory framework. If an insurer's capital falls below the MCR then 
authorisation will be withdrawn by the regulator unless the insurer is able to meet the MCR 
within a short period of time.

Net asset value The difference between the Group's total assets and total liabilities, calculated by subtracting 
total liabilities (including Tier 1 notes) from total assets.

Net earned premium The element of gross earned premium less reinsurance premium ceded for the period where 
insurance cover has already been provided.

Net insurance claims The cost of claims incurred in the period less any claims costs recovered under reinsurance 
contracts. It includes claims payments and movements in claims reserves.

Net investment income 
yield

This is calculated in the same way as investment income yield but includes the cost of 
hedging. (See page 251 alternative performance measures.)

Net promoter score 
("NPS")

This is an index that measures the willingness of customers to recommend products or 
services to others. It is used to gauge customers' overall experience with a product or service, 
and customers' loyalty to a brand.

Ogden discount rate The discount rate set by the Lord Chancellor and used by courts to calculate lump sum 
awards in bodily injury cases.

Term Definition and explanation
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Operating expenses These are the expenses relating to business activities excluding restructuring and one-off 
costs. (See page 252 alternative performance measures.)

Operating profit The pre-tax profit that the Group's activities generate, including insurance and investment 
activity, but excluding finance costs, restructuring and one-off costs. Normalised operating 
profit is operating profit adjusted for weather and changes to the Ogden discount rate. (See 
page 254 alternative performance measures.)

Own Risk and Solvency 
Assessment ("ORSA")

A forward-looking assessment of the Group's risks and associated capital requirements, over 
the business planning period.

Periodic payment order 
("PPO")

These are claims payments as awarded under the Courts Act 2003. PPOs are used to settle 
certain large personal injury claims. They generally provide a lump-sum award plus inflation-
linked annual payments to claimants who require long-term care.

Prudential Regulation 
Authority ("PRA")

The PRA is a part of the Bank of England. It is responsible for regulating and supervising 
insurers and financial institutions in the UK.

Reinsurance Contractual arrangements where the Group transfers part or all of the accepted insurance 
risk to another insurer.

Reserves Funds that have been set aside to meet outstanding insurance claims and IBNR.

Restructuring costs These are costs incurred in respect of the business activities where the Group has a 
constructive obligation to restructure its activities.

Return on equity This is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of the Company after 
deduction of the Tier 1 coupon payments by average shareholders' equity for the period.

Return on tangible 
equity ("RoTE")

This is adjusted profit after tax divided by the Group's average shareholders' equity less 
goodwill and other intangible assets. Profit after tax is adjusted to exclude restructuring and 
one-off costs and to include the Tier 1 coupon payments. It is stated after charging tax using 
the UK standard rate of 19%. (See page 252 alternative performance measures.)

Right-of-use ("ROU") 
asset

A lessee's right to use an asset over the life of a lease, calculated at initial recognition as the 
present value of the lease payments, plus any initial direct costs less any incentives received. 
The ROU asset is depreciated over the lease term and is subject to impairment testing.

Science-Based Targets 
("SBT")

Science-Based Targets are a set of goals developed by a business to provide it with a clear 
route to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. An emissions reduction target is defined as 
"science-based" if it is developed in line with the scale of reductions required to curb global 
temperature rise to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels.

Scope 1, Scope 2, Scope 3 
under our direct control 
and Total Scope 3

Please refer to the glossary definition for carbon emissions on page 248.

Solvency II The capital adequacy regime for the European insurance industry, which became effective 
on 1 January 2016. It establishes capital requirements and risk management standards. 
It comprises three pillars: Pillar I, which sets out capital requirements for an insurer; Pillar II, 
which focuses on systems of governance; and Pillar III, which deals with disclosure 
requirements.

Solvency capital ratio The ratio of Solvency II own funds to the solvency capital requirement.

Solvency capital 
requirement ("SCR")

The SCR is the amount of capital the regulator requires an insurer to hold to meet the 
requirements under the Solvency II regulatory framework. The Group uses a partial internal 
model to determine SCR.

Tangible equity This shows the equity excluding Tier 1 notes and intangible assets (for comparability with 
companies which have not acquired businesses or capitalised intangible assets). (See page 
252 alternative performance measures.)

Tangible net assets per 
share

This shows the amount of tangible equity allocated to each ordinary share (for comparability 
with companies which have not acquired businesses or capitalised intangible assets). (See 
page 252 alternative performance measures.)

Task Force on Climate-
related Financial 
Disclosure ("TCFD")

Established by the Financial Stability Board, the TCFD developed a set of disclosure 
recommendations on the risks and opportunities presented by climate change. The TCFD 
aims to improve and increase climate-related disclosure by organisations and promotes the 
provision of clear, comprehensive and high-quality information.

Total Shareholder
Return ("TSR")

Compares share price movement with reinvested dividends as a percentage of the 
share price.

Underwriting result
profit/(loss)

The profit or loss from operational activities, excluding investment return and other operating 
income. It is calculated as net earned premium less net insurance claims and total expenses, 
excluding restructuring and one-off costs.

Term Definition and explanation
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Appendix A – Alternative performance measures
The Group has identified Alternative Performance Measures ("APMs") in accordance with the European Securities and 
Markets Authority's published Guidelines. The Group uses APMs to improve comparability of information between 
reporting periods and reporting segments, by adjusting for either uncontrollable or one-off costs which impact the IFRS 
measures, to aid the user of the annual report and accounts in understanding the activity taking place across the Group. 
These APMs are contained within the main narrative sections of this document, outside the financial statements and notes, 
and may not necessarily have standardised meanings for ease of comparability across peer organisations.

Further information is presented below, defined in the glossary on pages 248 to 250 and reconciled to the most directly 
reconcilable line items in the financial statements and notes. Note 4 on page 206 of the consolidated financial statements 
presents a reconciliation of the Group's business activities on a segmental basis to the consolidated income statement. All 
note references in the table below are to the notes to the consolidated financial statements on pages 181 to 238.

Adjusted 
solvency 
capital ratio

This measure is 
based on the 
Group's 
Solvency II 
balance sheet 
and therefore 
there is no 
IFRS 
equivalent

Adjusted solvency capital ratio is 
defined in the glossary on page 248 
and reconciled on page 255.

This is a measure that shows the Group's 
solvency ratio excluding the Tier 2 
subordinated debt which can first be called on 
27 April 2022.

Combined 
operating ratio

Profit before 
tax

Combined operating ratio is defined in 
the glossary on page 248 and 
reconciled in note 4 on page 206.

This is a measure of underwriting profitability 
and excludes non-insurance income, whereby 
a ratio of less than 100% represents an 
underwriting profit and a ratio of more than 
100% represents an underwriting loss.

Commission 
ratio

Commission 
expense

Commission ratio is defined in the 
glossary on page 248 and is reconciled 
in note 4 on page 206.

Expresses commission expense, in relation to 
net earned premium.

Current-year 
attritional loss 
ratio

Net insurance 
claims

Current-year attritional loss ratio is 
defined in the glossary on page 248 
and is reconciled to the loss ratio 
(discussed below) on page 35.

Expresses claims performance in the current 
accident year in relation to net earned 
premium.

Current-year 
combined 
operating ratio

Profit before
tax

Current-year combined operating ratio 
is defined in the glossary on page 248 
and is reconciled on page 35.

This is a measure of underwriting profitability, 
excluding the effect of prior-year reserve 
movements.

Current-year 
normalised 
operating 
profit ratio

Profit before
tax

Current-year normalised operating 
profit ratio is defined in the glossary on 
page 248 and reconciled on page 254.

Expresses a relationship between current-year 
normalised operating profit and normalised 
operating profit.

Expense ratio Total 
expenses

Expense ratio is defined in the glossary 
on page 249 and is reconciled in note 
4 on page 206.

Expresses underwriting and policy expenses in 
relation to net earned premium.

Investment 
income yield

Investment 
income

Investment income yield is defined in 
the glossary on page 249 and is 
reconciled on page 253.

Expresses a relationship between the 
investment income and the associated 
opening and closing assets adjusted for 
portfolio hedging instruments.

Investment 
return yield

Investment 
return

Investment return yield is defined in 
the glossary on page 249 and is 
reconciled on page 253.

Expresses a relationship between the 
investment return and the associated opening 
and closing assets adjusted for portfolio 
hedging instruments.

Loss ratio Net insurance 
claims

Loss ratio is defined in the glossary on 
page 249 and is reconciled in note 4 
on page 206.

Expresses claims performance in relation to 
net earned premium.

Net investment 
income yield

Investment 
income

Net investment income yield is defined 
in the glossary on page 249 and is 
reconciled on page 253.

Expresses a relationship between the net 
investment income and the associated 
opening and closing assets adjusted for 
portfolio hedging instruments.

Group APM
Closest equivalent 
IFRS measure Definition and/or reconciliation Rationale for APM
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Normalised 
combined 
operating ratio

Profit before 
tax

Combined operating ratio and 
normalised combined operating ratio 
are defined in the glossary on page 248 
and reconciled on page 253.

This is a measure of underwriting profitability 
excluding the effects of weather, Ogden 
discount rate changes and restructuring and 
one-off costs. It also excludes non-insurance 
income. A ratio of less than 100% represents 
an underwriting profit and a ratio of more than 
100% represents an underwriting loss.

Operating 
expenses

Total
expenses

Operating expenses are defined in the 
glossary on page 250 and reconciled in 
note 4 on page 206.

This shows the expenses relating to business 
activities excluding restructuring and one-off 
costs.

Operating 
profit

Profit before 
tax

Operating profit is defined in the 
glossary on page 250 and reconciled in 
note 4 on page 206.

This shows the underlying performance 
(before tax and excluding finance costs and 
restructuring and one-off costs) of the business 
activities.

Return on 
tangible equity

Return on 
equity

Return on tangible equity is defined in 
the glossary on page 250 and is 
reconciled on page 255.

This shows performance against a measure of 
equity that is more easily comparable to that 
of other companies.

Tangible equity Equity Tangible equity is defined in the 
glossary on page 250 and is reconciled 
in note 16 on page 214.

This shows the equity excluding Tier 1 notes 
and intangible assets for comparability with 
companies which have not acquired 
businesses or capitalised intangible assets.

Tangible net 
asset value per 
share

Net asset value 
per share

Tangible net asset value per share is 
defined in the glossary on page 250 
and reconciled in note 16 on page 214.

This shows the equity excluding Tier 1 notes 
and intangible assets per share for 
comparability with companies which have not 
acquired businesses or capitalised intangible 
assets.

Underwriting 
profit

Profit before 
tax

Underwriting profit is defined in the 
glossary on page 250 and is reconciled 
in note 4 on page 206.

This shows underwriting performance 
calculated as net earned premium less net 
claims and operating expenses, excluding 
restructuring and one-off costs.

Group APM
Closest equivalent 
IFRS measure Definition and/or reconciliation Rationale for APM
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Investment income and return yields1

2021 2020

Notes2 £m £m

Investment income 6  116.0  127.1 

Hedging to a sterling floating rate basis3 6  (13.3)  (20.3) 

Net investment income  102.7  106.8 

Net realised and unrealised gains/(losses) excluding hedging  43.6  (11.7) 

Total investment return 6  146.3  95.1 

Opening investment property  292.1  291.7 

Opening financial investments  4,681.4  4,673.4 

Opening cash and cash equivalents  1,220.1  948.6 

Opening borrowings  (51.9)  (52.3) 

Opening derivatives asset4  8.0  81.8 

Opening investment holdings  6,149.7  5,943.2 

Closing investment property 20  317.0  292.1 

Closing financial investments 28  4,633.6  4,681.4 

Closing cash and cash equivalents 29  955.7  1,220.1 

Closing borrowings 29  (59.2)  (51.9) 

Closing derivatives asset4  14.3  8.0 

Closing investment holdings  5,861.4  6,149.7 

Average investment holdings5  6,005.6  6,046.5 

Investment income yield1  1.9%  2.1% 

Net investment income yield1  1.7%  1.8% 

Investment return yield1  2.4%  1.6% 

Notes:

1. See glossary on page 249 for definitions.
2. See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
3. Includes net realised and unrealised gains/(losses) on derivatives in relation to AUM.
4. See footnote 1 on page 44 (Investment holdings).
5. Mean average of opening and closing balances.

Normalised combined operating ratio1

Home Home Commercial Commercial Total Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Loss ratio  50.7%  55.6%  54.5%  51.4%  58.1%  57.9% 

Commission ratio  6.9%  8.1%  20.0%  18.7%  8.1%  8.6% 

Expense ratio  22.5%  23.4%  21.7%  25.4%  23.9%  24.5% 

Combined operating ratio  80.1%  87.1%  96.2%  95.5%  90.1%  91.0% 

Effect of weather

Loss ratio  5.5%  3.4%  0.1%  0.4%  1.1%  0.7% 

Commission ratio  (0.4%)  (0.2%)  —  —  (0.1%)  — 

Combined operating ratio normalised for 
weather  85.2%  90.3%  96.3%  95.9%  91.1%  91.7% 

Note:

1. See glossary on page 248 for definition.
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Normalised operating profit1

Total Total

2021 2020

£m £m

Operating profit  581.8  522.1 

Effect of:

Normalised weather – claims  (31.1)  (20.8) 

Normalised weather – profit share  2.0  1.3 

Normalised operating profit  552.7  502.6 

Prior-year adjustments

Prior-year reserve movement  258.1  173.8 

Prior-year normalised operating profit  258.1  173.8 

Current-year normalised operating profit  294.6  328.8 

Current-year normalised operating profit ratio  53%  65% 

Note:

1. See glossary on page 250 for definition.

Operating expenses1

2021 2020

Note2 £m £m

Operating expenses (including restructuring and one-off costs) 10  807.8  763.8 

Less restructuring and one-off costs 10  (101.5)  (39.4) 

Operating expenses 10  706.3  724.4 

Notes:

1. See glossary on page 250 for definition.
2. See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Return on tangible equity1

2021 2020

£m £m

Profit before tax  446.0  451.4 

Add back restructuring and other one-off costs  101.5  39.4 

Coupon payments in respect of Tier 1 notes  (16.6)  (16.6) 

Adjusted profit before tax  530.9  474.2 

Tax charge (2021 and 2020 UK standard tax rate of 19%)  (100.9)  (90.1) 

Adjusted profit after tax  430.0  384.1 

Opening shareholders' equity  2,699.7  2,643.6 

Opening goodwill and other intangible assets  (786.8)  (702.5) 

Opening shareholders' tangible equity  1,912.9  1,941.1 

Closing shareholders' equity  2,550.2  2,699.7 

Closing goodwill and other intangible assets  (822.5)  (786.8) 

Closing shareholders' tangible equity  1,727.7  1,912.9 

Average shareholders' tangible equity2  1,820.3  1,927.0 

Return on tangible equity  23.6 %  19.9 %

Notes:

1. See glossary on page 250 for definition.
2. Mean average of opening and closing balances.

Adjusted solvency capital ratio1

2021

£bn

Total eligible own funds  2.38 
Less: Tier 2 subordinated debt which can first be called towards the end of April 2022  (0.25) 
Add back: ineligible Tier 3 capital  0.03 

 2.16 
Solvency capital requirement  1.35 
Adjusted solvency capital ratio  160 %

Note:

1. See glossary on page 248 for definition.

WWW.DIRECTLINEGROUP.CO.UK 255www.directlinegroup.co.uk 255



This Annual Report & Accounts has been prepared for, and 
only for, the members of the Company as a body, and no 
other persons. The Company, its Directors, employees, 
agents or advisers do not accept responsibility to any other 
person to whom this document is shown, or into whose 
hands it may come, and any such responsibility or liability is 
expressly disclaimed.

Certain information contained in this document, including 
any information as to the Group's strategy, plans or future 
financial or operating performance, constitutes "forward-
looking statements". These forward-looking statements 
may be identified by the use of forward-looking 
terminology, including the terms "aims", "ambition", 
"anticipates", "aspire", "believes", "continue", "could", 
"estimates", "expects", "guidance", "intends", "may", "mission", 
"outlook", "over the medium term", "plans", "predicts", 
"projects", "propositions", "seeks", "should", "strategy", 
"targets", "will" or "would" or, in each case, their negative or 
other variations or comparable terminology, or by 
discussions of strategy, plans, objectives, goals, future 
events or intentions. These forward-looking statements 
include all matters that are not historical facts. They appear 
in several places throughout this document and include 
statements regarding the intentions, beliefs or current 
expectations of the Directors concerning, among other 
things: the Group's results of operations, financial condition, 
prospects, growth, strategies, the industry in which the 
Group operates and the Group's approach to climate-
related matters. Examples of forward-looking statements 
include financial targets and guidance which are contained 
in this document specifically with respect to; the return on 
tangible equity, solvency capital ratio, the Group's 
combined operating ratio, percentage targets for current-
year contribution to operating profit, prior-year reserve 
releases, cost reductions, reduction in expense ratio, 
investment income yield, net realised and unrealised gains, 
capital expenditure and, risk appetite range; and targets, 
goals and plans relating to climate and the Group's 
approach and strategy in connection with climate-related 
risks and opportunities. By their nature, all forward-looking 
statements involve risk and uncertainties because they 
relate to events and depend on circumstances that may or 
may not occur in the future and/or are beyond the Group's 
control and/or they rely on assumptions that may or may 
not transpire to be correct. Forward-looking statements are 
not guaranteeing future performance. 

The Group's actual results of operations, financial condition 
and the development of the business sector in which the 
Group operates may differ materially from those suggested 
by the forward-looking statements contained in this 
document, for example directly or indirectly as a result of, 
but not limited to:

– United Kingdom ("UK") domestic and global economic 
business conditions;

– the direct and indirect impacts and implications of the 
coronavirus Covid-19 pandemic on the economy, 
nationally and internationally, on the Group, its 
operations and prospects, and on the Group's customers 
and their behaviours and expectations;

– the Trade and Cooperation Agreement between the UK 
and the European Union ("EU") regarding the terms, 
following the end of the Brexit transition period, of the 
trading relationships between the UK and the EU and its 
implementation, and any subsequent trading and other 
relationship arrangements between the UK and the EU 
and their implementation;

– the terms of trading and other relationships between the 
UK and other countries following Brexit;

– the impact of the FCA pricing practices report and the 
rules and regulations arising as a result of that report and 
of responses by insurers, customers and other third 
parties and of interpretations of such rules by any 
relevant regulatory authority;

– market-related risks such as fluctuations in interest rates, 
exchange rates and credit spreads;

– the policies and actions and/or new principles, rules and/
or changes to, or changes to interpretations of principles, 
rules and/or regulations, of regulatory authorities and 
bodies (including changes made directly or indirectly as a 
result of Brexit or related to capital and solvency 
requirements or related to the Ogden discount rate or 
rates or made in response to the Covid-19 pandemic and 
its impact on the economy and customers) and changes 
to law and/or understandings of law and/or legal 
interpretation following the decisions and judgements of 
courts;

– the impact of competition, currency changes, inflation 
and deflation;

– the timing, impact and other uncertainties of future 
acquisitions, disposals, partnership arrangements, joint 
ventures or combinations within relevant industries; and

– the impact of tax and other legislation and other 
regulation and of regulator expectations, interventions, 
enforcements, fines and requirements and of court, 
arbitration, regulatory or ombudsman decisions, 
judgements and awards (including in any of the 
foregoing in connection with the Covid-19 pandemic) in 
the jurisdictions in which the Group and its affiliates 
operate.

In addition, even if the Group's actual results of operations, 
financial condition and the development of the business 
sector in which the Group operates are consistent with 
forward-looking statements contained in this document, 
those results or developments may not be indicative of 
results or developments in subsequent periods. 

The forward-looking statements contained in this 
document reflect knowledge and information available as 
of the date of preparation of this document. The Group and 
the Directors expressly disclaim any obligations or 
undertaking to update or revise publicly any forward-
looking statements, whether because of new information, 
future events or otherwise, unless required to do so by 
applicable law or regulation. Nothing in this document 
constitutes or should be construed as a profit forecast.

Neither the content of Direct Line Group's website nor the 
content of any other website accessible from hyperlinks on 
the Group's website is incorporated into, or forms part of, 
this document.
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